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1.1  Submission of the  
 Annual Report to the  
 Executive Authority
I have the pleasure of Chairing the 4th Council of 

the amalgamated Iziko Museums of Cape Town. Our 

term of office has been in an overlap period of the 

Strategic Planning cycle 2010/2011. Therefore, my 

Council has had to ensure that the key objectives, 

outputs and standards set by the preceding 

Council will be realised in our term. I commend 

the previous Council for embedding their strategic 

vision to ensure that this southern flagship 

institution is rooted in strong organisational and 

governance goals. It is also my observation that the 

programmes that Iziko are undertaking in order to 

fulfil the strategic vision of the Museum, have a strong community and participative 

approach, which aims to leave an indelible mark on museum visitors.

Shortly after my Council’s inauguration, the term of office and retirement of the 

Chief Executive Officer, Prof. Henry C. (Jatti) Bredekamp, coincided at the end 

of October 2010. I congratulate Prof. Bredekamp’s professional and diligent 

leadership of Iziko over the past eight years. It is evident that he has left a 

strong legacy at the organisation, and I extend my best wishes to him for his 

future. Ms Rooksana Omar was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of Iziko 

on 1 November 2010, to lead the institution. Before joining Iziko, she served 

in various capacities that have advanced the heritage sector in general, and 

museums in particular.

Since the beginning of the new Council’s term of office, our first task was to 

evaluate the salary benchmarking outcomes of Iziko. It was very evident 

that there was a gap between salaries of staff at Iziko and those of similar 

institutions. Therefore, it was the decision of the Council to award staff a slightly 

bigger increase using funds allocated by the Department of Arts and Culture in 

the previous year. My Council also took the opportunity to work on the adoption 

of the new Framework for Strategic Plans and the Annual Performance Plans, as 

required by National Treasury. The Iziko Strategic Plan and Annual Performance 

Plan have been aligned to the vision of the new Council, and to that of National 

Government’s and the Department of Arts and Culture’s “New Growth Path”. In 

this period, the Council also passed two policies, the Risk Management Policy 

and Disaster Management Policy, so as to ensure that the institution is compliant 

with regard to good practice. I would like to take this opportunity to commend 

my very hard-working and professional Council for applying themselves diligently 

to Council’s responsibilities.

Many thanks to the Iziko staff for their commitment to ensuring that the 

institution is innovative and responds to the increasing legislative and 

community delivery challenges placed on such a public institution. Finally, 

I acknowledge the Department of Arts and Culture for their continued  

support of my Council and the management of Iziko Museums of Cape Town.

Advocate Brenda Madumise

Chairman of Council

1. GENERAL 
INFORMATION

Adv. Brenda Madumise
Chairman of Council

Close up of the cuticle of Splendid Cuckoo wasp, Chrysis splendens (Chrysididae). Photograph by Dr Simon van Noort.
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1.2  Applicable Acts and Other 
 Information
Iziko Museums of Cape Town (Iziko) is a public entity 

and non-profit organisation, subsidised by the national 

Department of Arts and Culture (DAC), bringing 

together the national museums of the Western Cape 

under a single governance and leadership structure. 

This report is submitted in compliance with the 

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act 

No. 108 of 1996); the Public Finance Management Act, 

1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 29 of 

1999); Treasury Regulations, 2001; Cultural Institutions 

Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), and other applicable 

Acts and Regulations. 

1.2.1 Foundation 
In terms of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 

119 of 1998), five national museums in the Western Cape 

– the South African Cultural History Museum, South 

African Museum, South African National Gallery, the 

William Fehr Collection and the Michaelis Collection – 

were amalgamated as the Southern Flagship Institution 

(SFI). In July 2001, the SFI was officially renamed Iziko 

Museums of Cape Town (Iziko). 

In 2010/2011, Iziko celebrated 11 years since it was 

established as an amalgamated group of museums. 

During this period of consolidation and innovation, Iziko 

has become a leader in the heritage sector. 

Iziko comprises of the following museums, each with its 

own history and character: • South African Museum and 

Planetarium • South African National Gallery • Maritime 

Centre, including the museum ship, SAS Somerset • 

Slave Lodge Museum • William Fehr Collection • 

Michaelis Collection • Rust en Vreugd Museum • 

Bertram House Museum • Groot Constantia Museum • 

Koopmans-de Wet House Museum • Bo-Kaap Museum.

In addition, the newly renovated Social History Centre 

on Church Square provides a state-of-the-art facility to 

accommodate our Social History collections and library. 

The Natural History Library is located at the South 

African Museum, and the Art Library in the Annexe 

adjacent to the South African National Gallery.

The name ‘Iziko’, which means ‘hearth’ in isiXhosa, 

symbolically positions our museums as centres of cultural 

activity. The three ‘flames’ in our hearth logo represent 

the three collections brought together in our museums: 

Social History (ochre); Art (red); and Natural History 

(green). These are made accessible to learners and the 

public through Education and Public Programmes. 

1.2.2 Vision 
Iziko museums are African museums of excellence 

that empower and inspire all people to celebrate and 

respect our diverse heritage. 

1.2.3 Mission 
To manage and promote Iziko’s unique combination of 

South Africa’s heritage collections, sites and services 

for the benefit of present and future generations. 

1.2.4 Corporate Governance 
Iziko is governed by a Council, appointed for a three-

year term by the Minister of Arts and Culture. Members 

of the fourth Council of Iziko are: Adv. M. Brenda 

Madumise (Chairman), Dr Somadoda Fikeni, Mr Ayanda 

P. Wakaba, Prof. Mpilenhle P. Sithole, Prof. Ciraj Rassool, 

Ms Marilyn Martin, Mr Omar Badsha and Ms Rooksana 

Omar (Ex Officio). 

The duties of Council, as described in the Cultural 

Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), are to: 
• formulate policy; 
• hold, preserve and safeguard all movable and  
 immovable property of whatever kind, placed in the  
 care of, or loaned, or belonging to the declared  
 institution concerned; 
• receive, hold, preserve and safeguard all specimens,  
 collections or other movable property placed under its  
 care and management under section 10(1) [of the Act]; 
• raise funds for the institution; manage and control 
 the moneys received by the declared institution 
 and to utilise those moneys for defraying expenses 
 in connection with the performance of its functions; 
• keep a proper record of the property of the declared 
 institution; submit to the Director-General any  
 returns required by him or her in regard thereto,  
 and to cause proper books of account to be kept; 
• determine, subject to this Act and with the approval of 
  the Minister, the objects of the declared institution; and, 
• generally, carry out the objects of the declared institution. 
In addition, the Council: 
• appoints, in consultation with the Minister, the Chief  
 Executive Officer (CEO); and,

• may determine the hours during which and the  
 conditions and restrictions subject to which the public  
 may visit the declared institution concerned, or portion  

 thereof, and the admission charges to be paid.

1.2.5 Management 
1.2.5.1 Executive Management Committee 
The Executive Management Committee (Exco) consists 

of the Chief Executive Officer, the Executive Director 

Core Functions, and the Executive Director Operations, 

with the Chief Financial Officer and the Director of 

Institutional Advancement in the Office of the CEO 

playing supporting roles. 

1.2.5.2 Senior Management Team 
Iziko has four business units, namely Core Functions, 

Operations, and the departments of Institutional 

Advancement and Finance and Administration, in the 

Office of the CEO. 

The Core Functions unit includes the departments 

of Natural History Collections, Social History 

Collections, Art Collections, and Education and 

Public Programmes. The Operations unit includes 

the departments of Customer Services Management, 

Facilities Management and Human Resources. 

The heads of these departments – along with the 

Chief Financial Officer, the Director of Institutional 

Advancement and the members of the Executive 

Management Committee – constitute the Senior 

Management Team of Iziko, under the leadership of 

the CEO.

CLOCKWISE, LEFT TO RIGHT: Ms Rooksana Omar, CEO; Mrs Denise Crous, Executive Director Operations; Mrs Faeza Allie, CFO; Iziko South African National Gallery; 
Iziko South African Museum; Dr Hamish Robertson, Director Natural History Collections; Ms Lalou Meltzer, Director Social History Collections.

CLOCKWISE, LEFT TO RIGHT: Elizabeth Louw, Acting HR Director; Ms Susan Glanville-Zini, Director IA; Dr Wayne Alexander, Director Education 
& Public Programmes; Mrs Michelle van der Merwe, Director CSM; Mr Riason Naidoo, Director Art Collections.
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1.3  Introduction by Rooksana Omar, 
 Chief Executive Officer 
 of Iziko Museums of Cape Town

It gives me great 

pleasure to highlight 

how this institution 

performed in the fiscal 

under review. The key 

strategic achievements 

of Iziko Museums of Cape 

Town (Iziko) are hereby 

presented for the fiscal 

year 2010/2011. The 

Strategic Plan 2010–2011 

was conceived under 

the leadership of former 

Chief Executive Officer, Professor HC Bredekamp, and 

approved by the outgoing Council. This report contains 

sections on Financial and Performance Information, 

which reflect the achievements of management and 

staff, and support the social cohesion thrust of the 

Department of Arts and Culture (DAC). 

Four strategic focus areas were developed to clarify 

the priorities of Iziko as a flagship museum. These four 

areas are:

• Access & Audience Development;

• Core Business & Best Practice;

• Human Resource Development; and 

• Governance & Financial Sustainability. 

Access and Audience Development

Iziko received a total of 493,265 visitors, compared to 

473,982 in the previous financial year. This represents 

an increase of 4.07% – the first upturn in annual 

attendance recorded since 2007/2008. This increase 

in visitor numbers has a direct bearing on the value 

that Iziko is placing on becoming more relevant and 

accessible to its users.

Public awareness of Iziko’s beadwork collections will 

be greatly enhanced by their representation on the 

South African Post Office’s 8th Definitive Series of 

Stamps on Beadwork. Marilyn Martin is thanked for 

initiating this project.

During this year, in which the 2010 FIFA World Cup 

provided unprecedented opportunities to engage 

with new audiences, all departments contributed to 

increasing access to Iziko’s resources and diversifying 

the visitor profile. The Education and Public 

Programmes department hosted Let’s Celebrate 

2010 Together, one of a number of social cohesion 

projects that explored the strengths and aspirations of 

participants in relation to the World Cup. Art educators 

conducted Let’s Celebrate workshops with schools and 

youth organisations, and the artworks inspired by the 

theme were exhibited at Iziko from June to September 

2010. Of particular note was the project that involved 

learners with special needs in making vuvuzelas from 

kelp. Some 6,158 young people participated in outreach 

programmes to schools and museums in the Western 

Cape. In addition, a booklet on Iziko’s World Cup 

education projects was developed, and soccer-branded 

cultural objects were used as teaching resources. 

The Planetarium developed a popular new show linking 

shooting stars and soccer. Another highlight was the  

Gr 12 Create exhibition, which showcased the creativity 

of emerging young artists at schools. Iziko continued to 

host Public Programmes that encouraged debate. These 

included a forum entitled, ‘Our Nation in Conversation’, 

which celebrated the legacy of former president, Nelson 

Mandela, and included Judge Albie Sachs and Dennis 

Goldberg as speakers.

Social History educators presented workshops for 

learners and teachers, and developed resources to 

accompany the Ghoema & Glitter: New Year Carnival 

in Cape Town exhibition. Natural History educators 

focused on raising awareness of the natural environment, 

biodiversity conservation and evolution. Sessions for 

learners and teachers were held throughout the year, with 

a residential workshop for Grade 12 learners during the 

extended 2010 school holiday period.

Core Business and Best Practice

Collections Development 

Iziko addressed gaps in the Art and Social History 

collections and made them more representative by 

acquiring works from groups and individuals who 

were historically marginalised. (All acquisitions are 

listed in Appendix 4.7). A special focus of collecting 

was on material related to the 2010 FIFA World Cup 

and the New Year Carnival exhibition. Contemporary 

and historical South African ceramics were acquired in 

preparation for an exhibition to be held in 2012. A total 

of 31,960 new Natural History records were added to 

the collections database (which now totals 468,386).

Exhibitions

Iziko hosted more than 20 exhibitions during this year 

(listed in Appendix 4.5). Among the exhibitions at the 

SA National Gallery and Old Town House, particular 

mention should be made of 1910–2010: From Pierneef 

to Gugulective. This exhibition showcased a century 

of South African art, drawing on works from Iziko’s 

permanent collection, as well as works on loan from 48 

other public, private and corporate collections around the 

country. 1910–2010, which aimed to raise debate about the 

country’s history and art production, included works from 

a number of formerly marginalised artists who operated 

outside of the academy but deserve public recognition. 

Imagining Beauty elegantly displayed different facets of 

the art of adornment. Borders, which featured works from 

the 8th African Photo Biennale in Bamako, Mali, opened 

new dialogues and gave local and international visitors 

the opportunity to see contemporary photography from 

the African continent. At the Old Town House, The Lie of 

the Land, curated by Prof. Michael Godby, was a highlight.

Six Natural History exhibitions opened at the SA Museum 

during this period. These included African Dinosaurs, a 

permanent installation funded by the National Lotteries 

Distribution Trust Fund (NLDTF), and Fossil Icons from 

South Africa, featuring the Australopithecus sediba 

fossil. While this fossil was exhibited, the Deputy Minister 

of Science and Technology, Mr Derek Hanekom, hosted 

an event for dignitaries from Parliament at which Prof. 

Lee Berger spoke about his research on this fascinating 

new fossil find. 

The major Social History exhibition of the year was 

Ghoema & Glitter: New Year Carnival in Cape Town 

at the Castle of Good Hope’s Good Hope Gallery. The 

unique Tweede Nuwe Jaar carnival developed through 

the experiences of slaves, freed slaves and urban 

communities displaced in the course of the 20th century 

by the forces of segregation, and later apartheid. This 

was the first exhibition of its kind on this significant part 

of South Africa’s history, drawing on personal stories 

and interviews with carnival participants. Mapping 

Bo-Kaap, at the Bo-Kaap Museum, was partly based on 

interviews with local residents about their sense of place 

and history. Made in Translation: Images from and of 

the Landscape, which featured Iziko’s collection of rock 

art representations, opened at the SA Museum with a 

!kun story by Kapilolo Mario Mahongo, and a special 

performance of Pieter van Dijk’s San Gloria and the 

lullaby Ukuthula by the University of Cape Town choir.

Ms Rooksana Omar, CEO of  
Iziko Museums of Cape Town

MEMBERS OF THE FOURTH COUNCIL OF IzIKO ARE, LEFT TO RIGHT: Mr Omar Badsha, Ms Marilyn 
Martin, Adv. M. Brenda Madumise (Chairman), Ms Rooksana Omar (Ex Officio), Prof. Ciraj Rassool and 
Dr Somadoda Fikeni. (Mr Ayanda P. Wakaba and Prof. Mpilenhle P. Sithole were not present.)

Signage on the Iziko Social History Centre. 
Plein Street facade.
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Infrastructure, Facilities and Capital Works

A major achievement in the period under review was 

the relocation of the Social History collections, staff 

and library to the new Iziko Social History Centre on 

Church Square in central Cape Town. The completion 

of the long and complex project to convert the building 

into a world-class collections’ facility has provided a 

national benchmark for the creation of similar facilities 

elsewhere. On 16 September 2010, the new Centre was 

officially opened by the former Minister of Arts and 

Culture, Ms Lulu Xingwana. The occasion was marked 

by a symposium entitled, ‘Social History Collections: 

Registering Change in Iziko After Apartheid’, held at the 

Slave Lodge and attended by museum professionals, 

students and academics.

 

The installation of a new CCTV security network, linking 

six of Iziko’s main museums to a new control centre at 

the SA Museum, was completed. To provide 24-hour 

surveillance, a fibre optic cable network was selected as it 

has sufficient bandwidth capability and speed to allow live 

viewing from any single camera, at any museum, at any 

time. This system is a first for museums in South Africa.

Nine Iziko museums are now fully compliant with the 

requirements of providing facilities for disabled visitors 

and staff. During this year, a capital works project to 

provide ramps, chair-lifts or lifts was completed at the 

Slave Lodge, Rust en Vreugd, Koopmans-de Wet House, 

and the Old Town House on Greenmarket Square. As 

these are among the oldest public buildings in Cape Town, 

the work was preceded by lengthy consultations and 

eventual approval by the relevant heritage authorities.

Iziko, together with the Department of Arts and 

Culture and the Department of Public Works, have 

been planning a major project at the SA Museum to 

upgrade infrastructure, provide additional space, and 

make the collections more accessible to the public. This 

initiative, known as the ‘Courtyard Project’, requires 

the relocation of the collections to an alternative site 

before construction can start. Packing in preparation 

for this move got underway. 

Human Resource Development

Eighteen new staff members were appointed in the 

year under review. Iziko acknowledges the NLDTF for 

enabling the employment of a number of temporary 

staff during the 2010 FIFA World Cup. Three temporary 

staff members were also employed to assist with 

collections management at the Social History Centre, and 

15 to assist with packing the Natural History collections in 

preparation for the Courtyard Project. This resulted in job 

creation and skills development at Iziko even though the 

positions were of a temporary nature. 

Governance and Financial Sustainability

The new CEO, Ms Rooksana Omar, was appointed by the 

Council and took office on 1 November 2010, succeeding 

the outgoing CEO, Prof. HC Bredekamp, whose valuable 

leadership is recognised and acknowledged. Sincere 

thanks goes to him for his unquestionable commitment 

and dedication to Iziko Museums of Cape Town.

All reports and financial procedures complied with 

the relevant legislative and mandatory frameworks as 

prescribed by the National Treasury. 

Iziko received a NLDTF grant of R4,665,584 for the 

implementation of the 2010 public programmes and 

for the installation of a Gaiasphere at the SA Museum. 

The support of the NLDTF is reported with particular 

appreciation. The National Research Foundation 

continued to play a pivotal role in sustaining research 

and related activities in Natural History Collections, 

with R1,175,000 received for eight different projects, 

including R900,000 for the African Origins Platform 

West Coast Fossil Park project, which has a large 

educational component. 

The institution continued to supplement its operating 

budget through the leasing and hiring of its venues. 

Whilst working within a very tight budget, own income 

generated through the Planetarium, gate revenue 

(i.e. entrance fees), professional services rendered, 

reproduction fees, sales of publications, and venue hire 

during the year under review yielded more than what 

was anticipated.

In conclusion, I would like to thank the Council of Iziko, 

the Executive Team, Senior Management and dedicated 

staff for their continuous hard work and commitment 

to realising the vision of Iziko.

After four years in the making, African Dinosaurs opened at the 
SA Museum on 29 May 2010.

LEFT TO RIGHT: Dr Wayne Alexander; Rooksana Omar; Denise Crous; Lucy Campbell from Transcending History 
Tours; and Prof. Sebastian van As, Head of Trauma Unit at Red Cross Children’s Hospital and President of Child 
Safe who delivered a lecture entitled ‘Child Trauma: World Perspective’ at Iziko’s 1 December programme.

The much anticipated 1910-2010: From 
Pierneef to Gugulective exhibition opening 
at the SA National Gallery, 15 April 2010.

LEFT TO RIGHT: Prof. HC (Jatti) Bredekamp, Deputy Minister of Science and Technology, 
Mr Derek Hanekom, and Prof. Lee Berger at the Fossil Icons from South Africa exhibition, 
SA Museum. 



PAGE 11

1.4 Performance Information 2010–2011
* Please note: All abbreviations used in the tables below are to be found on page 120 of this Report.

Strategic Focus: Access and Audience Development

Objective: To provide optimum access to the heritage resources and services of Iziko for increasingly diverse audiences

Programme 1: Increase Access to Diverse Audiences

KEy objEctIvE outPut PErformAncE 
InDIcAtor

2010/11 tArGEt 
mIlEstonE

PErformAncE AGAInst 
tArGEt

Education 
Programmes
Offer innovative 
education services 
that build respect 
for natural and 
cultural diversity 
and engender pride 
in South Africa’s 
rich heritage.

Innovative 
education 
programme 
planned and 
implemented 
in line with 
DoE curriculum 
policies and 
museum 
education best 
practice.  

Education 
programme 
in place and 
aligned with 
DoE curriculum. 
Museum 
educators 
capacitated and 
learners engaged 
in quality, 
entertaining 
activities. Positive 
evaluation 
by educators 
and broader 
community.

Advisory 
committee 
established 
by November 
2010, to guide 
and evaluate 
education 
programmes.  

Advisory committee launched on 
28 October 2010. 
Education programmes for 
schools and the public were 
presented across EPP (Art, 
Social History and Natural 
History). Programmes presented 
were aligned to DoE.
Iziko EPP school programme 
2010/2011 distributed.

Learning 
resources 
developed 
in different 
languages, where 
possible, for all 
major exhibitions 
and selected 
projects, as 
planned.

3 learner 
resources 
developed 
in line with 
year plan, and 
digitised where 
possible. Positive 
evaluation 
by educators 
and broader 
community.

Learner resources 
developed for 
3 exhibitions. 
Evaluation forms 
completed.

Learning resources developed:
• Let’s Celebrate booklet was  
 quality assured and will be  
 printed in the new financial  
 year. 
• Mandela exhibition booklet  
 was quality assured and will be  
 printed in the new financial  
 year, subject to final comments  
 from the Nelson Mandela  
 Foundation.
• Ghoema & Glitter exhibition  
 printed. 
• African Dinosaurs printed.
• Tools and methods for the  
 assessment of Biodiversity.
• Introductory Gaiasphere shows  
 for schools developed.
• Imagining Beauty/ Adornment  
 catalogue and education  
 resource was finalised and will  
 be printed in the new financial  
 year. 
• Moon Board Game designed.
• See Create 12 learning and  
 teaching exhibition.
• Education lessons updated.
• Museums Training Manual  
 developed.

KEy objEctIvE outPut PErformAncE 
InDIcAtor

2010/11 tArGEt 
mIlEstonE

PErformAncE AGAInst 
tArGEt

Education 
Programmes 
contd.
Increase 
knowledge of 
astronomy, science, 
technology, 
biodiversity 
and indigenous 
knowledge; 
empower learners 
through access to 
education.

Innovative 
courses and 
Planetarium 
shows developed 
for adults and 
children, and 
used to introduce 
viewers to 
astronomy, 
the world of 
natural science, 
technology, 
biodiversity 
and indigenous 
knowledge.

17 Planetarium 
shows, indigenous 
knowledge, 
science and 
technology 
courses planned 
and implemented 
in line with year 
plan for all school 
grades and adults.

Planned shows 
produced 
and courses 
developed in line 
with EPP year 
plan, including 
indigenous 
knowledge, where 
appropriate.

See Appendix 
4.6.1

Shows continued to be given to 
learners and members of the 
public.

See Appendix 4.6.1

Public 
Programmes
Offer public 
programmes that 
enhance awareness 
and promote 
expression of our 
diverse cultural 
heritage and 
encourage life-
long learning 
with a view to 
foster social 
cohesion within 
communities.

Relevant and 
engaging public 
programmes 
planned for 8 
commemorative 
and other special 
days, where 
appropriate, with 
a focus on women 
and young people. 

Programmes 
successfully 
implemented 
as planned and 
evaluated.

Planned public 
programmes 
delivered in line 
with year plan 
and evaluated.

See Appendix 
4.6.3

Summer School programme was 
implemented and 12 events were 
offered.

See Appendix 4.6.3

8 commemorative days 
celebrated including: 
International Museum Day, 
Africa Day, Teachers and Aged 
Day, National Aids Awareness 
Day/ Emancipation Day. As per 
South African and international 
commemorative day calendar. 

Youth 
development 
programme 
in place to 
promote healthy 
citizenship 
through 
museums.

Programme 
in place and 
implemented, as 
planned.

Quarterly youth 
development 
programmes 
conducted.

The following programmes were 
offered: 
• ‘Western Cape Youth Dialogue:  
 Challenges in education’ in  
 collaboration with Global Peace  
 Development (28 August 2010).
• Climate Change programme  
 held in collaboration with  
 COPART (1 October to 31  
 December 2010).

The Iziko Summer School 
programme with a focus on 
youth development included:
• Climate Change Indaba
• Marine Life Awareness (Cape  
 Point walk and kelp activities)
• Indigenous Games Workshops

Museum training was offered to 
youth in collaboration with the 
City. In addition, 4 programmes 
took place. These included the 
June programme, hosted in 
conjunction with Robben Island 
Museum.

In keeping with Museum 
Awareness and Youth 
Ambassadors programme.
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KEy objEctIvE outPut PErformAncE 
InDIcAtor

2010/11 tArGEt 
mIlEstonE

PErformAncE AGAInst 
tArGEt

Public 
Programmes 
contd.

Summer- and 
Winter-School 
programmes 
offered to the 
public that 
focus on inter-
generational 
dialogue.

Programmes 
successfully 
implemented 
as planned and 
evaluated.

Planned public 
programmes 
delivered and 
evaluated. (1 
summer and 1 
winter).

Winter Programme: Crafting an 
International Mandela Icon, was 
hosted. The 2011 Summer School 
programme ran from 5 to 26 
February 2011.

A plan for use 
of the Iziko 
Mobile Museum 
developed and 
implemented to 
extend reach of 
Iziko to townships 
and rural 
communities.

IMM used for 
12 outreach 
programmes, 
as planned. 
New audiences 
reached and 
good feedback 
received.

12 scheduled 
visits completed 
and targets 
met for new 
audiences; 
programmes 
evaluated.

20 visits and outreach 
programmes were conducted. 
The increase (8) in the number 
was due to the successful 
promotion of the IMM, which led 
to an increase in demand.

See Appendix 4.6.4

Develop a 
Volunteer 
Programme and 
offer guided tours.

Establish a 
Volunteer 
Programme, 
develop 
guidelines and 
procedures, 
recruit and train 
volunteers to 
support Iziko 
projects.

Volunteer 
guidelines in 
place; volunteers 
recruited and 
trained to support 
projects and 
offer guided 
tours. Database 
of volunteers in 
place.

Develop 
guidelines by 
30 November 
2010 and train 
volunteers on 
ongoing basis.

To inform the policy framework, 
discussions were held with staff 
and volunteers, while learning 
from the recruiting and training 
process was ongoing. Related 
information was gathered, 
however, the rigorous process 
that followed resulted in the 
guidelines not being completed 
by November. Guidelines will be 
developed by August 2011.

Exhibition 
Programmes
Improve the visitor 
experience through 
new exhibitions, 
with particular 
emphasis on 
preparation for the 
2010 FIFA Soccer 
World Cup.

Vibrant 
programme of 
Iziko exhibitions 
planned and 
implemented in 
line with strategic 
objectives.

Exhibition 
programme 
revised in terms 
of long-term 
strategy.

14 new exhibitions 
curated and 
opened to the 
public by March 
2011.

21 exhibitions were hosted. The 
positive variance of 7 is as a 
result of 3 exhibitions hosted 
by Natural History Collections 
(NHC) and 4 exhibitions installed 
by Art Collections (AC) in 
response to opportunities that 
arose after the planning process 
for the financial year was 
completed.

See Appendix 4.5

Inclusivity and 
Increased Access 
(Special Needs) 
Increase access to 
Iziko programmes 
for learners and 
adults with special 
needs.

Inclusive 
programmes 
for people with 
special needs 
developed and 
implemented.

Inclusive 
programmes 
for people with 
special needs 
in place and 
sustained.

Inclusive 
committee 
established, plan 
for special needs 
programming 
developed and 
pilot projects 
tested by March 
2011.

The inclusive committee was 
established in October 2010. 
It is comprised of experts who 
give meaningful advice to the 
Museum. 

Meaningful Access Programme 
(MAP) held special needs 
programmes for 6 different 
schools/organisations, and 
continued to host workshops for 
learners with special needs.
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Inclusivity and 
Increased Access 
(Special Needs) 
contd.
Increase access 
to key exhibitions 
through audio-
guides in selected 
languages and 
touch labels.

Audio-guides 
planned and 
developed for 
key exhibitions 
in languages of 
major visitor 
groups.

5 audio-guides 
to be developed 
and implemented 
at the following 
museums:
ISAM; ISANG; IBH; 
ISL; IWFC at the 
Castle of Good 
Hope.

5 audio-guides 
developed by 
March 2011.

Scripts were drafted for 5 
audio-visual guides, including a 
generic introductory guide to 
Iziko Museums. Filming for all 
the guides took place and the 
final editing was started. This 
is a partnership project with 
Mobiguide. Delay in finalising 
these guides is due to challenges 
experienced by Mobiguide, 
which is bearing all production 
costs. However, this project 
will greatly benefit visitors on 
its completion. The process to 
make the guides available in 
other languages will commence 
on completion of the English 
language version.

Braille labels 
produced where 
feasible and 
where displays 
can be touched.

Braille labels 
in place for 
permanent 
exhibitions.

Braille resources 
developed 
for Rock Art 
exhibition at 
ISAM.

This was not completed 
due to inadequate human 
resource capital. To overcome 
this challenge, this project 
is to be championed by EPP 
in collaboration with other 
departments in the new financial 
year.

Website 
Development
Increase access to 
knowledge about 
African natural 
history, through 
development of 
content-based 
websites. 

Further 
development 
of Biodiversity 
Explorer, Figweb 
and Waspweb 
websites.

1,500 web pages 
uploaded.

500 new pages 
uploaded by 31 
March 2011.

1,749 new Biodiversity Explorer 
pages uploaded.

More progress than expected 
with producing pages on 
Lepidoptera (moths and 
butterflies) was made. The 
positive variance of 1,249 is as a 
result of this positive progress. 

10,500 page 
downloads per 
day. 

3,500 downloads 
per day by 31 
March 2011.

4,814 page downloads per day in 
March 2011. 

1,314 more pages downloaded 
per day than expected. It is 
not possible to accurately 
predict the extent to which the 
popularity of the websites will 
increase, mainly because this is 
a macro environmental factor.

4,500 unique 
visitors per day.

1,500 unique 
visitors per day 
by 31 March 2011.

2,016 unique visitors per day in 
March 2011.

516 more visitors per day than 
expected. It is not possible to 
accurately predict the extent 
to which the popularity of 
the websites will increase, 
mainly because this is a macro 
environmental factor.
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Website 
Development 
contd. 
Development 
of Art, SH and 
Education content 
on the Iziko 
website.

Increased content 
of Art and SH 
projects and on-
line educational 
material on 
website.

SH, Art and 
Education topics 
uploaded to the 
Iziko website.

3 topics uploaded. The following was uploaded:
EPP:
• Information regarding  
 Iziko public and education  
 programmes/resources.
• Interactive Iziko microsite  
 (www. izikomuseums.com)  
 profiling Iziko’s 2010  
 programme and funded by  
 NLDTF was launched.

SHC: 
• Anthropology Gallery: People  
 Past To Present.
• Khoe-San Hunter-Gatherers  
 and Herders in Southern Africa  
 (Hunter-Gatherers in Southern  
 Africa Pastoralists in Southern  
 Africa).
• Indigenous Agriculturalists in  
 Southern Africa.
• It was decided to add the  
 Ghoema & Glitter exhibition  
 brochure.

AC: 
• All info related to exhibitions  
 shown during the year was put  
 onto the website via IA.

Redevelop the Iziko 
website to increase 
access to Iziko’s 
heritage resources 
and information.

New Iziko 
website launched 
with optimal 
hosting to allow 
for database-
driven capacity 
to improve 
functionality and 
reduce carbon 
footprint.

Implementation 
plan for 
redevelopment of 
website 2010–
2013 in place.

Strategy for 
redevelopment 
in place by 
August 2010 and 
strategy and 
implementation 
plan approved by 
November 2010.

A proposal for the phased 
development of a new Iziko 
website as well as the upgrade 
and maintenance of the current 
(static) website was presented to 
the SMT in October 2010. It was 
approved. Implementation of the 
upgrade is underway and will be 
completed in the new financial 
year. The redevelopment of a 
new website for Iziko will roll out 
over a two-year period from  
1 July 2011.
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Digitisation & 
Image Bank
Increase access to 
Iziko’s collections 
of photographs and 
images.

Photographic and 
image collections 
throughout Iziko 
digitised.

Implement 
programme to 
scan NH and SH 
images.

NH: 2,000 images 
scanned.
SH: 9,000 images 
scanned.

Annual count by 31 March 2011:
NHC: 2,209 images scanned.

SHC: 6,474 images scanned. 
The negative variance of 2,526 
was as a result of the fact that 
one post became vacant at the 
beginning of November 2010. 
The Museum had one Librarian 
who had to digitise photographs 
and keep the Museum open 
according to the advertised 
public hours. Balancing the two 
was a challenge and the result 
was that the digitising target 
was not met. 

AC: 218 images scanned. These 
were scanned in response to 
requests from members of 
the public for the 1910-2010: 
From Pierneef to Gugulective 
exhibition.

Image database 
created.

Image database 
set up on 
separate server.

Proposal for 
image database, 
software options 
and strategy for 
set-up including 
budget submitted 
by November 
2010.

The draft proposal was 
completed in December 2010. 
The final document is subject 
to the finalisation of the DAC 
digitisation policy initiative, as 
this will have an impact on the 
proposal.

Publications
Produce 
publications that 
increase access 
to the knowledge 
resources of Iziko.

African Natural 
History Journal 
published.

One volume 
published 
annually.

African Natural 
History Journal 
Volume 6 
published by 
December 2010.

Volume 6 published in December 
2010.
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Publications contd. Popular 
publications that 
make research 
accessible.

Number 
of popular 
publications 
authored by Iziko 
staff.

NHC: 4 
publications.
SHC: 2 
publications.
AC: 4 
publications.

Annual count from 1 April 2010 
to 31 March 2011:
NHC: 0 publications (1,749 new 
web pages uploaded). The 
negative variance was as a result 
of a change in strategy. Effort 
to popularise knowledge of 
NHC was invested in production 
of website pages rather than 
popular publications.

SHC: 3 publications. The 
additional publication was due 
to an early delivery of the Cape 
of Storms DVD produced by 
an overseas company. It was 
anticipated that this would be 
delivered in the new financial 
year.

AC: 2 publications were printed 
and 2 were not. The catalogue 
for the 1910-2010: From Pierneef 
to Gugulective exhibition was 
not produced due financial 
constraints. The Tretchikoff 
exhibition was rescheduled to 
the 2011/2012 financial year and 
the catalogue postponed to the 
next financial year to coincide 
with the exhibition.

Publications for 
major exhibitions 
for 2010.

Brochures 
published in 
relation to major 
2010 exhibitions.

SHC: 1 brochure.
AC: 1 brochure.

Annual count from 1 April 2010 
to 31 March 2011:
SHC: Booklet on Ghoema & 
Glitter: New Year Carnival in 
Cape Town.

AC: 2 brochures
1910-2010: From Pierneef to 
Gugulective; brochure on Roger 
Ballen exhibition was produced 
following an interview with the 
curator.

Develop improved 
museum guides 
and maps.

Museum guides 
and maps 
produced for 
all sites. Texts, 
images and 
design improved 
and standardised.

SHC: 2 guides.
NHC: 1 guide.

Annual count from 1 April 2010 
to 31 March 2011:
SHC: No guides were printed due 
to human resource constraint, 
but texts for IBKM and ISHC 
were written. Printing will be 
undertaken in the new financial 
year.

NHC: ISAM map produced in 
April 2010. 

A souvenir guide 
to Iziko Museums 
produced by 2013.

Souvenir guide 
produced.

Photograph 
6 museums 
including key 
artefacts and 
artworks by 
March 2011.

186 edited images were added to 
the IA image database towards 
the production of the souvenir 
guide.
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Marketing & 
Communication
Enhance Iziko’s 
public profile 
among all target 
groups.

Marketing & 
communication 
strategy 
developed and 
implemented.

Marketing & 
communication 
strategy refined 
to ensure access 
and target non-
visitors.

Refined three-
year strategy 
in place by 30 
September 2010.

A new needs-based audience 
segmentation model has been 
approved. The refined three-
year strategy was finalised by 31 
October 2010.

Integrated 
marketing & 
communication 
plans developed 
for all key Iziko 
sites (including 
recommendations 
for pricing and 
opening hours).

Marketing plans 
in place. Entrance 
fee structure 
and opening 
hours reviewed 
strategically 
with the aim 
of increasing 
attendance.

Marketing plans 
for ISAM, ISANG 
and ISL in place 
by March 2011.

Discussion 
document with 
recommendation 
for fee structure 
and opening 
hours by 
September 2010.

Following the completion of 
the three-year marketing & 
communication strategy, it 
was recommended that these 
plans should be informed 
by the anticipated thematic 
development of Iziko Museums. 
A cross-marketing strategy that 
focuses on the nexus of ISAM, 
ISANG and ISL was produced. 

Opening hours and entrance 
fees were revised. Increases in 
entrance fees of R5 at certain 
sites were compensated in 
part by extending the current 
policy of free entrance to ‘16 
and under’ to include 17- and 
18-years-olds from 1 April 2011. 
Opening hours were extended 
at certain sites, and greater 
uniformity in times at all sites is 
now in place.

Increase 
attendance of Iziko 
exhibitions and 
public programmes 
among diverse 
audiences.

Integrated 
marketing & 
communication 
plans developed 
for all key Iziko 
projects and 
campaigns.

Marketing & 
communication 
plans 
implemented 
successfully. 

Marketing & 
communication 
plans 
implemented for 
all key projects 
and campaigns 
in line with Iziko 
year plan by 
March 2011.

Marketing & communication 
plans were developed and 
implemented for the following 10 
priority projects: 
• ISANG closure for re-hanging  
 (AC)
• 1910-2010: From Pierneef to  
 Gugulective (AC)
• Art Combo exhibition (AC)
• Ghoema & Glitter (SH)
• Opening of the Social History  
 Centre (SH)
• Made in Translation (SH)
• African Dinosaurs (NH)
• World Wildlife Photographer (NH)
• Summer School (EPP)
• Celebrating Africa with UCT (all)
and 3 campaigns: 
• International Museum Day 
• Heritage Week  
• Celebrate Summer 

These promotional projects and 
campaigns resulted in a 4.07% 
increase in visitors over the 
previous fiscal. Iziko received 
a total of 493,265 visitors in 
2010/2011 compared to 473,982 
visitors in 2009/2010. 
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Marketing & 
Communication 
contd.
Increase Iziko 
brand equity 
and ensure 
values, purpose 
and promise 
are promoted 
internally and 
externally. 

Brand strategy 
in place, Brand 
Manual revised, 
and brand 
compliance 
implemented.

Brand strategy 
implemented 
according to plan. 

Brand framework 
presented to staff 
and launched; 
Brand Manual 
revised; brand 
promotion 
campaign 
implemented; 
update 
registration of 
Iziko trademark 
and register 
revised logo by 
March 2011.

The brand framework is in place. 
The renewal and update of the 
Iziko trademark has been lodged 
with the Trademarks Office. The 
brand promotion campaign has 
been integrated into the 2010 
Hearth of our Heritage campaign 
funded via NLDTF. 

The Brand Manual was submitted 
to SMT for review in December 
2010 and was approved. It will 
be presented to staff along with 
the brand framework in a series 
of workshops in the first quarter 
of 2011/12. A copy of the final 
document will be provided to 
Council for reference purposes.

Plan and 
implement 
promotional 
campaigns to 
increase access to 
diverse audiences.

Campaigns 
planned for 
commemorative 
days and to 
target particular 
audiences.

Increase in visitor 
numbers on free 
days and during 
the following 
promotional 
campaigns:
• Heritage Week
• Celebrate  
 Summer

Establish 
benchmark 
figures to 
measure impact 
of free days 
and results of 
campaigns by 
March 2011.

Visitor statistics for free days 
are now being tracked. The 
following figures were recorded:
• Human Rights Day 2,775
• Freedom Day 1,973
• International Museum Day 586
• Africa Day 644 
• Youth Day 1,668
• Women’s Day 1,956
• Heritage Day 8,114
• Aids Awareness/ Emancipation  
 Day 1,026

The impact of free access 
promotional campaigns on 
visitor numbers year-to-date is 
as follows: 
Heritage Week campaign (20–26 
September) 19,750. (Visitor 
numbers for Heritage Day 
across all sites totalled 8,114, a 
5.28% increase over the total 
of 7,707 recorded in 2009 and a 
29.66% increase over the 6,258 
recorded in 2008.)
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Marketing & 
Communication 
contd.
Promote Iziko’s 
2010 programme 
to diverse local 
and international 
audiences.

Strategy for 
campaign to 
market 2010 
programme 
including 
strategic 
partnerships in 
place.

Increased visitor 
numbers and 
exposure during 
the 2010 FIFA 
Soccer World Cup 
period and for 
the duration of 
the campaign to 
promote Iziko’s 
2010 programme.

Marketing 
strategy 
implemented, 
campaign 
evaluation report 
compiled by 
December 2010, 
and strategic 
partnerships 
secured.

Funding of R749,932 for 
implementation of 2010 
campaign secured, plus 
R184,796 from the NLDTF and 
R131,624 for a funded position to 
coordinate the implementation 
of the strategy to promote 
Iziko’s 2010 programme 
comprising 3 key exhibitions 
i.e. Ghoema & Glitter, African 
Dinosaurs and 1910-2010: From 
Pierneef to Gugulective, as well 
as an educational programme, 
throughout 2010 was secured.

A through-the-line 2010 
campaign was implemented 
under the banner ‘Hearth of 
our Heritage’ to build on the 
groundswell of national pride 
evoked by the 2010 FIFA World 
Cup with a view to reaching 
new and diverse audiences. 
Partnerships with various 
community-based media, 
Metrorail and Cape Town 
Tourism optimised impact.

Ensure Iziko 
website is widely 
promoted and is an 
effective marketing 
tool and source of 
key information.

Improved design 
aligned with new 
corporate identity 
and architecture.
Increased 
capacity to 
monitor website 
visitors and 
provide statistics.

Website is 
improved, 
maintained 
and promoted 
as an effective 
marketing tool.

Website updated 
to include 
information 
on all current 
exhibitions and 
events. Establish 
benchmark figure 
to measure the 
number of visitors 
and unique visits 
by March 2011.

The website was updated 
and maintained with new 
information, as required. 
A maximum of 50 hours 
maintenance was implemented 
by the service provider monthly.

Google Analytics were 
implemented on the Iziko 
website from June 2010. 

2nd Quarter: 11,812 (unique 
visitors) 
3rd Quarter: 15,044 (unique 
visitors) 
4th Quarter: 20,691 (unique 
visitors) 

The increase in unique visitors 
monitored since implementation 
of Google Analytics is 75%

Ensure high 
media profile of 
Iziko and good 
media relations to 
promote access 
among diverse 
audiences.

Media strategy 
developed and 
implemented.

High level of 
media coverage 
and media 
partnerships 
developed in line 
with strategy.

Media strategy 
in place by 31 
August 2010.

The media/publicity strategy 
for the period October 2010 
to March 2011 was submitted 
in August and is being 
implemented.

Total AVE figures for 2010/2011: 
R35,217,433 show an increase 
of 8.7% from R32,370,680 in 
2009/2010.
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Marketing & 
Communication 
contd. 
Conduct ongoing 
market research 
to inform product 
development.

Market research 
facilitates 
institutional 
development.

Market research 
strategy in place 
June 2010 and 
implemented.

Baseline study 
and visitor profile 
tracking study 
completed and 
reports submitted 
by February 2011.

Management 
reports evaluating 
visitor statistics 
by August 2010 
and April 2011.

Market research strategy 
completed.

A visitor and non-visitor profile 
tracking study was conducted in 
September 2010.

A Visitor Statistic Analysis 
Management Report for the 
period 2008/2009, 2009/2010 
and the first period 20010/2011 
was completed and submitted 31 
August.

The baseline study (visitor and 
non-visitor profile tracking 
study) report was submitted on 
28 December 2010.

Customer 
Relationship 
Management
Visitor experience 
that meets 
expectations and is 
aligned with brand 
values.

Surveys of visitor 
expectations 
conducted and 
analysed.

Visitor 
expectations 
met, as indicated 
in qualitative 
surveys. 

Qualitative survey 
undertaken bi-
annually in July 
and September 
2010 as part of 
visitor profile 
tracking study.

Due to budgetary constraints, 
it was decided not to conduct 2 
surveys but to consolidate Iziko’s 
resources into an annual survey 
in September 2010. A qualitative 
survey measuring visitor 
satisfaction was conducted as 
part of the tracking study in 
September 2010.

Survey 
information 
analysed and 
report submitted.

Report on survey 
information 
submitted by 
March 2011.

A report providing a high level 
analysis of market research data 
was provided in March 2011.

Strategic Focus: Core Business and Best Practice

Objective: To fulfil the core functions of Iziko as a national cultural institution committed to caring for the heritage of the 

nation

Programme 2:  Infrastructure and capital Works
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Site Development
Major capital works 
project at ISAM to 
provide more space 
for collections 
and to enable the 
public to access the 
collections as part 
of the exhibition 
experience.

A three-year 
building project 
(Courtyard 
Project), which 
includes building 
in current 
courtyard space 
and adding two 
extra floors above 
this area.

Expanded 
facilities to 
enhance the 
visitor experience 
and to provide 
space for 
collections, 
meetings, 
conference 
facilities, 
improved 
educational 
spaces and office 
space.

Tenders for the 
Courtyard Project 
will be called for 
in January 2011.

As a lease agreement for 
alternative accommodation 
was not in place by January 
2011, DPW made the decision to 
postpone the tender process so 
that relocation timelines in the 
tender documentation could be 
revised in terms of the timelines 
in the lease agreement.

The tender documents are in the 
final stage of completion. DPW 
will initiate the tender process 
in the next reporting period. 
Progress report meetings 
between DAC, DPW and Iziko 
were attended.
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Site Development 
contd.
Improve working 
conditions at sites, 
where required.

Improvement 
of working 
conditions at 
ISANG.

Install air-
conditioning at 
ISANG Annexe.

Installation of 
air-conditioning 
in the HR 
department at 
ISANG Annexe by 
November 2010.

The installation of air conditioners 
at the HR department was 
completed in December 2010.

It was established that the 
installation in the Art Library at 
the Annexe can only take place 
following an electrical upgrade. 
Quotes for the upgrade were 
called for and the work carried 
out. The brief was extended to 
include the photographic studio 
in the Annexe. Tenders for the 
installation of air conditioning 
units closed in March 2011.

Improve access 
for people with 
physical disabilities.

Access for 
wheelchair-users 
improved at Iziko 
museums, where 
appropriate.

Lifts and ramps 
for wheelchair-
users at the 
following Iziko 
museums 
that were not 
wheelchair-
friendly before: 
IR&V; IKDW; 
IBH; ISL; ISANG 
Annexe.

Construction 
work completed 
by June 2010 
at the following 
Iziko sites: IR&V; 
IKDW; ISL; ISANG 
Annexe.

Construction to improve access 
for people with disabilities was 
completed at: IR&V; IKDW; ISL; 
ISANG Annexe.

Although planned, access at 
IBH was not improved as the 
state of the building was of 
greater concern. The roof 
must be replaced in the next 
reporting period, so access will 
be addressed thereafter.

Although not scheduled in the 
reporting period, access to the 
following two sites was also 
improved: IBKM; IMC.

Ensure that all 
public spaces 
and facilities are 
maintained to the 
highest standards.

An effective 
cleaning and 
maintenance 
programme 
developed and 
implemented for 
each site.

Cleaning 
programme in 
place that reflects 
a high standard 
as reflected in 
feedback from 
visitors and 
stakeholders.

Develop and 
implement an 
effective cleaning 
and maintenance 
programme for 
each site by 
September 2010.

A cleaning and maintenance 
programme for each site was 
developed and implemented.

Improved 
condition of all 
Iziko sites through 
maintenance of 
infrastructure 
and continual 
refurbishment.

A repair and 
renovation 
programme to 
refurbish Iziko 
sites in place.

DPW-driven repair 
and renovation 
completed as per 
DPW programme 
announced 
annually. 

Repair and 
renovation of 
the following 
Iziko sites to be 
completed by 
June 2010: IBKM; 
IMC; ISL; IR&V 
(partial). 
 
Evaluate extent 
of renovation 
required at 
ISANG and IR&V 
(complete) by 
31 March 2011.

Repair and renovation work has 
been completed at the following 
sites: IBKM; IMC; ISL; IR&V. 
 
The extent of renovation 
required at ISANG and IR&V was 
evaluated.
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Site Development 
contd. 
Upgraded foyers to 
improve reception 
of visitors. 

Plan to upgrade 
reception areas 
in museums 
developed and 
implemented, 
where 
appropriate.

Strategy 
developed to 
upgrade foyers 
and reception 
areas, and 
implemented 
according to plan.

ISAM foyer and 
reception areas 
upgraded by April 
2010.

ISAM foyer and reception area 
upgrade was completed in 
December 2010. Further work 
was done to upgrade the visitor/ 
hospitality area.

Improved external 
and internal 
signage to facilitate 
way-finding for 
visitors.

Signage and way-
finding system 
planned, designed 
and implemented.

Signage audit 
undertaken, 
design blueprint 
developed and 
implementation 
plan drawn up.

Upgrade of 
internal and 
external signage 
and way-finding at 
ISAM completed 
by December 
2010.

Funding for roll 
out of upgrade 
to all other Iziko 
sites via DPW 
secured.

The upgrade of internal and 
external signage and way-finding 
was not completed by December 
2010 because the negotiation of 
the implementation contract was 
protracted and only concluded 
on 7 March 2011.

Roll out of the upgrade of the 
exterior and interior signage 
at all Iziko museums as a 
Capital Works Project under 
the auspices of DPW has 
been approved. Installation is 
expected to begin in the new 
financial year.

Security Systems
Improved access 
controls and 
security measures 
across all sites.

Upgraded security 
systems and 
improved access 
controls in place, 
where needed.

Alarm systems 
upgraded 
and linked to 
monitoring 
services at the 
following Iziko 
sites: ISANG; 
ISANG Annexe; 
ISAM (EPP 
spaces); IKDW; 
IBKM; IR&V; ISL.

Alarm systems 
upgraded 
and linked to 
monitoring 
services at the 
following Iziko 
sites by June 
2010: ISANG; 
ISANG Annexe; 
ISAM (EPP 
spaces); IKDW; 
IBKM.

Linked to 
monitoring 
services at IR&V 
by March 2011.

Installation and link-up of alarm 
systems were completed by 
June 2010 at the following sites: 
ISANG; ISANG Annexe; ISAM 
(EPP spaces); IKDW; IBH; IBKM; 
ISL.

A new alarm system was 
installed at IR&V and linked to a 
monitoring service in February 
2011.

CCTV cameras 
installed at 6 
main sites: ISAM; 
ISANG; ISL; ISHC; 
IWFC; IMC.

CCTV cameras 
installed at 6 
main sites by 
June 2010: ISAM; 
ISANG; ISL; ISHC; 
IWFC; IMC.

Conduct a needs 
assessment for 
CCTV cameras 
at other sites by 
December 2010.

CCTV cameras were installed at 
the following sites by June 2010:  
ISAM; ISANG; ISL; ISHC; IWFC; 
IMC.

A brief was developed and 
submitted to DAC for CCTV 
installations at IKDW; IBH; IBKM; 
IR&V and HR Annexe.

Electronic access 
control at the 
ISAM foyer in 
place.

By April 2010, 
all access to the 
ISAM controlled 
electronically. 

A turnstile has been 
implemented at ISAM. 
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IT Infrastructure
Ensure optimal 
usage of IT to 
facilitate efficient 
and effective 
operations.

An integrated 
connectivity of all 
sites.

An IT strategic 
plan, including 
a business 
continuity 
strategy, 
developed 
to ensure an 
integrated 
connectivity of 
sites.

IT strategic plan 
approved by 
Council by March 
2011.

The IT strategic plan was not 
completed by March 2011 due 
to critical IT functions such as 
the upgrading of the backup 
processes, virus protection, and 
implementation of a new firewall, 
monitoring tools and devices on 
the network that form part of 
the plan.

Integrated data connectivity 
between various sites was 
installed in September 2010.

A new telephone 
management 
system in place. 

VoIP telephone 
management 
system installed 
at major sites.

VoIP telephone 
management 
system installed 
at the following 
sites by June 
2010: ISAM; IBH; 
IBKM; IKDW; IMC.

Installed at the 
following Iziko 
sites by August 
2010: IR&V; 
IWFC; ISL; ISHC; 
ISANG (including 
Annexe).

VoIP telephony installed at Iziko 
sites by June 2010: ISAM; IBH; 
IBKM; IKDW; IMC.

VoIP telephone system installed 
at the following Iziko sites by 
August 2010: IR&V; IWFC; ISL; 
ISHC; ISANG (including Annexe).

Programme 3:  custodianship and Growth of collections
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Collections 
Management 
Upgraded storage 
of collections 
to improve 
conservation and 
accessibility.

3.01 SH collections 
safely relocated 
and integrated in 
new ISHC.

All SH collections 
and library have 
been moved to 
the ISHC and 
unpacked.

SHC Library 
opened to users 
by April 2010.

Relocation of 
collections 
completed by 
November 2010. 
 

SHC Library opened to users on 
12 April 2010.

SH collections were moved 
from ISL, including the vaults, 
to ISHC. African Studies and Art 
and Paper collections were also 
moved to ISHC. Good progress 
was made with the Philatelic 
and Textile collections. Entire 
Pot collection is now integrated 
with other African Ceramics 
collections, and accessible on 
database.

Accessibility of moved 
collections was improved by 
mapping stores and listing 
storage unit contents. 
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Collections 
Management 
contd.

3.02 Collections 
and staff at ISAM 
moved so that the 
building phase of 
Courtyard Project 
can commence.

All collections 
and staff from 
ISAM have 
been relocated 
to alternative 
temporary 
accommodation. 

Relocation of 
collections and 
staff from Block 
C completed 
by March 2011 
(subject to 
procurement 
of suitable 
accommodation 
by DAC/ DPW).

The move did not happen. This 
was due to delays encountered 
by DPW during the tendering 
process. The relocation is 
expected to start in the new 
financial year.

Register the 
backlog of un-
registered items in 
NH collections.

3.03 All NH 
collections 
registered.

Accession of 
newly registered 
NH objects 
collected more 
than 2 years prior 
to beginning of 
financial year.

20,000 objects 
registered per 
financial year.

NH: 27,092 backlog objects 
registered from Hymenoptera 
and beetle collections.

Initiate a system 
for archiving 
collections-related 
information.

3.04 Archive 
Policy and 
procedures 
drafted and 
implemented.

Collections 
records archived 
in a systematic 
manner. 

Policy and 
procedures 
drafted by 31 
March 2011.

Policy has been drafted. 
Procedures have been partially 
developed. DAC Policy on 
Digitisation of Heritage 
Resources will affect policy 
and procedures considerably, 
and hence finalisation of these 
documents is awaiting the 
finalisation of the DAC Policy. 

Digitisation of 
Collections
Access to 
information on 
the collections 
is increased and 
preserved.

3.05 Collection 
registration 
information on 
database.  

Increase the 
number of new 
NH, SH and 
Art accessions 
databased.

NHC: 25,000 
objects added to 
database.
SHC: 400 
objects added 
to database 
and 100 objects 
photographed.

NHC: 31,960 records added to 
databases.
More than expected by 6,960 
due to excellent performance by 
SABIF-funded staff.

SHC: 1,614 objects added to the 
database.
Explanation for positive variance 
of 1,214: At the beginning of 
2011, funds for a short-term 
contract worker for digitisation 
were sourced and gave a good 
boost to the digitisation of the 
African Collection. In October 
2010, a contracted staff member 
working with the unpacking of 
the collection also added to the 
database. 

AC: Database up-to-date.

3.06 Objects in 
NH collections 
photographed for 
image database.

Increase the 
number of 
NH specimen 
photographed.

600 specimens 
photographed by 
31 March 2011.

NH: 2,369 specimens 
photographed. The positive 
variance of 1,769 was as a result 
of the good contribution of the 
SABIF-funded staff.
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Digitisation of 
Collections contd.

3.07 Objects 
in Art and SH 
collections 
photographed for 
image database.

Increase the 
number of SH 
and Art objects 
photographed.

AC: 400 objects 
photographed.
SHC: 100 objects 
photographed.

AC: 347 works photographed 
(mainly from 1910-2010 
exhibition). The negative 
variance of 53 was as a result 
of less work photographed than 
anticipated for the 1910-2010 
exhibition. It was established 
that many lenders had photos 
of loan works, and some works 
from the permanent collection 
in the exhibition had previously 
been photographed. 

SH: 151 objects photographed. 
The positive variance relates to 
the photographing of 58 pots 
done by an outside party for 
African ceramics exhibition at 
Gold of Africa Museum.

Conservation of 
Collections
Actively ensure 
the long-term 
preservation of 
collections on 
display and in 
storage.

3.08 Preventive 
conservation 
procedures 
developed for all 
collections.

Preventive 
conservation 
measures 
implemented 
and regular 
monitoring 
of collections 
programme.

SHC: Monitoring 
of stored 
collections at 
ISHC according to 
programme.
NHC: No target 
set, as collections 
will be moved 
prior to 
commencement 
of Courtyard 
Project.
AC: Proposal 
developed 
for additional 
collections 
storage.

SHC: Regular inspections of 
stores in ISHC were done. 
Fumigation was also undertaken 
regularly. 

AC: Discussions regarding 
additional storage space initiated. 
Challenges were highlighted, 
plans were devised and quotes 
collected for new proposal. 
The plan was not developed 
due to insufficient funds and 
implementation was postponed 
to the new financial year.

NHC: Regular inspection of 
stores by Collection Managers 
was undertaken.

3.09 Paintings 
restored 
according to 
Conservation 
Plan.

Number of 
paintings 
restored.
Acc. No. Gerard 
Sekoto.
Couple dancing.

Acc. No. Andrew 
Verster. Untitled.

6 paintings 
restored per 
financial year.

14 paintings restored. The 
positive variance of 8 was as 
a result of a need to restore 
2 SHC works and 6 AC works 
which were done through funds 
received from an insurance claim 
for artworks that were damaged. 

Collection 
Development
Ensure growth 
of collections in 
line with strategic 
priorities; redress 
past imbalances in 
collections.

3.10 Relevant new 
additions to the 
Art, SH and NH 
collections.

Works added 
to collections 
according to 
departmental 
and exhibition 
priorities.

SHC: Focus on 
2010 FIFA Soccer 
World Cup and 
Carnival objects.
AC: Focus on 
historically 
marginalised 
and young 
contemporary 
artists.

SHC: 84 items were collected. 

AC: 16 new works were collected. 

See Appendix 4.7
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Research
Undertake research 
on collections and 
the heritage these 
represent.

Research 
publications 
by Iziko 
researchers in all 
departments.

Research 
publications 
produced by Iziko 
Curators.

NHC: 18 research 
publications.
SHC: 1 publication.
AC: 1 publication.

NHC: 19 research publications. 
SHC: 3 publications.
AC: 2 publications.

See Appendix 4.8 

Generally, the positive variance 
achieved is as a result of 
a positive response from 
publishers to publish articles 
written by staff.

Funds raised for 
research.

Raise funds for 
scientific research.

NHC: R1,000,000 R1,455,000 granted for 2010. 
The R900,000 for the AOP 
project contributed significantly 
to the increase in funds.

Undertake research 
on indigenous 
knowledge systems 
(IKS) in relation to 
Iziko programmes.

Documentation 
of indigenous 
knowledge 
in relation to 
specific projects.

Inclusion of IKS 
perspective 
in relevant 
programmes and 
exhibitions.  

One IKS 
programme 
on astronomy 
developed.

Ongoing research on African 
understanding of night sky in 
collaboration with SAAO was 
done, by December 2010.

Some staff that started the 
project have moved on and new 
staff joining the project bring 
new dynamics to it. Indigenous 
labels to be researched due to 
new staff that came on board.

Stimulate debate 
on relevant issues 
in the heritage 
sector.

Workshops and 
forum discussions 
on pertinent 
museum issues, 
including 
representation 
and classification.

Relevant 
workshops 
presented.

SHC: 1 workshop 
held.
AC: 2 workshops 
held.

Annual count by 31 March 2011:
SHC: 1 workshop held.

AC: 2 workshops held: 1910-2010: 
From Pierneef to Gugulective 
and Imagining Beauty 
exhibitions, as well as a panel 
discussion on Borders, based on 
demand.

See Appendix 4.6.5

Exhibition 
Development
Communicate 
and interpret 
new knowledge 
through engaging 
exhibitions.

New exhibitions 
developed to 
disseminate the 
finds of research.

Develop 
exhibitions that 
generate new 
knowledge.

Five research-
based exhibitions.

Annual count from 1 April 2010 
to 31 March 2011:
AC: 1910-2010: From Pierneef to 
Gugulective; Imagining Beauty.  

SHC: Made in Translation; 
Mapping Bo-Kaap.

NHC: African Dinosaurs.

See Appendix 4.5
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Education 
Development 
contd.
Communicate new 
knowledge through 
development 
of innovative 
education 
programmes.

Innovative 
educational 
resources and 
programmes 
developed to 
communicate new 
knowledge.

Devise innovative 
educational 
resources and 
programmes.

2 resources and 
programmes 
developed.

See Appendix 
4.6.2

8 resources and programmes 
were developed. The 
development of 6 more 
resources was made possible by 
recruitment of staff in the EPP 
department and by the need to 
align education programmes 
with schools needs.   

See Appendix 4.6.2

Strategic Focus:  Governance and Financial Sustainability

Objective: To operate with financial and organisational efficiency

Programme 5:  organisational Development for success
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Organisational 
Structure
To ensure that 
the structure of 
Iziko is aligned 
to the delivery of 
strategic priorities.

Regular review 
of organisational 
structure 
in relation 
to strategic 
objectives and 
operational 
effectiveness.

Departmental 
structures 
in place that 
support the 
efficient delivery 
of strategic 
objectives.

Review of 
organisational 
structure annually 
in September 
and also when 
vacancies provide 
an opportunity 
to revise the 
structure to 
improve strategic 
delivery.

Vacant positions were reviewed 
in terms of strategic delivery and 
an advertisement was placed in 
the media in October 2010.

Develop a 
career pathing 
and succession 
planning 
programme to 
improve the 
efficiency of the 
organisational 
structure.

Competent 
staff members 
are given an 
opportunity to be 
promoted within 
the organisational 
structure.

Develop and 
implement the 
career pathing 
and succession 
planning 
programme by 
March 2011.

The HR Director position was 
vacant for the entire reporting 
period and the HR Manager 
position was vacant for 11 
months. Although some staff 
members have been developed 
during the reporting period, a 
career pathing and succession 
plan could not be finalised 
during the reporting period. 
This matter will be attended to 
as soon as an HR Director is 
appointed. 7 staff members were 
promoted.

See Table 5, page 92

Review HR 
strategies, 
policies and 
processes, where 
appropriate, 
to improve the 
efficiency of the 
organisational 
structure.

HR strategies, 
policies and 
processes 
that support 
an efficient 
organisational 
structure are 
implemented, 
monitored 
and regularly 
reviewed.

Revise the 
Recruitment & 
Selection Policy 
by January 
2011 to ensure 
an efficient 
organisational 
structure.

The Recruitment & Selection 
Policy was not revised due 
to pending amendments 
to employment legislation. 
Relevant HR policies will be 
revised as soon as amendments 
to employment legislation have 
been announced.
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Remuneration and 
Benefits
To ensure fair 
remuneration.

Ensure that 
salaries of staff 
members are 
commensurate 
with salaries 
in the heritage 
sector.

A revised 
Remuneration 
Strategy and 
Policy in place 
that will ensure 
that staff 
members are paid 
commensurate 
with their 
counterparts 
in the heritage 
sector.

Benchmark Iziko 
salaries with 
salaries in the 
heritage sector by 
September 2010.

Develop a 
remuneration 
strategy 
to improve 
salaries, where 
appropriate, and 
submit to Council 
for approval by 
March 2011.

Consult staff 
members 
on revised 
Conditions of 
Employment 
Policy by 
November 2010.

Iziko requested heritage 
institutions to provide salary 
information in order to 
benchmark Iziko salaries with 
counterparts in the heritage 
sector. A poor response 
was received. As DAC had 
requested salary information 
from the heritage sector, Iziko 
requested that DAC make the 
information available. However, 
DAC has since advised that the 
information will not be made 
available to the heritage sector. 
A remuneration strategy was 
therefore not developed.

The Conditions of Employment 
Policy will be revised as soon as 
the amendments to employment 
legislation have been published.    

Workplace 
Relations
To improve 
workplace 
relations.

Develop a 
strategy 
to improve 
workplace 
relations.

An effective 
strategy in 
place resulting 
in improved 
workplace 
relations 
monitored in 
terms of bi-annual 
climate and 
culture surveys 
and decrease in 
disciplinary action 
and grievances 
lodged.

Develop a 
strategy 
to improve 
workplace 
relations by 
March 2011.

Meetings with the leaders of the 
theme teams were scheduled, 
but only 4 of the 6 meetings 
could take place before the end 
of the reporting period. The 
outcome of the climate and 
culture survey was based on the 
views of employees, however, 
management has identified 
challenges, such as the number 
of dismissals in the reporting 
period, poor service delivery 
reported during a customer 
service survey, and others which 
have not been identified by 
staff members in the climate 
and culture survey. A strategy 
will be developed as soon as 
all stakeholders have been 
consulted.
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Health and 
Wellness
To improve health 
and wellness of 
staff members.

Revise the health 
and wellness 
programme 
to ensure the 
optimum health 
and wellness of 
staff members 
within the budget 
framework.

A strategy and 
programme 
in place that 
effectively 
address the 
health and 
wellness needs of 
staff members.

Conduct a survey 
in November 
2010 to establish 
health and 
wellness needs of 
staff members.

Develop an 
effective health 
and wellness 
programme for 
2010–2011 by 
March 2010.

Staff members were invited 
to advise HR on health and 
wellness interventions that 
should be included in the health 
and wellness programme. Few 
responses were received.

Staff members were invited 
to information sessions on 
diabetes. Staff members also 
had the opportunity to be tested 
for diabetes.

On National Aids Awareness Day, 
1 December, staff members were 
invited to workshops on HIV/
Aids and were also invited to be 
tested. Testing included pre- and 
post-counselling.  

Performance 
Management
To use 
performance 
evaluation as a 
management tool.

Performance 
evaluation 
conducted 
bi-annually 
in terms of 
agreed strategic 
objectives, 
reward excellence 
and address 
incapacity.

Effective 
performance 
management 
process in place.

Performance of 
staff members 
evaluated in April 
2010. Excellent 
performance 
rewarded 
annually in 
October.

Performance 
evaluated in 
October in 
terms of agreed 
performance 
objectives.

The Performance Appraisal 
Committee awarded 
performance bonuses to 43 staff 
members. The process to award 
salary progression was reviewed 
to include factors such as years’ 
service, competency, etc.

24 staff members received 
salary notch progressions.

Performance awards for Senior 
Managers were finalised in the 
last quarter.

Learning and 
Development
To grow the human 
resources of Iziko. 

A learning and 
development 
programme in 
place to address 
competency 
deficit.

A learning and 
development 
programme 
developed in 
terms of a bi-
annual skills audit 
to adequately 
capacitate staff is 
implemented with 
specific focus 
on leadership 
development.

Implement a 
learning and 
development 
programme in 
April to address 
competency 
deficit, where 
appropriate. 
Specific focus 
in the reporting 
period is on 
leadership 
development. 

The 2010–2011 learning and 
development programme offered 
377 development opportunities 
to staff members.

See Table 11, page 97
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Learning and 
Development 
contd.

A training 
programme 
for CSM staff 
members in place. 

A training 
programme 
implemented for 
CSM staff with 
specific focus on 
the 2010 FIFA 
Soccer World Cup.

Provide customer 
care and security 
training prior to 
2010 FIFA Soccer 
World Cup that 
commences in 
June 2010.

The following training was 
provided to CSM staff members 
prior to the 2010 FIFA Soccer 
World Cup:
• Customer care training.
• Security: grades E & D training.

Staff members who were 
appointed temporarily during 
the 2010 FIFA Soccer World 
Cup were also provided with 
customer care and security 
training which would stand them 
in good stead when applying for 
positions when their contracts 
with Iziko expire.

Effective 
internship 
opportunities 
offered that build 
skills and enhance 
employment 
opportunities.

Guidelines for 
internships 
developed.

Guidelines for 
internships 
developed by 
March 2011.

The following changes to 
internships occurred during the 
period:
• 2 interns from DST are  
 continuing in-house training in  
 the NHC department; the other  
 2 interns in this programme  
 have left to accept work offers.
• The intern from CPUT who  
 received experiential training in  
 the IA department left to take  
 up a contract position.
• An Art graduate from Rhode  
 Island University, New York,  
 received training in the AC  
 department.
• 7 interns from CPUT concluded  
 their experiential training in  
 environmental management  
 in the EPP department in  
 December.
• 1 intern from Walter Sisulu  
 University did experiential  
 training for a degree in Tourism  
 Management for the period  
 November 2010 to February 2011.

Guidelines for internships will be 
finalised in the next reporting 
period.
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Employment 
Equity
To follow the 
principles of 
employment equity 
in working towards 
a demographically 
equitable 
organisation.

Revise the 
employment 
equity strategy 
and plan to 
ensure that 
the workforce 
profile becomes 
aligned with the 
Western Cape 
demographic 
profile.

Revised 
employment 
equity strategy 
and plan in place.

Employment 
Equity 
Consultative 
Forum (EECF) in 
consultation with 
staff members, 
to conduct an 
EE analysis in 
September 2010.

EE strategy 
and plan to be 
developed by 
March 2011.

The EECF conducted an analysis 
in September 2011.

The EE strategy and plan have 
been developed.

Staff members 
from designated 
groups included 
in the Iziko career 
pathing and/ 
or succession 
planning 
programme and 
development fast-
tracked, where 
appropriate.

Career planning/ 
or succession 
planning 
programme 
developed and 
implemented in 
March 2011 to 
include measures 
to fast-track 
staff members 
from designated 
groups, where 
appropriate.

Some staff members from 
designated groups are being 
developed in order to be ready 
for appointment to the next 
level, subject to the approved 
recruitment and selection 
processes. The career pathing 
and succession plan that will be 
developed when the HR Director 
is appointed will include career 
pathing and succession planning 
for designated groups.

Strategy in 
place to retain 
employees from 
designated 
groups. 
Effectiveness 
of strategy 
monitored in 
terms of exit 
interviews of 
designated staff 
members.

Strategy 
developed and 
implemented by 
March 2011.

A strategy to retain the services 
of employees from designated 
groups will be developed in the 
new financial year, following 
appointment of the HR Director. 
The post was vacant during the 
period under review.

Communication
To improve internal 
communication.

An internal 
communication 
strategy 
developed and 
implemented.

Communication 
plan implemented 
in line with 
strategy.

Three-year 
internal 
communication 
strategy 
formalised by 
December 2010. 
Strategy and 
implementation 
plan for 2011–2012 
approved by 
March 2011.

The internal strategy and 
plan were not completed due 
to priortisation of website 
development. However, 12 
Iziko e-news publications were 
produced to improve internal 
communication. The strategy 
and plan should be finalised 
by HR and IA in the next fiscal 
period, after consultation with 
staff.

A strategy to 
improve the 
Iziko Intranet 
developed and 
implemented.

Strategy to 
develop Intranet 
implemented. 
Intranet 
relaunched.

Intranet 
development 
strategy in place 
by 15 September 
2010, re-launched 
by March 2011.

Not achieved due to budget 
constraints.
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Strategic Focus:  Governance and Financial Sustainability

Objective: To operate with financial and organisational efficiency  

Programme 6:  operational Efficiency and Effectiveness

KEy objEctIvE outPut PErformAncE 
InDIcAtor

2010/11 tArGEt 
mIlEstonE

PErformAncE AGAInst 
tArGEt

Compliance with 
Legislation 
Ensure compliance 
with the 
Public Finance 
Management 
Act (PFMA) and 
National Treasury’s 
Framework 
for Managing 
Programme 
Performance 
Information.

A strategic 
plan aligned 
to the policy 
on managing 
programme 
performance 
information.

Iziko strategic 
plan drafted and 
approved on 
schedule.

A draft strategic 
plan for 2011–2014 
and materiality 
framework 
submitted by 
deadline.

A draft Strategic Plan 2011–2014 
was submitted to DAC on  
1 October 2010.

An annual 
report, reflecting 
achievements in 
terms of strategic 
objectives.

Unqualified 
audit report on 
performance 
(financial and 
non-financial).

Performance 
information 
reported and 
submitted to A-G 
Office by 31 May 
2010.

Performance information was 
submitted to A-G Office on 31 
May 2010 and an unqualified 
audit report was received.

A consolidated, 
approved budget 
aligned to the 
strategic plan.

Programmes 
implemented in 
accordance with 
the approved year 
plan and budget.

Consolidated 
annual budget 
for 2010–2011 
presented and 
approved by 
Council by 
January 2011.

The budget was approved by 
the accounting authority. The 
revised consolidated budget 
for 2010–2011 was approved by 
Council in February 2011.

Quarterly and 
annual reports 
submitted to 
the accounting 
and executive 
authorities.

Quarterly reports 
presented to 
Council, DAC and 
National Treasury, 
in compliance 
with PFMA.

Annual Report 
presented to 
Council, DAC, 
National Treasury 
and A-G, in 
compliance with 
PFMA.

Quarterly reports 
presented to 
Council, DAC and 
National Treasury, 
in compliance 
with PFMA.

Annual Report 
presented to 
Council, DAC, 
National Treasury, 
and A-G, in 
compliance with 
PFMA.

Relevant quarterly reports for 
the period under review were 
submitted to Council, DAC and 
National Treasury. They included 
the following: 
• Financial report
• Report on compliance to the  
 PFMA
• Progress report on the  
 Strategic Plan
• Audit outcomes 2010

The Estimates of National 
Expenditure for the period 2011–
2014 was submitted to National 
Treasury and DAC.

The 2009/2010 Annual Report 
was presented to the accounting 
authority, DAC, National 
Treasury and A-G, in compliance 
with PFMA. This was tabled in 
Parliament by the Minister.
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Compliance with 
Legislation contd.

Compliance in 
terms of the 
implementation 
of Generally 
Recognised 
Accounting 
Practice (GRAP) 
standards.

All GRAP 
standards 
implemented as 
these become 
effective.

Submit quarterly 
report to Exco 
in July, October 
and January 
regarding 
compliance in 
terms of the 
implementation of 
GRAP standards 
that have become 
effective.

No new GRAP standards have 
become effective since April 
2010.

Financial 
Management
Improved 
organisational 
compliance with 
financial policies 
and procedures.

An approved 
Financial Manual 
in place.

A Financial 
Manual drafted 
and presented to 
Exco for approval 
and implemented 
by staff.

Consolidated 
Financial Manual 
presented to Exco 
for approval by 
December 2010.

Review of current financial 
procedures is underway. The 
draft was completed, but was 
not tabled to Exco for approval 
due to delays in the review 
process. This was caused by 
the fact that the positions 
of the SCM Coordinator and 
Bookkeeper were vacant. 
These HR constraints had a 
negative impact on the ability 
of the department to complete 
the output in the projected 
timeframe.

Provide an 
effective 
and efficient 
procurement and 
asset management 
service.

Effective 
procurement 
procedures 
developed and 
implemented.

Effective 
procurement 
procedures 
developed and 
implemented.

Procurement 
procedures 
developed by 
November 2010.

Draft procedures developed, but 
were not tabled for approval. 
The delay was caused by 
the fact that the positions 
of the SCM Coordinator and 
Bookkeeper were vacant. 
These HR constraints had a 
negative impact on the ability 
of the department to complete 
the output in the projected 
timeframe.

An effective asset 
management 
system in place.

Effective asset 
management 
procedures 
developed.

Effective asset 
management 
procedures 
developed by 
November 2010.

Quarterly asset 
verification 
conducted and 
report submitted 
to CFO in October 
2010 and January 
2011.

The asset management 
system is in place. A new 
asset management system 
was acquired, installed and is 
operational.
 
No asset verification was done, 
but inventory/stock verification 
was undertaken in November 
2010 and March 2011. This was 
caused by HR constraints in 
the department. The positions 
of the SCM Coordinator and 
Bookkeeper were vacant and 
this had a negative impact on 
the ability of the department 
to complete the output in the 
projected timeframe. 
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Risk Management
Ensure that there 
is an effective 
risk management 
strategy in place 
that addresses all 
risks to realise the 
objectives of Iziko.

A risk 
management 
strategy and risk 
reduction plan in 
place.

The risk register 
in place and 
reduction 
strategy 
developed. 

Risk register used 
as a tool for risk 
management.

Senior Managers 
to report in 
October 2010 and 
January 2011 on 
the management 
of risks related to 
departments.

All departments reviewed 
departmental risks in June 2010.

The risk register was reviewed 
and updated by Exco in January 
2011.

Ensure that 
organisational 
development risks 
are minimised.

Regularly review 
organisational 
development 
risks and put 
policies, systems 
and processes in 
place to reduce 
risks and update 
risk register 
accordingly.

Organisational 
development risks 
are managed 
effectively and 
risk register 
updated.

Review 
organisational 
development 
risks and update 
risk register in 
September 2010, 
remove from 
register risks that 
are managed 
effectively.

A Risk Management Policy was 
approved by Council in March 
2011.

The risk register was reviewed 
and updated in February 2011. 
Well managed risks were 
removed. Through this process, 
the number of risks on the 
register was lowered from 79 in 
the previous year (2009/2010), 
to 30 in the 2010/2011 year.

Disaster 
Management
Ensure 
preparedness of all 
staff members to 
prevent and deal 
with calamities 
that may befall our 
sites and operating 
systems.

An approved 
disaster 
management plan 
in place.

A Disaster 
Management 
Plan and Policy 
developed and 
presented to 
Council for 
approval.

Develop a 
Disaster 
Management 
Policy by June 
2010.

A disaster 
management plan 
for all Iziko sites 
drafted by August 
2010.

Final draft 
of disaster 
management 
plan submitted 
for approval by 
Council by March 
2011.

The Disaster Management Policy 
was approved by Council in June 
2010.

The disaster management plan 
was approved by Council in 
March 2011.

Site-specific 
disaster 
management 
procedures in 
place. 

Disaster 
management 
procedures 
developed for all 
Iziko sites.

Disaster 
management 
procedures 
implemented at 
all sites by June 
2010.

CSM staff 
members trained 
by June 2010.

Staff from other 
departments 
trained by 
September 2010.

Emergency evacuation 
procedures were developed for 
all sites and CSM staff members 
received training on these 
procedures.

Emergency evacuation 
procedures were tested at all 
sites, involving staff from all 
departments.
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Disaster 
Management 
contd.

Emergency 
drills carried 
out to monitor 
preparedness for 
disasters.

Schedule for 
emergency drills 
developed and 
implemented for 
each site.

Schedule for 
emergency drills 
for each site 
developed by 
August 2010.

A schedule for emergency drills 
was developed by August 2010.

Effective health 
and safety as 
well as security 
procedures in 
place.

Effective health 
and safety as 
well as security 
procedures, based 
on approved 
Health and Safety 
Policy, developed 
and implemented 
for sites and 
specialised 
workspaces.

Health and safety 
procedures 
developed by 
October 2010.

Security 
procedures 
developed 
for sites, in 
consultation with 
Site Managers, by 
October 2010.

Various health, safety and 
security procedures have been 
developed and incorporated 
in the following procedure 
documents:
• Health and safety procedures
• Security procedures 

The Health and 
Safety Committee 
carries out 
provisions of the 
OH&S Act.

Guidelines for 
OH&S Committee 
developed by 
August 2010.

Guidelines for the OH&S 
Committee were finalised.

Records 
Management
Effective 
systems for the 
management 
of Iziko records 
(archival and 
administrative) 
implemented.

A Council-
approved Records 
Management 
Policy in place.

Policy and 
procedures 
on records 
management 
drafted for 
Council approval.

Archival Policy 
developed by 
June 2010.

An Archival Policy was drafted, 
but not presented to Council 
for approval due to a policy 
development initiative driven by 
DAC.

Refer to 3.04, page 24.

Environmental 
Sustainability
Ensure that 
practices 
at Iziko are 
environmentally 
friendly and 
sustainable.

Develop 
guidelines and 
procedures 
for minimising 
negative 
impact on the 
environment.

Guidelines and 
procedures in 
place and targets 
set for minimising 
negative impact 
on environment; 
increased 
awareness among 
staff members 
and visitors.

Guidelines drafted 
by September 
2010. Steps 
put in place to 
minimise negative 
impact on the 
environment.

Draft guidelines were completed. 
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Fundraising 
Strategy
Raise funds from 
external sources to 
supplement DAC 
subsidy.

A short- to 
medium-term 
fundraising 
strategy and 
implementation 
plan developed 
and rolled out.

A fundraising 
strategy and plan 
developed and 
implemented.

Fundraising 
strategy in place; 
plan implemented 
by March 2011. 
Funds to be raised 
according to 
targets set.

A draft strategy was presented 
to Council on 11 February 2011. 
This strategy, however, needs 
further revision to be informed 
by the new Strategic Plan 
2011–2016 and as such will only 
be finalised during 2011/2012.

NLDTF have responded formally 
to grant application #42009 for 
R13 million for the digitisation 
of the Planetarium, stating that 
they will review this once the 
2010 funding grant #38560 has 
been closed.  
 
The first financial report for 
grant #38560 was collated for 
the period ending 30 November.

Donor Relationship 
Development
Ensure the 
continuity of donor 
support.

Develop and 
implement a 
donor relationship 
strategy.

Donor 
relationship 
strategy in 
place; database 
of donors 
established and 
relationships 
sustained.

Create a database 
of donors; 
acknowledge 
donor support in 
innovative ways.

The compilation of a database 
of existing and potential donors 
was completed.

Income Generation
Maximise revenue 
generated from all 
income streams in 
terms of guidelines.

Control measures 
in place to reduce 
possible loss of 
income from 
entrance fees.

Revised control 
measures in place 
by August 2010.

Revise control 
measures 
in light of 
investigation into 
misappropriation 
of funds.

11 staff members were dismissed 
for misappropriation of Iziko 
funds. Staff members charged 
adults an entrance fee, recorded 
the transactions as ‘Children 
Under 16 Free’ or ‘Friends of 
the SA National Gallery’ and 
pocketed the entrance fees. 
Only 3 staff members referred 
a dispute for arbitration. CCMA 
awards for all 3 cases were in 
favour of Iziko.

Financial control measures 
have been revised and strict 
control measures have been 
implemented.

Increased revenue 
through hire of 
venues; lease of 
retail outlets and 
development of 
Iziko-branded 
restaurant and 
retail spaces.

Develop strategy 
and guidelines for 
Iziko venue hire.

Guidelines 
developed by 
September 
2010. Strategy 
developed by 
March 2011.

Guidelines for all Iziko venue 
hire spaces were revised by 
September 2010. A strategy 
was not completed due to 
operational challenges and due 
to a need to further clarify how 
to resource this function more 
effectively. 

Total income generated: 
R273,316
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Income Generation 
contd.

Lease agreements 
in place for all 
Iziko hospitality 
and retail outlets.

Rental income 
increased in 
line with lease 
agreements.

Total income generated: 
R545,504

Partnerships
Build and 
sustain effective 
relationships with 
partners.

Partnership 
management 
strategy 
developed and 
implemented.

Conduct an audit 
of partnerships 
and implement 
a strategy 
to manage 
partnerships.

Partnership 
strategy 
developed.  
Database of 
partnerships 
established and 
maintained.

The database of existing 
partners has been compiled and 
is being refined.

The partnership (and 
stakeholder) relationship 
management strategy will be 
finalised in the next reporting 
period, pending key inter-
departmental discussions that 
are required to inform this.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Date:  31 July 2011

CHAIRMAN OF COUNCIL 

Date:  31 July 2011
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El Anatsui. Ink Spill (detail), 2009. Aluminium bottle tops and copper wire. Included in the In Context exhibition, SA National Gallery. © Goodman Gallery.
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rEPort of tHE AuDIt commIttEE 
for tHE fInAncIAl yEAr EnDED 
31 mArcH 2011

We are pleased to present the Audit Committee Report 

for Iziko Museums of Cape Town for the financial year 

ended 31 March 2011.

Audit Committee Members and 
Attendance
The Audit Committee of the new Council, appointed by 

the Minister of Arts and Culture in July 2010, consists of 

one non-executive member of Council, two independent 

Audit Committee members of which one is a Chartered 

Accountant (SA). The new Committee had its first 

meeting on 11 February 2011. 

The Audit Committee met four times during the year to 

31 March 2011. The sittings of the Audit Committee for 

the period 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011 were as follows:

Previous Audit committee

name of member    number of meetings Attended

       year to 31 march 2011   

Adv. DJ Mitchell   1

(Chairman)      

Prof RH du Pré    2   

Ms B Daries     -    

 

current Audit committee 

name of member     number of meetings Attended

        year to 31 march 2011  

 

Mr AP Wakaba   2

(Chairman)    

Mr MR Hassim   2

Ms LAK Robinson   1

In addition, the Audit Committee was represented in 

discussions with the Auditor-General in planning and 

reviewing the 2011 audit.

Audit Committee Responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with 

its responsibilities arising from sections 51(1)(a)(ii) and 

76(4)(d) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 

(Act No. 1 of 1999) and Treasury Regulation 27.

The Audit Committee further reports that it reviewed 

and reaffirmed the audit committee charter during 

the year, has regulated its affairs in compliance with 

this charter, and has discharged its responsibilities as 

contained therein.

Internal Audit
The Internal Audit Function has substantially fulfilled its 

responsibilities as set out in the Internal Audit Charter. 

A risk-based three-year and rolling one-year internal 

audit plan was considered and adopted by the Audit 

Committee, as required by Treasury Regulation 27.2.7.

Internal Control
Internal control is the system of controls and directives 

that are designed to provide cost effective assurance 

that assets are safeguarded, that liabilities and 

working capital are efficiently managed, and that the 

organisation fulfils its mandate, in compliance with 

all relevant statutory and governance duties and 

requirements.

The Audit Committee notes from the Auditor-General’s 

management report and Audit Report on the Annual 

Financial Statements that no significant or material 

noncompliance with prescribed policies and procedures 

has been reported, except that the preference point 

system was not applied in all procurement of goods and 

services above R30,000 as required by section 2(a) of the 

Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 2000 (Act 

No. 5 of 2000). The Audit Committee is accordingly able 

to report that the system of internal control for the year 

under review was effective and efficient. The committee 

notes that management is addressing the preference point 

system that was not applied in all procurement of goods 

and services above R30,000 as required by section 2(a) of 

the Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act.

Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure 
The Audit Committee has noted that there was no 

fruitless and wasteful expenditure during the year. 

Donor Funding
The Audit Committee is pleased to report that 

expenditure relating to project grants and donor funds 

was tested and reviewed during the year, and that 

management is to be complimented on the manner in 

which these funds were managed and controlled.

Reporting on Predetermined Objectives
The Auditor-General has audited Iziko’s performance 

against selected strategic objectives,  reviewing the 

manner in which the outcomes and achievements 

relating to performance are measured and reported. 

There were no material findings.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
The Audit Committee has:

• reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial  

 statements included in the annual report with the  

 Auditor-General and with the Chief Executive Officer  

 on behalf of the Council which is Iziko’s accounting  

 authority;

• reviewed the Auditor-General’s management report  

 and management’s response;

• reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices,  

 as applicable; and

• reviewed and endorsed any adjustment that resulted  

 from the audit.

The Audit Committee accordingly concurs with and 

supports the Auditor-General’s conclusion on the annual 

financial statements, and is of the opinion that the 

audited annual financial statements can be accepted 

and read together with the Auditor-General’s report.

Mr AP Wakaba

Chairman of the Audit Committee

31 July 2011
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rEPort of tHE AuDItor-GEnErAl 
to PArlIAmEnt on tHE 
IZIKo musEums of cAPE toWn

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Introduction

1. I have audited the accompanying financial  

 statements of the Iziko Museums of Cape Town  

 (IZIKO), which comprise the statement of financial  

 position as at 31 March 2011, and the statement  

 of financial performance, statement of changes  

 in net assets and cash flow statement for the year  

 then ended, and a summary of significant accounting  

 policies and other explanatory information, as set  

 out on pages 49 to 85. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the 

financial statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the  

 preparation and fair presentation of these financial  

 statements in accordance with South African  

 Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting  

 Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the  

 requirements of the Public Finance Management Act  

 of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and  

 for such internal control as management determines  

 necessary to enable the preparation of financial  

 statements that are free from material  

 misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility

3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the  

 Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996)  

 and section 4 of the Public Audit Act of South Africa,  

 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility  

 is to express an opinion on these financial  

 statements based on my audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with  

 International Standards on Auditing and General  

 Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Government Gazette  

 33872 of 15 December 2010. Those standards  

 require that I comply with ethical requirements and  

 plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable  

 assurance about whether the financial statements  

 are free from material misstatement.

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain  

 audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures  

 in the financial statements. The procedures selected  

 depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the  

 assessment of the risks of material misstatement  

 of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or  

 error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor  

 considers internal control relevant to the entity’s  

 preparation and fair presentation of the financial  

 statements in order to design audit procedures that  

 are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the  

 purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness  

 of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes  

 evaluating the appropriateness of accounting  

 policies used and the reasonableness of accounting  

 estimates made by management, as well as  

 evaluating the overall presentation of the financial  

 statements. 

6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is  

 sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my  

 audit opinion.

opinion

7. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly,  

 in all material respects, the financial position of the  

 Iziko Museums of Cape Town as at 31 March 2011, and  

 its financial performance and cash flows for the year  

 then ended in accordance with SA Standards of  

 GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.

Additional matter

8. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is  

 not modified in respect of this matter:

unaudited supplementary schedules

9. The public entity provided supplementary information  

 in the financial statements on whether resources  

 were obtained and used according to the legally  

 adopted budget, in accordance with GRAP 1:  

 Presentation of financial statements. The  

 supplementary budget information set out on page  

 84 does not form part of the financial statements  

 and is presented as additional information.  

 Accordingly, I do not express an opinion thereon.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY MATTERS
10. In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General  

 Notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette  

 33872 of 15 December 2010, I include below my  

 findings on the annual performance report as set out  

 on pages 10 to 37 and material non-compliance with  

 laws and regulations applicable to the public entity.

Predetermined objectives

11. There are no material findings on the annual  

 performance report.

compliance with laws and regulations

Procurement and contract management

12. The preference point system was not applied in  

 all procurement of goods and services above  

 R30 000 as required by section 2(a) of the  

 Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act,  

 2000 (Act No. 5 of 2000).

Expenditure management

13. The accounting authority did not take effective and  

 appropriate steps to prevent irregular expenditure,  

 as per the requirements of section 51(1)(b) of the  

 PFMA.

INTERNAL CONTROL
14. In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General  

 Notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette  

 33872 of 15 December 2010, I considered internal  

 control relevant to my audit, but not for the purpose  

 of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of  

 internal control. The matters reported below are  

 limited to the significant deficiencies that resulted in  

 the findings on compliance with laws and regulations  

 included in this report.

leadership

15. The accounting authority has not exercised  

 oversight responsibility over reporting and  

 compliance with laws and regulations and internal  

 control as it relates to supply chain management  

 regulations. This has resulted in irregular  

 expenditure relating to non-compliance with the  

 Preferential Procurement Regulations.

Cape Town

31 July 2011
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stAtEmEnt of rEsPonsIbIlIty

The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 

1999), as amended, requires the Council to ensure that 

Iziko Museums of Cape Town (Iziko) keeps full and proper 

records of its financial affairs. The annual financial 

statements should fairly present the state of affairs 

of Iziko, its financial results, its performance against 

predetermined objectives and its financial position at the 

end of the year in terms of the prescribed Standards of 

Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP).

The annual financial statements are the responsibility of 

the Council. The Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA) 

is responsible for independently auditing and reporting 

on the financial statements. The AGSA has audited 

Iziko’s financial statements and the Auditor-General’s 

report appears on page 42.

The financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the prescribed Standards of Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) including 

any interpretation of such Statements issued by the 

Accounting Standards Board. These annual financial 

statements are based on appropriate accounting 

policies, supported by reasonable and prudent 

judgements and estimates.

The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow 

forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2011. On the 

basis of the review, and in view of the current financial 

position, the Council has every reason to believe that 

Iziko will be a going concern in the year ahead, and has 

continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 

the financial statements.

The Council sets standards to enable management to 

meet the above responsibilities by implementing systems 

of internal control and risk management, where possible, 

that are designed to provide reasonable, but not 

absolute assurance against material misstatements and 

losses. The entity maintains internal financial controls to 

provide assurance regarding:

• The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or 

 disposition, and

• The maintenance of proper accounting records and the 

 reliability of financial information used within Iziko or  

 for publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and 

actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are 

identified. Even an effective system of internal control, 

no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, 

including the possibility of circumvention or the 

overriding of controls. An effective system of internal 

control, therefore, aims to provide reasonable assurance 

with respect to the reliability of financial information 

and the presentation of financial statements. However, 

because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of 

internal financial controls may vary over time.

The Council has reviewed Iziko’s systems of internal 

control and risk management for the period from  

1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011. The Council is of the 

opinion that Iziko’s systems of internal control and risk 

management were effective for the period under review. 

In the opinion of the Council, based on the information 

available to date, the annual financial statements fairly 

present the financial position of Iziko at 31 March 2011  

and the results of its operations and cash flow 

information for the year, and that the Code of Corporate 

Practices and Conduct has been adhered to.

The annual financial statements for the year ended  

31 March 2011, set out on pages 49 to 85, were submitted 

for auditing on 31 May 2011 and approved by the 

Council in terms of section 51(1)(f) of the Public Finance 

Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended, 

and are signed on its behalf by:

_________________

Adv. Brenda Madumise

Chairman of Council 

_________________

Ms R Omar

Chief Executive Officer

AccountInG AutHorIty’s rEPort 
for tHE yEAr EnDED 
31 mArcH 2011

Report by the Council to the Executive Authority, 

Minister of Arts and Culture, and Parliament of the 

Republic of South Africa.

1. General Review of the State 
 of Financial Affairs
Iziko’s results for the year show satisfactory progress 

despite the adverse economic climate. Cash and cash 

equivalents have decreased by 15% from R37,792,579 

to R32,082,691. This decrease is due mainly to 

the fact that funds have been spent on major 

capital works projects aimed at improving Iziko’s 

infrastructure and communication capability, in line 

with its Strategic Plan.

Iziko received most of its funding through a subsidy 

allocation from the government, i.e. the national 

Department of Arts and Culture (DAC). During the 

year under review, Iziko’s total revenue increased by 

7% from R63,637,083 to R67,984,088.

The subsidy allocation from DAC increased by 5% 

from R48,392,000 to R50,779,000 for the year. The 

subsidy represents 75% of total income, while 14% of 

income was derived from donor funding, and 11% of 

the total income was own income generated through 

entrance fees, venue hire, rental of premises and 

professional museum services.

Iziko’s operating expenditure increased by 10% 

from R68,131,739 to R74,622,418. External funding 

was received from national government agencies, 

research foundations, corporate business, and 

private individual donors to fund certain operating 

expenditure, such as core function activities.

The increase in the deficit is as a result of the increase 

in the cost of the provision for the liability of the Post 

Retirement Employee Benefits, an inherited system of 

the five national museums prior to the amalgamation 

of Iziko Museums. In line with previous trends, it is 

expected that these costs will increase on an annual 

basis.

Despite the increase in the deficit, Iziko’s financial 

circumstances remain stable. While Iziko has received 

limited funding for its operations over the last 

few years, it has practiced good governance with 

regard to management of its funds; observing the 

requirements of its donors; as well as compliance 

with the Public Finance Management Act and 

National Treasury regulations, where applicable.

While a great deal of work still lies ahead to 

improve the bottom line and meet the targets set 

in the Strategic Plan, the results for the year show 

progress, and management remains committed to 

achieving its strategic objectives.

2. Services Rendered by Iziko
2.1 List of Services Rendered
Iziko’s core business is to manage and promote 

its unique combination of South Africa’s heritage 

collections, sites and services for the benefit of 

present and future generations. The services 

rendered by Iziko, in these areas, among others, 

are: Exhibitions, Education and Public Programmes, 

Collections Management (including loans to 

other institutions), Development of Collections, 

Conservation, Research, Curatorial Services and 

Publication (both popular and scientific).

 

The three Collections departments offer, in 

collaboration with the Education and Public 

Programmes department, exhibitions that meet the 

diverse needs of education and life-long learning. The 

selection of exhibitions gives priority to correcting 

the imbalances of the past in the representation of 

art and social history, thus contributing to nation 

building, social cohesion and transformation.

In addition to Iziko’s core business, services such as 

venue hire, outsourcing of coffee shops, museum 

retail shops and professional museum services are 

rendered.  
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2.2 Tariff Policy
Tariffs are charged for entrance fees, rental of 

premises, venue hire, photographic services and 

professional museum services. Tariffs are negotiated  

at the outset of entering into a service agreement.  

Iziko reviews tariffs on an annual basis.

3. Capacity Constraints
During the year under review, Executive Management 

continued the implementation of the re-aligned 

organisational structure, to effectively and efficiently 

deliver the objectives of the Strategic Plan. Due to 

insufficient funding, Iziko is not able to grow its human 

capital to its full potential and is unable to employ 

the necessary staff required to fulfil its core function 

activities to the maximum potential. An increase in 

the number of younger staff in key areas would allow 

for the transfer of skills, capacity development and 

succession planning. Executive Management continued 

to evaluate the efficiency of the re-aligned structure 

and to maximise opportunities to diversify our 

demographic profile.

4. Utilisation of Donor Funds
Donor funds amounting to R9,278,379 during the year 

under review were received from national government 

agencies, research foundations, corporate business, 

and private individual donors. The funds are earmarked 

and utilised for specific projects, such as acquisitions, 

exhibitions, conservation, research and education that 

have a lifespan of two to three years. These projects 

form an integral part of the museum’s core function 

activities, and contributed significantly to Iziko’s 

success. During the year, Iziko received funding of 

R3,732,467 from the NLDTF for educational, heritage 

and research projects.

5.  Public Entity
Iziko is listed as a schedule 3A national public entity in 

terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act 

No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999) and is 

governed by the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 

119 of 1998). Iziko operates under the jurisdiction of the 

Council. The national Department of Arts and Culture is 

the controlling entity.

Business address:   Postal address:
25 Queen Victoria Street  PO Box 61
Cape Town   Cape Town
8001     8000

6. Jurisdiction
Iziko resides and is effectively managed in South Africa. 

The controlling entity is the national Department of 

Arts and Culture.

7. New/proposed Activities
The professional staff in the Art, Natural History, and 

Social History Collections departments are skilled in 

museum practice and in specialised areas of historical 

and scientific knowledge. They are well placed to 

transfer their skills, but Iziko needs funding to support 

trainee positions from previously disadvantaged 

communities, in line with its employment equity strategy.

The major Department of Public Works refurbishment of 

the former National Mutual Building on Church Square 

to house the Iziko Social History Centre was completed 

during the year under review. The Social History Centre, 

which brings together the formerly separate African and 

colonial collections, will become an important resource 

for the heritage sector and the public.

Major projects for the next three to five years include 

the upgrade of security systems at all Iziko museums, 

the installation of a Fibre Optic Network, a capital 

works project to develop the courtyard at the Iziko 

SA Museum, the continued development of the Slave 

Lodge as a museum that focuses on both slavery and 

human rights, the proposed development of a Centre 

for Contemporary Art in Cape Town, and the proposed 

development of the Iziko Maritime Museum. Iziko 

Museums upgraded its services at all its sites during 

the 2010 FIFA Soccer World Cup event in South Africa. 

Special Iziko projects for the 2010 World Cup event 

included an exhibition on the Kaapse klopse Carnival 

at the Iziko Bo-Kaap Museum and the Castle; a visual 

presentation at the Iziko SA Museum showing how 

Table Mountain was formed; art exhibitions inspired 

by soccer; education programmes that focused on the 

culture of sport; and a Mobile Museum programme 

celebrating soccer and science.

8. Approval
The annual financial statements set out on pages 49 to 

85 have been approved by the Council.

_________________

Adv. Brenda Madumise

Chairman of Council

_________________

Ms R Omar

Chief Executive Officer
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corPorAtE GovErnAncE

Governance of the institution was streamlined through the operation of a system of committees of Council 

corresponding to three main functional areas: Core Functions, Institutional Advancement, and Operations. In 

addition, an independent Audit Committee continued to offer professional advice on financial matters.

During the year under review, the internal audit unit, under the direction of an Internal Auditor, continued with the 

mandate of carrying out an effective internal audit of Iziko’s internal controls as informed by the relevant policies, 

systems and operating procedures.

The Council recognises that good governance and compliance practices are crucial for the sustained development 

of Iziko, and is committed to instilling good governance and compliance processes in all its operations going 

forward.

Risk Management 
The Risk Management Committee comprises the Senior Management Team. The Executive Director Operations, 

Denise Crous, was appointed as the Chief Risk Officer in the reporting period.

Risk Management is included in the performance objectives of the members of the Risk Management Committee. 

Potential risks in their areas of responsibility are identified, and risks mitigated as a matter of priority. The Risk 

Register is updated in terms of the change in status of risks.

The Risk Management Policy was developed, and after a consultation process it was approved by the Council. The 

Chief Risk Officer also developed the Disaster Management Plan, and after a consultation process the Plan was 

approved by the Council. Disaster management procedures are being developed and updated in line with the 

Disaster Management Plan.

Materiality and Significance Framework for 2010/2011 Financial Year
In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulation 28.1.5, the Council has developed and agreed to a 

framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance.

stAtEmEnt of fInAncIAl PosItIon At 31 mArcH 2011

Restated

Notes 2011 2010

R R

ASSETS

Non-current assets 12,279,699 5,824,101

Property, plant and equipment 2 11,941,050 5,440,142

Intangible assets 3 338,649 383,959

Current assets 33,347,133 43,878,906

Inventories 4 195,839 161,493

Trade and other receivables 5 1,068,603 5,924,834

Cash and cash equivalents 6 32,082,691 37,792,579

Total assets 45,626,832 49,703,007

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities 36,722,575 32,431,640

Deferred income 9 420,850 382,620

Provisions 8 8,139 7,654

Provision: post-employee benefits 8 36,293,586 32,041,366

Current liabilities 6,923,263 8,393,271

Trade and other payables 7 6,081,563 6,747,091

Deferred income 9 841,700 1,646,180

Total liabilities 43,645,837 40,824,911

NET ASSETS  1,980,994  8,878,096 

Accumulated (deficit)/surplus (2,698,052) 8,875,900

Accumulated reserve - projects 4,676,850  - 

Trust funds 2,196 2,196

Total net assets 45,626,832 49,703,007
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stAtEmEnt of fInAncIAl PErformAncE 
for tHE yEAr EnDED 31 mArcH 2011

Restated

Notes 2011 2010

R R

REVENUE 67,984,088 63,637,083

Government grant: DAC 50,779,000 48,392,000

Sponsorship 9,278,379 5,257,517

Cash donations 87,738 77,203

Interest received 2,364,802 3,315,778

Admission fees 3,427,791 3,183,365

Rental income 851,762 896,354

Other income 1,194,616 2,514,866

  

EXPENSES   74,622,418 68,131,739

Personnel 48,744,606 46,126,522

Administrative 3,181,606 3,807,413

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 1,761,292 1,291,940

Other operating expenses 20,934,914 16,905,864

NET (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 10  (6,638,330)  (4,494,656) 

stAtEmEnt of cHAnGEs In nEt AssEts 
for tHE yEAr EnDED 31 mArcH 2011

Notes Accumulated 

Reserve: 

Projects

Accumulated 

Deficit 

Restated

Trust Fund Total Net 

Assets and 

Reserves

R R R R

  

    

Balance at 1 April 2009 -    13,380,734 2,196  13,382,930 

Prior year adjustment 18 -    (10,178)   (10,178) 

Deficit for the year   (4,494,656) -  (4,494,656) 

    

Balance at 31 March 2010 -  8,875,900  2,196  8,878,096 

    

Balance at 1 April 2010 restated  6,132,103  2,743,797  2,196  8,878,096 

Prior year adjustment 18 -    (258,772)   (258,772) 

Less: Transfer to general reserve   (4,676,850)   

Deficit for the year  (1,455,253)  (5,192,207) -  (6,647,460) 

    

Balance at 31 March 2011  4,676,850  (7,384,032)  2,196  1,971,864 
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cAsH floW stAtEmEnt for tHE yEAr EnDED 31 mArcH 2011

Restated

Notes 2011 2010

R R

Cash flows from operating activities

      

Cash utilised in operations 11  142,201   (6,815,140)  

Cash receipts from customers and donors  69,709,268   55,008,043  

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (69,567,067)   (61,823,183)  

    

Interest received  2,364,802   3,315,778  

      

Net cash outflow from operating activities 2,507,003 (3,499,362)

Cash flows from investing activities

  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (8,166,599) (2,779,926)

Purchase of intangible assets (50,292) (84,858)

  

Net cash flows from investing activities (8,216,891) (2,864,784)

  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,709,888) (6,364,146)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 37,792,579 44,156,725

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 32,082,691 37,792,579

notEs to tHE AnnuAl fInAncIAl stAtEmEnts for tHE yEAr EnDInG  
31 mArcH 2011

1.  Presentation of Annual Financial Statements
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 

Accounting Standards Board.

These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with 

historical cost convention, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied, is disclosed below.

The accounting policies applied are consistent with the previous period. 

The following standards of GRAP are not yet effective, but may have an effect on future periods:

GRAP 18 Segment Reporting

GRAP 25 Employee Benefits

The following standards of GRAP are effective, but have not yet been adopted:

GRAP 24 Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements

GRAP 103 Heritage Assets

1.1 Significant Judgements and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the amounts presented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and 

the application of judgement are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ 

from these estimates, which may be material to the annual financial statements. Significant judgements include:

trade receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether 

an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the entity makes judgements as to whether there is 

observation indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

fair value Estimation

The carrying value, less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables, is assumed to approximate their 

fair value.

Post-retirement benefits

The present value of the post-retirement obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an 

actuarial value, using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) include 

the discount rate. Changes in these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of post-retirement obligations.
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Allowance for Doubtful Debts

On debtors, an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is 

impaired. Such impairment is measured as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present 

values of estimated future flows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition.

1.2 Going Concern Assumption
The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2011. On the basis of 

the review, and in view of the current financial position, the Council has every reason to believe that Iziko will be 

a going concern in the year ahead, and has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 

statements.

1.3 Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use 

in production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be 

used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and,

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring 

the asset to its location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management. Trade discount rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment, and costs 

incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying 

amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which it is located 

is also included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, 

and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than the production 

of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 

the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, except 

for land and buildings which are carried at revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any 

subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is credited directly to a revaluation surplus. 

The increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same 

asset previously recognised in surplus or deficit.

Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised in surplus or deficit in the 

current year. The decrease is debited directly to a revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance existing in 

the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly 

to retained earnings when the asset is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to the 

estimated residual value.

Vehicles, furniture and equipment are depreciated over a period of between one to nine years on a straight-line 

basis over their estimated useful lives to the current value of their expected residual values. 

The fibre optic network is depreciated over a period 20 years on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life to 

the current value of its expected residual value. 

The residual value, and the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period, and where the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a 

change in accounting estimates.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of 

the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit, unless it is included in the carrying 

amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of, or when there are no 

further benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or 

deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 

and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount 

of the item.

1.4 Heritage Assets
Heritage assets are assets that have a cultural, environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological or 

artistic significance, and are held indefinitely for the benefit of present and future generations. In line with 

similar organisations, the value of collections (heritage assets) has not been recognised in the Statement of 

Financial Position.
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When heritage assets are required to be recognised as assets in terms of GRAP 103:

• they shall be measured at cost; or,

• where a heritage asset is acquired at no or nominal consideration, its cost shall be measured at its fair value as at  

 the date of acquisition.

Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially 

from that which would be determined using fair value at the reporting date.

A heritage asset shall not be depreciated, but the entity shall assess at each reporting date whether there is an 

indication that it may be impaired.

Heritage assets shall be derecognised when the asset is retired or disposed of, or when there are no further 

economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising from the 

disposal of a heritage asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying value, and 

recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

1.5 Intangible Assets
An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:

• is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged either  

 individually or together with a related contract, asset or liability; or,

• arises from contractual rights or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or  

 separated from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset  

 flow to the entity; and,

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Where an intangible asset is acquired at no nominal cost, the 

cost shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets are carried at cost, less any accumulated 

amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation is charged over a period of between one to nine years on a 

straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 

for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Amortisation is provided to reduce the value of the 

intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, to their residual values. 

1.6 Financial Instruments
classification

The entity classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Loans and receivables; and

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument.

The entity classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a 

financial liability or an equity instrument, in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not 

determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments that are not at fair value through surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included in the 

initial measurement of the instrument.

subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 

accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 

method.

Impairment of financial Assets

At each end of the reporting period the entity assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through 

surplus or deficit, to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 

assets have been impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, and probability that the debtor will 

enter bankruptcy and default on payments, are all considered indicators of impairment.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in 

surplus or deficit with the operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the 

relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating 

expenses.

trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost under the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts 

are recognised in surplus or when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial 

difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 

delinquency in payments, are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised 

is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying and the present value of estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the deficit 

is recognised in surplus or deficit with operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off 

against an allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 

credited against operating expenses in surplus or deficit.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.
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trade and other Payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 

effective interest rate method.

cash and cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash, and are subject to an insignificant risk of 

changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.7 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease 

is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

finance leases – lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position at amounts equal to the 

fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 

liability to the lessor is included in the Statement of Financial Position as a finance lease obligation.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. 

The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on 

the remaining period of the liability.

operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 

between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments is recognised as an operating lease 

asset or liability.

1.8 Inventories
Inventories are initially measured at cost, and except where inventories are acquired at no cost, or for nominal 

consideration, their costs are their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories consisting of consumable stores and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost realisable value 

on a first-in, first-out basis. Redundant and slow moving inventories are identified and written down through the 

Statement of Financial Performance.

1.9 Employee Benefits 
short-term Employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as 

paid leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care) are recognised in the period in 

which services are rendered, and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense, as the employees render services that 

increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 

contractual obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution Plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to state plan retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as a defined contribution benefit, where the 

entity’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Defined benefit Plans

For defined benefit plans, the cost of providing the benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method.

Separate actuarial valuations, by independent actuaries, are conducted every three (3) years for the Museums 

Pension Fund, and on an annual basis for the medical aid benefit fund.

Consideration is given to any event that could impact the funds up to the end of the reporting period where the 

interim valuation is performed at an earlier date.

Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and are otherwise 

amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period until the amended benefits become vested.

To the extent that, at the beginning of the financial period, any cumulative unrecognised actuarial gain or loss 

exceeds ten percent of the greater of the present value of the projected benefit obligation and the fair value of 

the plan assets (the corridor), that portion is recognised in surplus or deficit over the expected average remaining 

service lives of the participating employee. Actuarial gains or losses within the corridor are not recognised.  

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised when the entity is 

demonstrably committed to curtailment or settlement.

When it is virtually certain that another party will reimburse some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 

defined benefit obligation, the right to reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset. The asset is measured at 

fair value. In all other respects, the asset is treated in the same way as plan assets. In surplus or deficit, the expense 

relating to a defined benefit plan is presented as the net of the amount recognised for a reimbursement.

The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position represents the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and unrecognised past service costs, and reduces by 

the fair value of the plan assets.

Any asset is limited to unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs, plus the present value of available 

refunds and reduction in future contributions to plan.
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Post-employment medical benefit

The entitlement to post-retirement healthcare benefits is based on the employee remaining a contributing member 

of the medical aid schemes and remaining in the service up to retirement age. 

Post-employment healthcare benefits are based on the following subsidy policy:

• An employee who joined the medical aid scheme before 1 October 2004 contributed one third (1/3) of the total  

 healthcare contribution, and Iziko the balance.

• An employee who joined Iziko from 1 October 2004 would, after retirement, pay 100% of the total healthcare  

 contribution.

The assets are generally held in separate trustee-administered medical aid funds.  

Valuation of these obligations is carried out by independent, qualified actuaries. Key assumptions concerning the 

future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the Statement of Financial Position date are used for the 

post-employment benefits liability, as per the actuarial valuation disclosed in note 15. The amount accrued for post-

retirement medical benefits is included within the non-current provisions.

The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using the projected unit credit 

method. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience, adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 

charged to the Statement of Financial Performance in full in the current period.

1.10 Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to  

 settle the obligation; and,

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 

obligation at the reporting date.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 

the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if 

the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. That amount recognised for the 

reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 16.

1.11 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those 

inflows represent an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liability extinguished, and 

gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in 

exchange.

Fair value is the amount by which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing 

parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Revenue from exchange transactions refers to revenue that accrued to the entity directly in return for services 

rendered and goods sold, the value of which approximates the consideration received or receivable. The full amount 

of the revenue is recognised and any impairment losses are subsequently recognised.

measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts. 

sale of Goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all of the following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership and  

 effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and,

• the cost incurred, or to be incurred in respect of the transaction, can be measured reliably.

rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 

with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. 

The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and,

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest and rental Income

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest and rental income is recognised when:

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;  

 and,

• the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method.

Revenue from rental of facilities and equipment is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance 

of the agreements.

1.12 Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions
Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity, 

which represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.
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Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 

embodied in the asset are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or 

service potential must be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives, 

and can regulate the access of others to that benefit.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an 

entity receives value from, or gives value to, another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in 

exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset 

may be used, but do not specify that future economic benefits or service potential is required to be returned to the 

transferor if not deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or regulation, or a binding arrangement imposed upon the use 

of a transferred asset by entities external to the reporting entity.

recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction, recognised as an asset, is recognised as revenue, except to 

the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation, recognised as a liability, in respect of an inflow of resources from a 

non-exchange transaction, recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised, and 

recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by 

the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue 

equivalent to the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also 

required to recognise a liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised, it will be measured as the best 

estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net 

assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently reduced because the taxable event occurs or a 

condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.13 Comparative Figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.14 Irregular, Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure
Irregular expenditure is expenditure other that unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of, or that is 

not in accordance with, a requirement of any applicable legislation, including the Public Finance Management Act, 

1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), or any regulations made in terms of this Act.

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 

been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the Statement of 

Financial Performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance 

with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the Statement 

of Financial Performance.

1.15 Budget Information
Entities are typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or 

equivalent), while given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar.              

General purpose financial reporting by entities shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and 

used in accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The annual financial statement and the budget are not on the same basis of accounting, therefore, a reconciliation 

between the Statement of Financial Performance and the budget have been included in the annual financial 

statements. Refer to note 19.

1.16 Taxation
Iziko is exempt from taxation in terms of the provision of Section 10(1) (cA) (i) of the Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act No. 

58 of 1962) as amended.
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2. Property, Plant and Equipment
2011

R R R R R R

Furniture Vehicles Equipment Computers Fibre Optic 

Network

TOTAL

Gross carrying amount at 
beginning of year

1,495,616 232,555 5,083,764 5,238,946 870,745 12,921,626 

Accumulated depreciation 
at beginning of year

(901,253) (197,424) (3,075,858) (3,306,949) - (7,481,484) 

Net carrying amount at 
beginning of year

594,363 35,131 2,007,906 1,931,997  870,745 5,440,142 

Movement during the year

Acquisitions 437,945 - 2,257,948 800,631 4,670,075 8,166,599

Disposals - - - - - -

Accumulated depreciation 
on disposals

- - - - - -

Depreciation expensed for 
the year

(271,080) (29,069) (665,812) (491,949) (207,781) (1,665,691) 

Net carrying amount at  
end of year

761,228 6,062 3,600,042 2,240,679  5,333,039 11,941,050 

Gross carrying amount at 
end of year

1,933,561 232,555 7,341,712 6,039,577 5,540,820 21,088,225 

Accumulated depreciation  
at end of year

(1,172,333) (226,493) (3,741,670) (3,798,898) (207,781) (9,147,175) 

Property, plant and equipment includes historical assets at nil or R1 values, which are fully depreciated but still in use.

2010

R R R R R R

Furniture Vehicles Equipment Computers Capital Work 

in Progress *

TOTAL

Gross carrying amount at 
beginning of year

986,707 232,555  4,352,146 4,570,292 - 10,141,700 

Accumulated depreciation  
at beginning of year

(683,438) (168,355) (2,558,815) (2,860,971) - (6,271,579) 

Net carrying amount at 
beginning of year

303,269 64,200 1,793,331 1,709,321 - 3,870,121 

Movement during the year

Acquisitions 508,909 - 731,618 668,654  870,745 2,779,926 

Disposals - - - - - -

Accumulated depreciation 
on disposals

- - - - - -

Depreciation expensed for 
the year

(217,815) (29,069) (517,043) (445,978) - (1,209,905) 

Net carrying amount at  
end of year

594,363 35,131 2,007,906 1,931, 997  870,745 5,440,142 

Gross carrying amount at 
end of year

1,495,616 232,555 5,083,764 5,238,946 870,745 12,921,626 

Accumulated depreciation  
at end of year

(901,253) (197,424) (3,075,858) (3,306,949) - (7,481,484) 

* The Capital Work in Progress refers to a fibre optic network under construction, and the stated amount represents the stage of completion at year-end. 
The project is expected to be completed within the year ended 31 March 2011.

3. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets comprise of computer software purchased.

2011 2010

R R

Carrying amount at beginning of year 383,958 381,135

Cost 749,564 664,706

Accumulated amortisation (365,606) (283,571)

Current year movement

Additions 50,292 84,858

Disposals - -

Re-estimation - -

Accumulated amortisation on disposals - -

Accumulated amortisation on re-estimated assets - -

Amortisation expense for the year (95,601) (82,035)

Carrying amount at end of year 338,649 383,958

Cost 799,856 749,564

Accumulated amortisation (461,207) (365,606)

No intangible assets were internally generated during the year under review.

4. Inventories

2011 2010

R R

Consumables 90,245 106,855 

Finished Goods 105,594 54,638 

195,839 161,493 
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5. Trade and Other Receivables

Restated

2011 2010

R R

Other receivables 756,542 5,548,555

Trade debtors 312,061 376,279

1,068,603 5,924,834

Reconciliation of the provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

Balance at beginning of the year 26,433 218,929

Provision for impairment raised (reversed) 12,091 (192,496)

Balance at end of year 38,524 26,433

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents
2011 2010

R R

Bank balances 31,945,928 36,178,734

Cash on hand 136,763 1,613,845

32,082,691 37,792,579

Credit ratings of banks

ABSA  F1

Standard Bank F1

Investec  F1

7. Trade and Other Payables

2011 2010

R R

Deferred lease liability - 9,027

Rent deposits 47,546 40,973

Leave pay 1,426,035 1,359,158

Annual bonus 903,815 869,553

Trade creditors and accruals 3,704,167 4,468,380

6,081,563 6,747,091

8. Provisions
Employee benefits

Post-employment Pension benefit 

2011 2010

R R

Balance at beginning of year 7,654 203,684

Increase/(decrease) in provision 485  (196,030)

Balance at end of year 8,139 7,654

The provision for post-employment pension benefit represents Iziko’s liability towards the unfunded actuarial 

liabilities for the defined pension and provident fund covering all participating employees.

According to the April 2009 valuation reports, no shortfall exists in respect of accrued liabilities and a funding level 

of 100% certifies that the Museums Pension Fund is currently in a financially sound position. The valuation results 

for the Museums Provident Fund as at 1 April 2009 shows that a shortfall of approximately R8,139 exists in respect 

of accrued liabilities, and a funding level of 94.7% certifies that the Museums Provident Fund is currently not in a 

financially sound position. The provision was raised for Iziko’s liability towards the defined provident fund benefits 

covering all participating employees.

Post-employment medical benefit

2011 2010

R R

Balance at beginning of year 32,041,366 27,230,318

Increase in provision 4,252,220 4,811,048

Balance at end of year 36,293,586 32,041,366

The provision was raised for Iziko’s liability towards future post-employment medical benefits covering all 

participating employees and retirees.
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9. Deferred Income
Deferred income consists of funds received for specific projects on condition that any unspent funds are returned 

to the transferor. A liability is recognised for advance receipts until the event that makes the transfer arrangement 

binding occurs and all other conditions under the agreement are fulfilled. When that event occurs and all other 

conditions under the agreement are fulfilled, the liability is discharged and revenue is recognised. The liability is 

measured at the amount required to settle the obligation.

2011

Projects per department

Number of 

projects

 Total deferred 

income 

 To be utilised 

within one year

 To be utilised in Year 2 

and thereafter

R R R

Natural History Collections 6 109,910 73,273 36,637

Social History Collections 2 383,149 255,433 127,716

Education and Public Programmes 5 462,495 308,330 154,165

Institutional Advancement 1 306,996 204,664 102,332

Total 1,262,550 841,700 420,850

2010

Projects per department

Number of 

projects

 Total deferred 

income 

 To be utilised 

within one year

 To be utilised in Year 2 

and thereafter

 R R R

Natural History Collections 9 355,899 355,899 -

Social History Collections 2 691,284  426,410   264,874 

Art Collections 1   83,370  83,370 -

Education and Public Programmes 6  898,247  780,501  117,746 

Total  2,028,800 1,646,180 382,620 

Funding received for various educational, heritage and research projects from the National Lotteries Distribution 

Trust Fund for the year amounted to R3,732,467.

10. Net Deficit for the Year
Net deficit has been arrived at after charging:

2011

Restated 

2010

R R

Personnel expenses 48,744,606 46,126,522 

Salaries and benefits 44,491,901 41,511,504 

Provision for post-employment benefits 4,252,705 4,615,018 

Audit fees 895,882 862,996 

Bank and legal costs 205,947 261,630 

Consultants 696,255 998,901 

Depreciation 1,665,691 1,209,905 

Amortisation: intangible assets 95,601 82,035 

Operating leases 1,212,485 764,587 

Insurance       277,555 327,729 

Provision for doubtful debts 12,091 37,196 

Licenses and networking fees 209,220 258,996 

Library costs 334,266 373,724 

Museum core function activities 12,200,838 8,736,494 

Other operating expenses 8,071,981 8,091,024 

74,622,418 68,131,739 

11. Cash Utilised in Operations
Restated

2011 2010

R R

Net deficit for the year (6,638,330) (4,494,656)

Adjustments:

Depreciation on property, plant & equipment 1,665,691 1,209,905

Amortisation on intangible assets 95,601 82,035

Interest received  (2,364,802) (3,315,778)

Operating deficit before working capital changes (7,241,840) (6,518,494)

Working capital changes 7,642,813 (296,646)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other receivables 4,856,232 (5,285,021) 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (34,346) 292 

Decrease in deferred income (766,250) (28,240)

Increase in trade and other payables 3,587,177 5,016,323

Prior period adjustment (258,772) -

Cash generated/(utilised) in operations 142,201 (6,815,140)
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12. Risk Management
financial risk management

Financial instruments carried on the Statement of Financial Position consist of trade and other payables, cash and 

cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. The main risks arising from the financial instruments are credit 

and interest risks.

12.1 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is managed by keeping sufficient cash available for funding through an adequate amount of 

committed credit facilities, and the ability to move funds from short-term financial instruments. Iziko manages 

liquidity risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and optimises its cash return on investments. The Council is 

of the opinion that the net carrying value of the financial instruments approximate their fair value and that Iziko 

has sufficient cash available to settle its financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities 

2011 2010

R R

Trade and other payables 6,081,563 6,747,091

maturity Analysis

The table below analyses Iziko’s financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the reporting date, to the 

contractual maturity date.

 

Restated

2011 2010

R R

Trade payables 598,925 862,114

Accruals 1,184,767 1,741,665

Other payables 4,297,871 4,143,312

6,081,563 6,747,091

12.2 Interest Rate Risk
The Council is not locked into long-term interest rates because cash and cash equivalents consist of short-term 

investments held at registered banks with high credit ratings. Interest rate exposure is therefore low on Iziko’s bank 

accounts. These deposits attract interest at rates linked directly to the prime overdraft rate.

sensitivity Analysis: cash and cash Equivalents

The following tables illustrate the impact of a 1% increase and decrease in the interest rate on the statement of 

financial performance:

Restated

Financial assets Classification 2011 2010

R R

External investments

Call deposits Available for sale 31,945,928 36,178,734

Bank balances and cash on hand Available for sale 136,763 1,613,845

32,082,691 37,792,579

Interest received

Interest earned – External investments 2,364,802 3,315,778

Interest rate 7% 9%

Effect of a change in interest rate on interest earned from external investments

Effect of change in interest rate 1% decrease 6% 8%

Effect of change in interest rate Rand value 1,924,074 3,023,333

Effect of change in interest rate 1% increase 8% 10%

Effect of change in interest rate Rand value 2,565,432 3,779,916
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12.3 Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk
financial Assets

Restated

2011 2010

R R

Cash and cash equivalents 32,082,691 37,792,579

Trade and other receivables 1,093,147 5,924,834

trade and other Payables

2011 2010

R R

Deferred lease liability - 9,027

Rent deposits 47,546 40,973

Leave pay 1,426,035 1,359,158

Annual bonus 903,815 869,553

Trade creditors and accruals 3,704,167 4,468,380

6,081,563 6,747,091

12.4 Credit Risk
cash and cash Equivalents

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Council to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and 

cash equivalents, as well as trade and other receivables. Iziko’s exposure to credit risk is insignificant. Credit risk is 

mitigated by the fact that Iziko only deposits and invests funds with registered banking institutions.

Accounts and other receivables

The maximum exposure to credit risks at the reporting date is the fair value of trade and other receivables, as 

disclosed in note 5. The amount presented in the Statement of Financial Position is net of provision for doubtful 

debts, which is estimated based on prior experience and current economic conditions.

Debtors arise from rental of facilities and professional services rendered. Management is of the opinion that these 

debts are fully recoverable.

12.5 Currency and Other Price Risk
Iziko is not exposed to currency and other price risks.

fair value of financial Instruments

At year-end the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, other payables, deferred 

income and provisions approximated their fair value due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. 

financial Assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line item below:

Restated

2011 2010

R R

Trade and other receivables 1,068,603 5,924,834

Cash and cash equivalents 32,082,691 37,792,579

33,151,294 43,717,413

trade and other receivables Past Due but not Impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. 

At 31 March 2011, R33,520 (2010: R4,315) were past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

Current 243,606 345,530

1 month past due 21,342 2,889

2 months past due 1,095 939

3 months past due 11,083 487

277,126 349,845

At year-end the carrying amounts of the financial assets approximate their fair values due to the short-term 

maturities of these assets.

financial liabilities by category   

Restated

2011 2010

R R

Trade payables 598,925 862,114

Accruals 1,184,767 1,741,665

Other payables 4,297,871 4,143,312

6,081,563 6,747,091
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13. Operating Leases
Iziko museums as lessor

Operating leases relate to restaurants and retail spaces in buildings occupied by Iziko Museums with lease terms 

of between 2 to 5 years, with an option to renew. All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in 

the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The property rental income earned under operating leases 

amounted to R566,542 (2010: R477,916).                                                                                     

Amounts receivable under operating leases

At the reporting date, the following minimum lease payments were receivable under non-cancellable operating 

leases for property, plant and equipment, which are receivable as follows:

2011 2010

R R

Up to 1 year 489,002 406,298

2 to 5 years 1,912,719 -

More than 5 years - -

2,401,721 406,298

   

The following restrictions have, inter alia, been imposed by Iziko Museums in terms of the lease agreements:

i. The lessee shall not have the right to sub-let, cede or assign the whole or any portion of the premises let.

ii. The lessor or its duly authorised agent or representative shall have the right at all reasonable times to inspect  

the premises let.

iii. The lessee shall use the premises let for the sole purpose prescribed in the agreement.

No contingent rental income was recognised as revenue in the reporting period.

Iziko museums as lessee

The operating leases relate to rentals charged for vehicles, berthing fees, photocopiers, and VoIP telephone 

system, with lease terms of between 2 to 5 years, with an option to extend. All operating lease contracts contain 

market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. Payments under operating leases 

amounted to R1,212,485 (2010: R764,587).

Amounts Payable under operating leases

At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments are as follows:

2011 2010

R R

Up to 1 year    1,347,484 678,036

2 to 5 years 3,666,720 3,007,332

More than 5 years            -           -

  5,014,204 3,685,368

The following restrictions have, inter alia, been imposed in terms of the lease agreements:   

i. The lessee shall not have the right to sublet, cede or assign the whole or any portion of the property, vehicles 

or equipment let.

ii. The lessor or its duly authorised agent or representative shall have the right, at all reasonable times, to inspect 

the property, vehicles or equipment let.

iii. The lessee shall use the property, vehicles or equipment for the sole purpose prescribed in the agreement.

No contingent rent expenses were recognised in the reporting period.

14. Emoluments of Council and Committee Members and 
 Senior Management

Members of Council   

2011 2010

R R

E Links (Chairman) - 7,488

R Du Pré - 1,950

S Jeppie - 3,231

P Madiba - 3,900

D Mitchell - 8,310

S Prosalendis - 7,800

C Rassool 6,125 5,145

MB Madumise (Chairman) 4,356 -

O Badsha 1,750 -

S Fikeni 5,570 -

M Martin 5,025 -

M Sithole 2,400 -

A Wakaba 3,275 -

28,501 37,824

Members of Audit Committee    

2011 2010

R R

D Mitchell (Chairman) 1,875 4,483

R Du Pré 1,000 2,000

L Robinson 1,000 -

M Hassim 2,766 -

A Wakaba (Chairman) 3,909 -

10,550  6,483
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senior management

2011

Job function
Total cost to 

company

Prof  HC Bredekamp Chief Executive Officer (retired 31 October 2010)  1,020,003 

Ms RH Omar Chief Executive Officer Designate (1 May 2010 to 31 October 2010); 
Chief Executive Officer (from 1 November 2010)

845,371 

Vacant Executive Director Core Functions                  -

Mrs D Crous Executive Director Operations 889,051 

Mrs F Allie Chief Financial Officer  544,467 

Dr WD Alexander Director Education & Public Programmes 588,722 

Ms SL Glanville-Zini Director Institutional Advancement 569,588 

Ms JL Meltzer Director Social History Collections 589,891 

Mr R Naidoo Director Art Collections 599,127 

Dr HG Robertson Director Natural History Collections 738,795 

Mrs MG van der Merwe Director Customer Services Management 523,763 

Total  6,908,778 

2010

Job function
Total cost to 

company

Prof HC Bredekamp Chief Executive Officer 1,344,609

Dr PJ Davison Executive Director Core Functions (to 31 March 2010)     1,092,480

Mrs V Baduza Executive Director Operations (to 28 February 2010)       784,254

Mrs D Crous Executive Director Operations (from 1 March 2010)         63,724

Mrs F Allie Chief Financial Officer       552,698

Dr WD Alexander Director Education & Public Programmes (from 1 August 2009)       342,790

Mrs D Crous Director Human Resources (to 28 February 2010)      723,052

Ms SL Glanville-Zini Director Institutional Advancement      456,626

Ms JL Meltzer Director Social History Collections      524,683

Mr R Naidoo Director Art Collections (from 1 May 2009)      497,773

Dr HG Robertson Director Natural History Collections      612,888

Mrs MG van der Merwe Director Customer Services Management       491,009

Total 7,486,586

Remuneration is shown at cost to company package, based on basic salary, bonuses, allowances and employee 

benefit contributions by Iziko up to the Statement of Financial Position date. Employee benefit contributions consist 

of pension, medical aid and other regulatory contributions. Remuneration costs are charged to the Statement of 

Financial Performance in the year to which it relates.

15. Employee Benefits
Pension fund 

Iziko operates pension funds that provide benefits on both defined benefit and defined contribution plans for all 

indefinite employees. The Iziko Retirement Fund and Museums Pension Fund are administered on behalf of Iziko by 

pension fund administrators, and are governed by the Pensions Funds Act, 1956 (Act No. 24 of 1956) as amended, 

while the Associated Institutions Pensions Fund Act, 1963 (Act No. 41 of 1963) governs the Associated Institutions 

Pension Fund. An independent Board of Trustees manages each fund.

The Museums Pension Fund is a multi-employer plan. The actuarial valuation is done for the plan in its entirety and 

does not specify, as a separate entity, Iziko’s obligation, plan assets or liability in terms of the fund.

The Museums Pension Fund requires an actuarial valuation every three years. The defined benefit contribution plan 

fund was actuarially valued, using the projected unit credit method at 1 April 2011 and it revealed that the assets 

of the fund represented a funding position of 100% for the Museums Pension Fund, and 94.7% for the Museums 

Provident Fund. Any deficit advised by the actuaries is funded through increased contributions to ensure the 

ongoing soundness of the pension fund. At the time of the valuation, the actuary reported that he was satisfied that 

the results of the Museums Pension Fund fairly represent the current financial position of the fund. In view thereof, 

the result shows a funding level of 100% and he certified that the fund is currently in a financially sound position. 

The actuary also reported that he was satisfied that the current composition of the investments of the Museums 

Provident Fund can be considered reasonable for the purpose of matching its assets and liabilities.

The financial position of the fund as at 1 April 2009 compared to the financial position as at the previous valuation 

dates is listed in the table below. The next valuation will be conducted at 1 April 2012.

Museums Pension Fund 1 Apr 09 1 Apr 06 1 Apr 05 1 Apr 04

R R R R

Liabilities in respect of:

Defined contribution members 13,805,000 3,057,000 1,737,000 815,000

Defined benefit members

Retirement benefits 120,512,000 94,782,000 86,297,000 69,860,000

Withdrawal benefits 4,716,000 5,334,000 5,500,000 5,199,000

Death benefits 8,911,000 7,565,000 7,162,000 5,730,000

Current pensioners  65,946,000 38,229,000 28,125,000 23,755,000

Risk Reserve Account - - 130,000 -

Employer Surplus Account 21,669,000 14,280,000 - -

Surplus Apportionment Cost Reserve - 39,000 36,000 30,000

Total liability 235,559,000 163,286,000 128,987,000 105,389,000

Less value placed on assets 235,559,000 163,286,000 122,340,000 96,727,000

Shortfall in respect of accrued liabilities - - (6,647,000) (8,662,000)

Funding level 100.0% 100.0% 94.8% 91.8%
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Museums Provident Fund

1 Apr 09 1 Apr 06 1 Apr 05 1 Apr 04

R R R R

Liabilities in respect of:

Paid-up members 3,012,000 3,032,000 3,702,000 3,608,000

Current pensioners 1,316,000 1,051,000 488,000 478,000

Surplus Apportionment Cost Reserve - 39,000 33,000 30,000

Total liability 4,328,000 4,122,000 4,223,000 4,116,000

Less value placed on assets 4,098,000 3,844,000 3,981,000 3,727,000

Shortfall in respect of accrued liabilities (230,000) (278,000) (242,000) (389,000)

Funding level 94.7% 93.3% 94.3% 90.5%

The Museums Provident Fund funding level increased to 94.7%. The shortfall of R230,000 can be funded from the 

benefit fund assets. During the year under review, the provision was increased by R485 in the financial statements 

to increase Iziko’s liability towards the Museums Provident Fund to R8,139. 

The rules of the Museums Pension Fund were amended to include a defined contribution category and that no 

new members are allowed to join the defined benefit category with effect from 1 April 2003. All new employees 

appointed with effect from 1 April 2003 are required to join the defined contribution category, while the existing 

participating employees have remained members of the defined benefit category of the Museums Pension Fund at 

the existing contribution rate.

Assumptions
mortality

The published SA56-62 (ultimate) mortality rates have been used in respect of the period before retirement. In the 

case of female lives, ages have been reduced by 3 years to allow for their higher life expectancy. In respect of the 

period after retirement, the published PA90 tables, rated down 1 year for males and females, respectively, have 

been used. Provision for future improvement in mortality is also provided for at a rate of 1% per annum from  

1 April 2004.

valuation rate of Interest and General Inflation

A valuation rate of interest of 8.5% per annum (8.3% per annum at the previous actuarial valuation of the Fund) 

has been used in respect of the period before retirement, and 6.5% per annum in respect of the period after 

retirement of each member. The expected long-term general rate of inflation was assumed to be 4.5% per annum.

contribution rates

The following rates of contribution are applied:

Iziko retirement fund

Defined contribution category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual 

bonus) and the employer contributes 20.6%. In respect of all new employees appointed with effect from 1 July 2007 

who join the Iziko Retirement Funds: the employer contributes 15%, while the contribution for existing participating 

employees remains the same.

museums Pension fund

Defined benefit category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) and 

the employer contributes 20%. 

Defined contribution category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) 

and the employer contributes 15%. 

Associated Institutions Pension fund

Defined benefit category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary only) and the employer 

contributes 12%.

medical Aid 

Iziko operates a post-employment medical-benefit scheme that covers all employees that were appointed prior to  

1 October 2004.

The medical schemes are funded by payments from retirees and Iziko. Iziko’s contribution to the medical schemes is 

charged to the income statement in the year to which it relates.

The latest full valuation of Iziko’s liability in respect of post-employment medical benefits for the financial year-end 

was performed on 31 March 2011 and it will be valued at yearly intervals thereafter. The actuary forecast the expense 

for the year following the valuation date and the forecast position at the year-end following the valuation date, 

ignoring any gains or losses arising over the period. The liability was projected based on fifty (50) retirees and sixty-

three (63) employees participating as at 31 March 2011. The liability and future increases are charged to income.
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Amounts for the current and previous four periods are as follows:

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

R R R R R

Present value of funded obligations - - - - -

Fair value of plan assets - - - - -

- - - - -

Present value of unfunded obligations 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813

Present value of obligations in excess of 
plan assets 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813

Unrecognised transitional liability - - - - -

Unrecognised actuarial gains/(losses) - - - - -

Unrecognised past service cost - - - - -

Net liability in statement of financial 
position 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813

Opening balance 32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813 20,973,000

Current service cost 702,091 594,386 598,773 583,675 663,000

Interest cost 2,939,423 2,297,416 2,345,725 1,816,087 1,776,464

Expected return on plan assets - - - - -

Liability recognised - - - - -

Actuarial (gain)/loss 1,840,447 2,917,422 323,249 359,905 153,189

Past service cost - - - - -

Expected employer benefit payments (1,229,741) (998,176) (859,776) (693,134) (809,840)

36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,316 24,822,346 22,755,813

During the year under review, an additional provision of R4,252,220 was raised in the financial statements to 

increase Iziko’s future liability towards the post retirement employee medical benefit scheme to R36,293,586.

Key Assumptions used

The methodologies and assumptions used in this valuation have remained unchanged from those used in the 

previous valuation prepared by the Health Monitor Company.

A discount rate of 1.5% (2010: 1.5%) has been used to place a present value on future subsidy payments. The rate 

used is consistent with the R186 bond at the time of performing the valuation. This is consistent with IAS 19, which 

states that the discount rate used should reflect the yields on long-term government bonds.

The mortality assumptions used in the calculation of the liabilities are:

Pre-retirement
Male SA 85–90 (light) 

Female SA 85–90 (light) rated down by 3 years

Post-retirement
Male PA90 (m)

Female PA90 (f)

All employees are assumed to continue their medical scheme membership after retirement.

other Assumptions 

The valuation was based on the current subsidy levels specified in the data provided. 

We also assumed that no significant changes would occur in the structure of the medical arrangements. We have used 

the current subsidy scales for members as bases for the calculations, and have assumed that the scales will remain 

unchanged (apart for adjustments for inflation). If this is not the case, the results of this valuation will be affected.

sensitivity Analysis 

The results above are particularly sensitive to changes in the assumption regarding future increases in medical 

scheme contributions. This is illustrated in the tables below.

The following tables illustrate the impact of a 1% increase and decrease in the assumed future rate of medical 

inflation:

sensitivity Analysis – f2011 Accounting Entries:

Base Inflation + 1% % change Inflation -1% % change

Liability as at 1 April 2010 32,041 32,041 0.0% 32,041 0.0%

Settlements (1,229) (1,229) 0.0% (1,229) 0.0%

Current service costs 702 702 0.0% 702 0.0%

Interest cost 2,939 2,939 0.0% 2,939 0.0%

Actuarial (gain)/loss 1,840 7,303 296.8% (2,687) -246.0%

Liability as at 31 March 2011 36,293 41,756 15.1% 31,766 -12.5%

sensitivity analysis – f2012 Accounting Entries (projected):

Base Inflation + 1% % change Inflation - 1% % change

Liability as at 1 April 2011 36,294 41,756 15.1% 31,766 (12.5%)

Settlements (1,357) (1,361) 0.3% (1,354) (0.3%)

Current service costs 738 904 22.5% 610 (17.4%)

Interest cost 3,238 3,738 15.4% 2,825 (12.8%)

Actuarial (gain)/loss -  - 0.0% -  0.0%

Liability as at 31 March 2012 38,913 45,037 15.7% 33,847 -13%
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16. Contingent Liabilities
In July 2009, the Workmen’s Compensation Assurance (WCA) issued an assessment against the Iziko SA National 

Gallery amounting to R35,888. This amount is in respect of levies relating to the period December 2000 to 

February 2002 for the SA National Gallery prior to the amalgamation of Iziko. The outcome of this assessment is 

still uncertain and there is no obligation to pay WCA.

17. Related Parties
Department of Arts and culture 

The controlling entity of Iziko is the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC), which provided a subsidy grant for its 

operations. The entity also entered into transactions related to expense recoveries during the year under review. 

During the prior year, DAC also provided funding for special projects. The amounts involved in the transactions are 

as follows:

2011 2010

R R

Amount of transaction 

Subsidy grant 50,779,000 48,392,000

Expenses recovered         17,575 -

Bad debts recovered -      191,802

The subsidy grant will continue during the next three financial years.

West coast fossil Park trust

Iziko accepted the donation of the West Coast Fossil Park from Samancor Limited and agreed to the formation of 

the West Coast Fossil Park Trust (Trust). In the prior year, all income and expenditure of the Trust were recognised 

in the annual financial statements of Iziko. During the year under review, no transactions were entered into between 

the two parties.

The details of the transaction are as follows:

2011 2010

R R

Amount of transaction - 150

castle of Good Hope

The Iziko William Fehr Collection is housed at the Castle of Good Hope and there is an agreement that Iziko will 

receive one third (1/3) of the admission fees. The amounts involved in the transactions are as follows:

2011 2010

R R

Amount of transaction 742,585 753,649

robben Island museum 

During the prior year, the CEO of Iziko served as the interim CEO of Robben Island Museum for a period of six 

months. Iziko entered into transactions related to his remuneration, as well as certain expense recoveries.

Restated

2011 2010

R R

Amount of transaction 154,000 628,218

Outstanding balance at 31 March 2010 - 154,000

Department of Public Works

All buildings occupied by Iziko are owned by the Department of Public Works and have been occupied at no cost 

during the year. The lease of the buildings is open ended with no lease term.

18. Prior Period Errors
rental Income

Rental income relating to the prior year, previously disclosed as trade and other payables, has been brought into 

account. The deposit and two months’ rental paid by a tenant who occupied premises at the Iziko Museum shop has 

been transferred to the rental received account. During the prior year, the tenant refused to vacate the premises 

after her contract had come to an end. At the time, Iziko retained the two months’ rental as well as the deposit on 

the legal advice of our attorneys, and the amounts received were disclosed as trade and other payables. This rental 

income has now been brought into account because the tenant was evicted and the matter has now been resolved 

as far as Iziko is concerned. The tenant has not contacted Iziko since the 2009/2010 financial year. In addition, 

rental income amounting to R4,807 relating to the prior period, and received in the current year, was not accounted 

for in the 2009/2010 financial year.

net Effect on the statement of financial Position

2011 2010

R R

Increase in retained earnings 19,091 -

Decrease in trade and other payables 19,091 -

Payables: Deferred Income

Expenses from sponsorship funds not related to a project were erroneously included in project expense accounts. 

The net effect of these adjustments is as follows:

net Effect on the statement of financial Position

2011 2010

R    R

Increase in payables 278,720   10,178

Decrease in operating surplus 278,720 10,178
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operating lease Expense

Expenses from rental of equipment in respect of the prior year were erroneously excluded from the current 

operating lease expense account. The net effect of these adjustments is as follows:

net Effect on the statement of financial Performance

2011 2010

R R

Decrease in retained earnings 857 -

Increase in operating leases 857 -

19. Reconciliation of Budget and Statement of Financial Performance

2011

Net deficit per the statement of financial performance (6,638,330)

Adjusted for:

Fair value adjustments -

Impairments recognised/reversed -

Surplus/deficit on the sale of assets -

Increases/decreases in provisions

Increase in government grant -

Decrease in own income generated 4,928,999

Decrease in reserves employed 7,304,465

Decrease in expenditure (5,595,134)

Net surplus/deficit per approved budget -

Iziko Museums has not elected to disclose additional information based on the disclosure requirements 

contained in GRAP 24.

20. Irregular Expenditure
2011 2010

R R

Opening balance

Add: Irregular expenditure – current year

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification

Current year

Prior year

1,297,385

2,019,050

3,316,435

2,019,050

1,297,385

3,316,435

2,019,050

2,019,050

-

1,297,385

1,297,385

-

1,297,385

1,297,385

1,297,385

2,019,050

21. Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA)
section 55 (2)

No material losses through criminal conduct or fruitless or wasteful expenditure were incurred during the year. 

Irregular expenditure has been disclosed in note 20.

section 53 (3)

The Council may not accumulate surpluses unless prior written approval of the National Treasury has been 

obtained. Application was made to the National Treasury, via the Department of Arts and Culture, to be exempted 

from investing Iziko’s surplus funds with the Corporation for Public Deposits as prescribed in Treasury Regulation 

31. In terms of guidelines from the Treasury, the surplus arrears are to be related to accumulated surplus as per 

the Statement of Financial Position at the time of application. Iziko had an accumulated deficit, and approval was 

therefore not required.

section 54 (2)

In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulations 28.1.5, the Council has developed and agreed to a 

framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance.

22. World Cup Expenditure
Iziko Museums has not incurred expenditure relating to the purchase of World Cup tickets or World Cup branded 

clothing during the year ended 31 March 2010, or within the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

Expenditure incurred without applying the preference point system to 

all procurement of goods and services above R30,000 as required by 

section 2(a) of the Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 

2000 (Act No. 5 of 2000).
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3. HUMAN 
RESOURCE 
MANAGEMENT

Iziko EPP and CSM Abasebenzi Bayi Bambile mini-World Cup soccer teams, Iziko South African Museum amphitheatre, 8 July 2010.
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3.1 Expenditure
On 31 March 2011, there were 241 staff members in the employ of Iziko, comprising 182 staff members appointed 

indefinitely and 59 appointed on a fixed-term contract. The 59 staff members appointed on a fixed-term contract 

were appointed on short-term contracts.  The total number of employees included 16 staff members whose salaries 

were funded externally.

TABLE 1.  PERSONNEL COSTS FOR 2010-2011

totAl 
EXPEnDIturE

PErsonnEl 
EXPEnDIturE

trAInInG 
EXPEnDIturE

consultAncy 
sErvIcEs

PErsonnEl 
costs As 

% of totAl 
EXPEnDIturE

AvErAGE 
PErsonnEl 

cost PEr 
EmPloyEE

R74,622,418 * R44,491,901 R316,772 R696,255 59.62% R197,742

* This amount excludes the provision for post-employment benefits.

Average Personnel cost Per Employee

Compared to the previous financial year, the cost per employee increased due to an 8.8% salary increase. In terms 

of the performance management reward system, 24 staff members also advanced to a higher salary notch, and  

49 staff members received a once-off performance bonus.

training Expenditure

Every year Iziko spends 1% of the annual salary budget on learning and development. It must be noted that the 

percentage of the salary budget is calculated in terms of the Skills Development Levies Act (Act No. 9 of 1999) 

and not on the total personnel expenditure. Training expenditure is therefore less than 1% of the total personnel 

expenditure.

TABLE 2.  DETAILS OF THE 2010-2011 SALARY EXPENDITURE

SALARIES OVERTIME HOUSING SUBSIDY

Amount
Salaries as a 
% of personnel 
cost

Amount
Overtime as a 
% of personnel 
cost

Amount

Housing 
subsidy as a % 
of personnel 
cost

R29,435,626 66.16% R1,082,042 2.43% R493,684 1.11%

MEDICAL AID CONTRIBUTIONS 
(STAFF)

MEDICAL AID CONTRIBUTIONS 
(PENSIONERS)

PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS

Amount

Medical aid 
contributions 
(staff) as a % 
of personnel 
cost

Amount

Medical aid 
contributions 
(pensioners) 
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount

Pension 
contributions 
as a % of 
personnel cost

R2,355,191 5.29% R1,255,637 2.82% R5,273,386 11.85%

fIXED AlloWAncEs otHEr AlloWAncEs lEcturE fEEs

Amount

Fixed 
allowances as a 
% of personnel 
cost

Amount

Other 
allowances as a 
% of personnel 
cost

Amount
Lecture fees 
as a % of 
personnel cost

R757,927 1.70% R200,960 0.45% R24,660 0.06%

AnnuAl bonusEs oncE-off PErformAncE 
bonusEs

subsIstEncE & trAvEl

Amount

Annual 
bonuses as a 
% of personnel 
cost

Amount

Once-off 
performance 
bonuses as a 
% of personnel 
cost

Amount
Subsistence & 
travel as a % of 
personnel cost

R2,420,470 5.44% R549,633 1.24% R111,817 0.25%

stAtutory lEvIEs (uIf & WcA) lEAvE GrAtuItIEs on 
tErmInAtIon

totAl PErsonnEl 
EXPEnDIturE

Amount
Statutory 
levies as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount

Leave 
gratuities as a 
% of personnel 
cost

Amount Percentage

R310,484 0.70% R220,383 0.50% R44,491,901 100%

salaries

Salary expenditure increased from R27,487,541 to R29,435,626, mainly due to salary improvements and the 

appointment of new staff members. Council approved a salary increase of 8.8% for staff.

overtime

The overtime expenditure increased from R969,805 to R1,082,042 since the last reporting period, mainly due to the 

increase in salaries and additional overtime required during the 2010 FIFA Soccer World Cup.

A very small percentage of overtime is paid for overtime worked as a measure to meet unforeseen deadlines.

Most Iziko museums are open to the public over weekends and on public holidays, thus Customer Services 

Management (CSM) staff members are required to work on Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, which accounts 

for most of the overtime expenditure.

Iziko also generates a substantial income from venue hire. During these events, CSM staff members are required to 

perform security duties after working hours. This cost is also reflected in the overtime expenditure.

Housing subsidies

The amount spent on housing subsidies decreased from R545,692 to R493,684. This was due to staff members 

having paid off their bonds, and the services of some staff members being terminated. Staff members who joined 

Iziko before June 2005 receive a housing subsidy of R1,000 per month, while staff members who joined after June 

2005 receive a housing subsidy of R500 per month. The decrease in housing subsidies is therefore also due to the 

termination of service of staff members who had joined before June 2005 and who had received a higher housing 

subsidy. These staff members were replaced by new staff members who would receive a smaller housing subsidy 

if they applied for the optional housing subsidy. Not many new staff members applied for a housing subsidy in the 

reporting period.

medical Aid contributions (staff)

Medical aid contributions increased from R2,156,118 to R2,355,191, largely due to the increase in medical aid fees and 

additional staff members availing themselves of this optional benefit.
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medical Aid contributions (pensioners)

Medical aid contributions increased from R1,013,391 to R1,225,637 due to the increase in medical aid fees, but also 

due to four staff members eligible for a post-retirement benefit retiring in the reporting period, thereby increasing 

the number of pensioners who are members of a medical aid.

New staff members appointed after 1 October 2004 no longer have the benefit of post-retirement medical aid.

Pension contributions

Pension contributions increased from R5,043,203 to R5,273,386. Pension contributions are based on pensionable 

salary, so when salaries increase, the pension contributions also increase. In addition, some indefinite appointments 

were made to positions that had previously been filled temporarily by staff members on fixed-term contracts 

without benefits.

fixed Allowances

The amount spent on fixed allowances increased from R723,754 to R757,927, which is less than the annual increase 

of 8.8% due to a Director position being vacant throughout the reporting period. Directors also receive a car and 

cellular phone allowance.

other Allowances for Additional Work

Once-off allowances were paid to staff members who took on additional duties when positions were vacant for a few 

months. This expenditure decreased from R214,107 to R200,960.

lecture fees

Lecture fees decreased from R25,920 to R24,660 due to a more junior lecturer being used for a month.

Annual bonus

Annual bonuses are linked to the salaries of staff members who are appointed indefinitely, as well as staff members 

on long-term contracts, so the bonus expenditure increased when salaries increased. This expenditure increased 

from R2,330,233 to R2,420,470.

once-off Performance bonuses

Staff members received a once-off performance bonus if they performed excellently (in the top 10% of their group) 

and above average (in the next 20% of their group).

A once-off performance bonus equal to 75% (for excellent ratings) or 50% (for above-average ratings) of one 

month’s salary was awarded. The number of staff members who received a once-off performance bonus increased 

from 23 to 49, as many newly appointed staff members in the previous reporting year had not been appraised for 

a full twelve-month period and were therefore not eligible. These staff members became eligible in this reporting 

period. This, combined with the annual salary increase that is linked to the once-off performance bonuses, 

accounted for the increase from R532,164 to R549,633.

subsistence and travel

This amount decreased from R145,560 to R111,817. However, this figure does not include costs of staff members travelling to 

other institutions for research purposes as these amounts are covered by external funding, such as research grants.

statutory levies

UIF and WCA levies are directly related to salaries as these levies are calculated as a percentage of salary. This 

accounts for the increase from R288,907 to R310,484.  

leave Gratuities

The value of leave is based on the salary of the staff member. Leave gratuities paid to staff whose services 

terminated decreased from R224,907 to R220,383. Although the services of more staff members were terminated, 

many were from the lower paid grades, with correspondingly smaller leave payments.

3.2 Employment and Vacancies
Appointments and vacancies

Eighteen staff members were appointed indefinitely or on a long-term fixed-term contract with benefits in the 

reporting period. This included the appointment of the new Chief Executive Officer (as CEO Designate from May 

2010, and as CEO with effect from 1 November 2010). At the end of March 2010, advertisements were placed for 

eight positions, and 13 positions were advertised in October 2010. All positions, except one, were filled, although 

some appointees will only take up their posts in the new reporting period. An advertisement was placed in March 

2011 for several vacant Museum Attendant positions, and the selection process for these posts is underway.

Some positions were advertised internally only in order to create promotion opportunities for staff members 

at lower levels. The positions advertised were for Museum Attendants for nine positions placed earlier in 2010; 

Administrative Assistants for two departments; Personal Assistants to the CEO and Executive Directors; and an 

Assistant Collections Manager, Pre-Colonial Archaeology (one-year contract).

terminations

In the current reporting period, a total of 93 staff members left the institution. Of these, 32 were indefinite and long-

term contract staff, and 61 were short-term contract staff. The reasons for their leaving are provided in Table 3.

TABLE 3.  REASONS WHY STAFF MEMBERS ARE LEAVING THE INSTITUTION

tErmInAtIon tyPE
InDEfInItE 

stAff
contrAct 

stAff
totAl 

tErmInAtIons
% of totAl

Death 0 0 0 0.00%

Resignations 9 4 13 5.39%

Expiry of contract 4 52 56 23.24%

Dismissal – operational changes 0 0 0 0.00%

Dismissal – misconduct 14 4 18 7.47%

Dismissal – inefficiency 0 0 0 0.00%

Discharges due to ill-health 0 0 0 0.00%

Retirement 5 0 5 2.07%

Other (abscondment) 0 1 1 0.41%

Total 32 61 93  

Total number of employees who left as a % 
of the total employment at 31 March 2011

   38.59%
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3.3 Job Evaluation
The grade of two positions was reviewed, one changed to a higher grade and the other remained the same. The new 

position of Supply Chain Management Coordinator was graded.

The Taxidermy position was redefined as Collections Manager/Taxidermist due to collections management functions 

being performed.

3.4 Employment Changes
TABLE 4.  ANNUAL TURNOVER RATE BY SALARY LEVELS FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2010 TO 31 MARCH 2011

OCCUPATIONAL 
LEVELS

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES 

ON 31 
MARCH 

2010

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES 
ON 1 APRIL 

2010

APPOINTMENTS 
& TRANSFERS 

INTO THE 
INSTITUTION

TERMINATIONS 
& TRANSFERS 
OUT OF THE 
INSTITUTION

TURNOVER 
RATE

TRANSFERS 
INTO LEVEL

TRANSFERS 
FROM LEVEL

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES 

ON 31 
MARCH 2011

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES 
ON 1 APRIL 

2011

Senior Management 3 2 1 1 50.00% 0 0 2 2

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and mid-
management 7 7 0 0 0.00% 0 0 7 7

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers, 
junior management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents 116 112** 8 16 15.53% 0 0 104 103

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making 71 71 9 15 23.08% 0 0 65 65

Unskilled and 
defined decision-
making 4 4 0 0 0.00% 0 0 4 4

TOTAL INDEFINITE 
EMPLOYEES 201 196 18 32 17.68% 0 0 182 181

CONTRACT 
EMPLOYEES 60 55 65 61 115.09% 0 0 59 53

TOTAL 261 251 83 93 39.74% 0 0 241 234

Note: One indefinite staff member and six contract staff members’ services were terminated on 31 March 2011 and were therefore still accounted for 
in the 241 staff members reported as at 31 March 2011. **This figure is adjusted from the number reported for 1 April 2010 to take into account a new 
indefinite appointment on that date of a person previously employed on contract.

Promotions

There were five promotions of indefinite staff members in the reporting period, and two staff members previously 

on contract were appointed indefinitely in higher positions.

TABLE 5. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS PROMOTED 1 APRIL 2010 TO 31 MARCH 2011

PromotIons (contrAct stAff) 1 APrIl 2010–31 mArcH 2011

no GrouP GEnDEr formEr PosItIon nEW PosItIon

1 Coloured Female Research Assistant Assistant Collections Manager

2 Coloured Female Collections Assistant Assistant Collections Manager

PromotIons (InDEfInItE stAff) 1 APrIl 2010–31 mArcH 2011

no GrouP GEnDEr formEr PosItIon nEW PosItIon

3 Coloured Female Administrative Assistant PA to Executive Directors

4 Coloured Female Administrative Assistant PA to Chief Executive Officer

5 Coloured Female Assistant Conservator Conservator

6 White Female Assistant Collections Manager Collections Manager

7 Coloured Male Taxidermist Collections Manager/ Senior Taxidermist

3.5 Employment Equity
TABLE 6. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OF THE FOLLOWING OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS ON 

31 MARCH 2011

Post lEvEl
mAlE fEmAlE 

forEIGn 
nAtIonAls totAl

A c I W A c I W mAlE fEmAlE

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior 
Management

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-management

0 1 1 1 0 1 0 3 0 0 7

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents

5 22 0 15 10 26 1 23 1 1 104

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making

11 17 0 3 11 18 0 2 3 0 65

Unskilled and 
defined decision-
making

1 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4

TOTAL 
INDEFINITE STAFF

17 42 1 19 21 46 2 29 4 1 182

CONTRACT STAFF 11 13 0 0 13 17 0 3 0 2 59

TOTAL STAFF 28 55 1 19 34 63 2 32 4 3 241

Of the 18 appointments made to indefinite and long-term fixed-term positions, all but two were applicants from 

designated groups. The non-designated appointees were given a three-year contract in accordance with the 

following: Iziko employs the strategy that, if a white applicant is found to be the most suitable applicant for a 

position that is in an occupational level where white males or females are over-represented, and there is no black 

applicant who is close to being suitable, then the most suitable applicant may be appointed on a fixed-term contract 

(with benefits) of no more than three years, on condition that the appointee transfers skills to a black employee(s).
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The table below reflects the progress made towards ensuring representivity in the Iziko Workforce Profile since the 

2003–2004 reporting period.

TABLE 7. COMPARISON OF THE WORKFORCE PROFILES OF 2003-2004 AND 2010-2011

PErIoD
mAlE fEmAlE

totAl
A c I W A c I W

2003-2004 17 65 0 33 18 46 0 48 227

 7% 29% 0% 15% 8% 20% 0% 21%  

2010-2011 28 55 1 19 34 63 2 32 234

 12% 24% 0% 8% 15% 27% 1% 14%  

Difference 11 -10 1 -14 16 17 2 -16 7

Note: The 2010-2011 Workforce Profile excludes seven foreign nationals.

There have been 152 terminations of service of indefinite staff members since 2003–2004, which resulted in 

opportunities to address the workforce profile. It is clear from the 2003–2004 statistics that Iziko needed to 

increase the number of African males and females, Indian males and females, as well as coloured females, not 

males, in its workforce. Iziko did achieve these goals. An Indian female was employed, and one Indian male resigned 

in the reporting period.

The numbers of coloured males as well as white males and females needed to be reduced in order to reflect the 

Western Cape demographics, and it is clear from Table 7 that there has been a substantial percentage decrease 

with regard to all three of these groups.

3.6 Foreign Workers
The number of foreign workers has decreased from nine in the past reporting period to seven in the current period. 

Four of the seven foreign workers are African nationals.

3.7 Leave Utilisation
Annual leave

The annual leave liability is reflected in the provisions.

sick leave

TABLE 8: SUMMARY OF SICK LEAVE 1 APRIL 2010 TO 31 MARCH 2011

stAtus
no. of stAff 

mEmbErs

totAl DAys 
tAKEn PEr 

yEAr

AvErAGE 
DAys DuE 

PEr PErson 
PEr yEAr

AvErAGE 
DAys tAKEn 
PEr PErson 

PEr yEAr

cost of sIcK 
lEAvE tAKEn 

tHIs yEAr

Indefinite 213 1,495 10.53 7.02  R880,437 

Contract 111 480 4.3 2.12  R61,498 

Total 324 1,975 9.14 6.79  R941,935 

Note: Nine staff members on very short-term contracts did not qualify for sick leave.

The number of staff members includes those whose services were terminated during the reporting period. The 

average number of sick leave days taken in the previous reporting period was 7.66, but the number has decreased 

to 6.79. The average number of sick leave days taken decreased despite six staff members being on sick leave for 

extended periods due to serious illness or for surgery.

This decrease is particularly significant and heartening considering the continued poor financial climate, which 

could result in staff members being depressed or not having money for transport towards the end of the month.

special leave

Leave was granted for maternity, family responsibility, compassionate, religious and study purposes.

3.8 HIV/Aids and Health Promotion Programmes
All staff members were invited to be tested for HIV/Aids, including pre- and post-testing counselling. Many staff 

members accepted the invitation. Staff members were also invited to attend an HIV Aids workshop.

Testing for diabetes, cholesterol levels and hypertension was also offered, and a training session on diabetes was held.

3.9 Labour Relations
TABLE 9.  DISCIPLINARY ACTION TAKEN FROM 1 APRIL 2010 TO 31 MARCH 2011

mAlE fEmAlE
outcomE

A c I W A c I W

4 5 0 0 5 4 0 0 Dismissal

0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 Final Written Warning

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Written Warning

Iziko has a policy of zero tolerance for dishonesty. Fourteen staff members were dismissed for dishonesty, 12 of 

whom were dismissed for misappropriation of funds. When Iziko implemented a decision to offer free entry to 

children 16 and under, staff members saw an opportunity to charge adults an entrance fee and to record these 

transactions as ‘children 16 and under free of charge’.

Only three CCMA referrals progressed to arbitration and all three awards were in favour of Iziko. No financial 

settlements were negotiated. 
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3.10 Skills Development
learning and Development

TABLE 10. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OCCUPATIONAL LEVEL WHO RECEIVED TRAINING 

DURING THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2010 TO 31 MARCH 2011

Post lEvEl
mAlE fEmAlE

totAl
A c I W A c I W

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 3

Professionally qualified and experienced 
specialists and mid-management

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2

Skilled technical and academically qualified 
workers, junior management, supervisors, 
foremen and superintendents 6 21 0 9 10 25 0 19 90

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision-
making 12 19 0 1 13 17 0 3 65

Unskilled and defined decision-making 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

TOTAL INDEFINITE STAFF 18 42 0 10 23 43 1 24 161

Contract staff 4 4 0 0 15 13 0 3 39

TOTAL STAFF 22 46 0 10 38 56 1 27 200

training opportunities

Table 10 reflects the number of staff members who received training in the reporting period. In some instances, 

staff members attended more than one training course. These training opportunities are reflected in Table 11.

The emphasis continued to be on training that would reduce risk to Iziko, such as security, first-aid and fire-fighting 

training, as well as training to ensure compliance with legislation (construction regulations workshop, machinery 

operating training, occupational safety, and labour legislation amendments).

Bo-Kaap Walkabout led by EPP Educator, Faried Basier, Summer School 2010. Iziko EPP supporters, Abasebenzi Bayi Bambile (Workers on 
the Ball) event, SA Museum amphitheatre, 8 July 2010.

Customer care workshops that focused on the 2010 FIFA Soccer World Cup were presented to CSM staff members 

who were recruited as additional staff for the duration of the World Cup.

A workshop on Museum Ethics was presented. An in-house training workshop was offered on preparation for 

and representing Iziko at disciplinary hearings. Five staff members from designated groups were also supported 

financially in terms of tertiary education.

TABLE 11.  TOTAL NUMBER OF TRAINING OPPORTUNITIES PROVIDED OVER THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2010 TO  

31 MARCH 2011

mAlE fEmAlE
totAl

A c I W A c I W

36 106 0 17 71 101 4 42 377

3.11  Injury on Duty
Six incidents were reported. Two incidents involved back injuries, with both staff members requiring ongoing 

treatment, and one requiring surgery.

3.12  Utilisation of Consultants
An amount of R696,255 was spent on the services of consultants. Consultants were appointed to manage capital 

works for Iziko, conservation of artworks, database installations and website development.

The HR department also appointed consultants when required to assist with payroll, chairing of disciplinary 

hearings, minute-taking, and the transcription of minutes of disciplinary hearings.

The Finance and Administration department also appointed Information Technology consultants, and consultants to 

assist with the evaluation of fixed assets. 

Noel Fouten, deinstalling whale skeletons in the 
SA Museum’s Whale Well.

The ‘Bafinance Bafinance’ team, Abasebenzi Bayi Bambile (Workers on 
the Ball) event, SA Museum amphitheatre, 8 July 2010.
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4. APPENDICES

Iziko Museum Attendant, Jimmy Sauermann, regards the Ghoema & Glitter: New Year Carnival in Cape Town exhibition at the Castle of Good Hope.

CONTENTS
4.1  Facilities Management 100

4.2  Partnerships and Sponsorships 101

4.3  Digitisation of Collections 102

4.4  Loans 102

4.5  Exhibitions 105

4.6  Education and Public Programmes 107

4.7  Acquisitions 110

4.8  Publications 114

4.9  Materiality and Significance Framework 117

4.10  Abbreviations 120



PAGE 101

4.1 Facilities Management
• Iziko Social History Centre: Final works completion expected in April 2011.

• Integrated Security (CCTV) Project: Practical completion has been signed off and the SA Museum, SA National  

 Gallery, Slave Lodge, William Fehr Collection and Old Town House have functional CCTV systems.

• Access for disabled persons: All lifts and hoists were completed and have been commissioned at the Slave Lodge, Bo- 

 Kaap Museum, SA National Gallery Annexe, Rust en Vreugd, Koopmans-de Wet House and the Old Town House.

• Alarm systems: New linked NX8 alarm systems were installed at the SA National Gallery and Rust en Vreugd.

• Iziko SA Museum, Courtyard Project: The tender date for this multi-million-Rand project, which will transform the  

 SA Museum, has been set for the second quarter of 2011.

• Fire suppression system, Rust en Vreugd: The installation of a new fire suppression system commenced and is due  

 for completion by the end of the first quarter of 2011.

• Improvement of staff working conditions: The electrical supply to the Human Resources Annexe building was  

 balanced out in order to support the installation of air conditioning (a/c) units in the building. The electrical supply  

 to the Art Library was upgraded and the tender for a/c installation closed in March 2011. Installation in the Art  

 Library and Institutional Advancement Photographic Studio is scheduled for the first quarter of 2011.

• Improved condition of all Iziko sites through maintenance of infrastructure and continual refurbishment: Repair  

 and renovation work was carried out at the following sites: Bo-Kaap Museum, Slave Lodge, Old Town House  

 and Rust en Vreugd. The extent of renovation at the SA National Gallery and Rust en Vreugd was evaluated and  

 submitted by the DPW to the DAC.

• Upgraded foyers to improve reception of visitors: The SA Museum foyer and reception areas were upgraded to  

 include hospitality and retail areas, and the seating in the public space adjacent to the foyer.

• Improved external and internal signage to facilitate way-finding for visitors: The roll out of the upgrade of the  

 exterior and interior signage at all Iziko museums as a Capital Works Project under the auspices of the DPW was  

 approved. Installation is expected to commence during the second quarter of 2011.

• IT infrastructure: Integrated data connectivity between various sites was installed in September 2010. VoIP  

 telephony installed at Iziko sites by August 2010: SA Museum, Bertram House, Bo-Kaap Museum, Koopmans-de  

 Wet House, Michaelis Collection, Rust en Vreugd, William Fehr Collection, Slave Lodge, Social History Centre and  

 SA National Gallery (including Annexe).

4.2 Partnerships and Sponsorships 
4.2.1 Office of the CEO

• The CEO served as President of ICOM-South Africa and forged closer professional relationships with the South  

 African Museums Association (SAMA), the South African Resources Heritage Agency (SAHRA) and the National  

 Heritage Council (NHC) of South Africa. 

• The CEO served on the Castle of Good Hope Control Board.

• The NLDTF contributed significantly to making the delivery of Iziko’s special 2010 programme (‘Hearth of our  

 Heritage’) and the installation of the Gaiasphere at the SA Museum possible.

• Creative Cape Town.

• Cape Town Tourism.

4.2.2 Art Collections

• Free World Coatings: 1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective.

• Free Flight Dance Company: 1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective.

• Lotto: 1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective.

• Goodman Gallery, British Council, CulturesFrance, French Institute of South Africa (IFAS), Embassy of France,  

 Goethe-Institut, Galleria Continua, and the Kirsh Foundation: In Context.

• French Institute of South Africa (IFAS) and CulturesFrance: Borders: An exhibition from the Bamako Encounters  

 8th African Photographic Biennale.

• Mercedes Benz South Africa: Imagining Beauty.

• Hasselblad Centre, Sweden: Ernest Cole, Photographer.

• Standard Bank: Umtshotsho: Standard Bank Young Artist for Visual Art 2009, Nicholas Hlobo; and ENDGAME: Standard  

 Bank Young Artist for Visual Art 2010, Michael MacGarry.

• Standard Bank and Art First Gallery, London: Louis Maqhubela.

• BASA, Cape Tercentenary Foundation, Friends of the Michaelis Collection, MTN Foundation, Sanlam, University of  

 Cape Town: Lie of the Land.

• Friends of the Iziko South African National Gallery.

Ms Lulu Xingwana, former Minister of Arts & Culture 
and Prof. HC (Jatti) Bredekamp, former CEO of Iziko, 
at the official opening of the Social History Centre. 

Nicholas Hlobo. Izithunzi and Kubomvu (2009). Rubber inner tube, ribbon, organza, lace, found 
objects, steel, couch, found table, found lamp, red light bulb. Standard Bank Young Artist for 
Visual Art 2009, Nicholas Hlobo: Umtshotsho exhibition, SA National Gallery.

Postage stamp. South African Post Office’s 8th Definitive Series 
of Stamps on Beadwork. Hosted by Iziko Social History and Art 
Collections departments. 

Virtual Earth at the SA Museum, featuring the Gaiasphere, made possible 
with funding from the NLDTF.
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4.2.3 Social History Collections

• University of Cape Town: Made in Translation: Images from and of the Landscape, SA Museum.

• Eco Design Initiative: Eco Design Showcase, Slave Lodge.

• Informal partnership with Salon, Amsterdam: interventions of South African fashion in Social History museums at  

 Koopmans-de Wet House and Bertram House.

• Continuing partnership with the George Washington University (Slave Wrecks project).

• Continuing partnership with the Apartheid Museum (Mandela Museum).

 

4.2.4 Natural History Collections

• Birdlife South Africa agreement regarding Save Our Seabirds festival.

• Natural History Unit (NHU) Africa agreement regarding Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2010 exhibition.

• Kopanang Community Trust agreement regarding exhibition of embroidered panels.

4.3 Digitisation of Collections
4.3.1 Databases of Collections

Art Collections: 16 objects added

Natural History Collections: 31,960 objects added

Social History Collections: 400 objects added to database and 100 objects photographed

4.3.2 Images Scanned

Art Collections: 400 objects photographed

Natural History Collections: 2,369 specimens photographed

Social History Collections: 100 objects photographed 

4.4 Loans
4.4.1 Art Collections

Loans out

• ‘Chita’ to the National Museum of Art, Architecture and Design, Oslo.

Mandela: Leader, Comrade, Negotiator, Prisoner, 
Statesman exhibition panel. Slave Lodge. 

Installation view, Imagining Beauty: Body Adornment from Iziko Collections of 
Young SA Designers, SA National Gallery.

• ‘Van Wouw’ to the University of Pretoria, Department of Arts, Edoardo Villa Museum, Pretoria.

• Maqhubela to Standard Bank Gallery, JHB.

• Loans for ‘Halakash’ exhibition to Standard Bank Gallery, JHB.

• Loans for Strengths and Convictions to Nobel Peace Centre, Oslo.

• Loans for The Lie of the Land exhibition to Sanlam Art Gallery, Bellville.

• Wayne Barker to SMAC, Stellenbosch.

• Peter Clarke to Standard Bank Gallery, JHB.

• Long-term loan Vergelegen Museum.

Loans in

• 1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective.

• Imagining Beauty.

• The Lie of the Land.

• A Vigil of Departure: Louis Khehla Maqhubela.

• Roger Ballen and Boarding House.

• In Context.

• Borders: An exhibition from the 8th Bamako Photo Biennale.

4.4.2 Social History Collections

Outgoing Loans

Internal – to Art Collections department

• Leonard Xaba. Figure of horse and rider. 1989. Katlehong Art Centre, Gauteng. SACHM89/193.

• Bonnie Ntshalintshali (1967–1999). Tea Party. 1993. Ardmore Studio, KwaZulu-Natal. SACHM90/768.

• Barbara Jackson (1949–2010). Coffee lover. 1993. Cape Town. SACHM93/768.

• Bowl made by Mthandeni and painted by Matrina. Ardmore Studio, KwaZulu-Natal, 2005. SH2006/6.

• Fish-shaped bowl by Victor Shabalala, and painted by Octavia Buthelezi. Ardmore Studio, 2008. SH2009/1.

• TW Bowler. The Oaks. 1860. Watercolour painting.

• Dress L67/153.

Louis Maqhubela. Composition (1972). Oil on Paper.  
Collection, Johannesburg Art Gallery.  
A Vigil of Departure: Louis Khehla Maqhubela, SA National Gallery.

Kopanang Universe Canticle exhibition workshop participants 
admire the embroidered panels.
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• Replica of SAM-AA 8938-Engraved ochre; Replica of SAM-AA 8947-Bone point; Replica of SAM-AA 8965-Bone awl;  

 Replica of SAM-AA 8974-Bone awl; Replica of Iziko find no. 73-Bone awl; Replica of Iziko find no. PVN 54-Bifacial  

 point; Replica of Iziko find no. PVN 68-Bifacial point; Replica of Iziko find no. 72-Bone point (repaired).

• Headdress SAMAE 2291; 2296; 9997; 13746; 13747.

• Necklet SAM-AE 2866.

To The Gold of Africa Museum, Cape Town

For the exhibition, The earth is watching us, curated by Julia Meintjes, 3 February to 31 March, 33 pots from south, 

central and west Africa: SACHM 1837, 2571, Egypt; SAMAE 1168, Botswana; SAMAE 12232, 12233, 12234, Nigeria; 

SAMAE 12070, 14784, 9216, 9221, 9222, KwaZulu-Natal; SAMAE 14996, 1966, Mozambique; SAMAE 2927, 9166, 

Zambia; SAMAE 4102, 4103, 4104, Namibia; SAMAE 6039, Swaziland; SAMAE 6049, 6986, Eastern Cape; SAMAE 

622, Benin City, Nigeria; SAMAE 6411, 6413, Democratic Republic of Congo; SAMAE 6580, Mpumalanga; SAMAE 

8590, Lesotho; SAMAE 11831, 8800, 8801, 9987, Limpopo Province; UCT 32/37, Eastern Cape (two pots); UCT 38/83, 

Limpopo Province.

Mr Meyer Taub, representing the ‘Infecting the City’ project, unregistered display material for performance of Time  

flies for the ‘Infecting the City’ project in Cape Town, 14–28 February 2011: No number, 2 x wooden pails plus one  

wooden shoulder bar; no number, 1 x cream cotton dress; no number, 1 x blue striped linen cap; no number, 1 x blue  

striped linen apron.

Outgoing Loan Inspection

Loan material relating to printing, lent to the Genadendal Museum for the period 2005–2015, was inspected and 

found to be in satisfactory condition.

Outgoing Loan Return

Returned by Museum of Mobile, Alabama, USA: AA/1112, a small firearm, manufactured in 1863; SAM 2964, a flag, 

with historical value by association with the famous ship, the Alabama.

‘Dis da Art’ invited young audiences to interact with artworks included in the 
1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective exhibition at the SA National Gallery.

Unfinished woven wire bowl, by Ntombizini Mbatha, 
Mdukatshani Development Trust, Thukela Valley, KZN. 

Incoming Loans

For the Ghoema & Glitter exhibition at the Castle, 15 groups of items were loaned from private collections:

From David Kramer: One ghoema drum.

From Mr Mz Benjamin: one full uniform; three sets song sheets; two A4 boards framed; two A3 plastic sandwich 

photos of the Shameeg Kamaar moffies; one A3 plastic sandwich photo of Starlights Male Choir 2005; one A3 

plastic sandwich photo of Starlights Male Choir 2005 trophies; one A2 plastic sandwich photo of a decorated 

tafel; one A4 photo of Best Senior Drum Major; three A4 group photos with text on A3 paper of the Starlight 

Male Choir winners; one Starlights Male Choir 2010 song book; five photocopied samples of Cape Malay Choir 

Board competition point allocation forms.

From Harlequin Foundation: One headdress.

From Leslie Witz: Three medallions.

From zan Louw:  One piano accordion.

  

For display at the Slave Lodge, the ‘Keiskamma Altarpiece’ from the Keiskamma Trust, Peddie.

4.4.3 Natural History Collections

73 loans were dispatched.

4.5 Exhibitions
4.5.1 Art Collections

Iziko South African National Gallery

• 1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective, 15 April to 3 October 2010. Free Flight Dance Company choreographed  

 performances around the exhibition, which were free to the public. ‘Dis da Art’ invited young audiences to interact  

 with the exhibition and say why they disliked certain artworks included.

• US, 15 April to 3 October 2010.

• Standard Bank Young Artist for Visual Art 2009, Nicholas Hlobo: Umtshotsho, 30 May to 15 August 2010.

• In Context, opened 27 November 2010 to 13 March 2011.

• Echoes, 8 to 31 October 2010.

Akan ceremonial robe, Ghana (detail of mudfish) (c.1995). 
Cotton and silk woven strip cloth. ISANG Permanent Collection.

Dan Halter. Space Invader. Photograph, lightjet print onto aluminium.
US exhibition, SA National Gallery.
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• A Vigil of Departure: Louis Khehla Maqhubela, 27 October 2010 to 13 February 2011.

• Borders: An exhibition from the 8th Bamako Photo Biennale, 27 November 2010 to 30 January 2011.

• Imagining Beauty, 27 November 2010 to 11 April 2011.

• Roger Ballen and Boarding House, 27 November 2010 to 17 April 2011.

• Ernest Cole, Photographer, 25 February to 30 April 2011.

• Random Works – A selection from the permanent collection, opened 25 February 2011. 

• Standard Bank Young Artist for Visual Art 2010, Michael MacGarry: ENDGAME, 27 March to 16 May 2011.

Iziko Old Town House

• The Lie of the Land, 9 June to 11 September 2010.

• Home and Away: A Return to the South, 15 October 2010 to 30 January 2011.

• Baroque Meets Modern: The re-hang of the Michaelis Collection at the Old Town House, opened in March 2011.

4.5.2 Social History Collections

• Mandela: Leader, Comrade, Negotiator, Prisoner, Statesman, 10 February 2010 to 31 July 2011 at ISL.

• Ghoema & Glitter: New Year Carnival in Cape Town, 5 June 2010 to 31 July 2011 at the Castle.

• New Year Carnival and the Alibama, 15 June 2010, ongoing at IBKM.

• Mapping Bo-Kaap: History, memories and spaces, 14 October 2010, ongoing in the Community Hall, IBKM.

• Made in Translation: Images from and of the landscape, 20 November 2010 to November 2011 at ISAM.

• Following renovation and repair, IBH re-opened on 8 December 2010. A temporary exhibition on philately and  

 beadwork, South African Post Office’s 8th Definitive Series of Stamps on Beadwork, was hosted in collaboration  

 with Art Collections, until 31 June 2011.

• SALON/Locale: Small exhibitions/interventions of contemporary SA fashion, including David Tlale and Black Coffee,  

 with artworks at IKDW and IBH, 18 to 26 February 2011.

• Eco Design, sustainable design prototypes created by South African and Swedish designers at ISL, 25 February to  

 9 March 2011.

• Refurbished kitchen at Groot Constantia illustrating the historical presence of residents and workers, opened on  

 25 March 2011.

Children viewing Ferdinand Bol, Portrait of a Woman (17th century) and Paul Emsley, Fatalist II (1984). 
Baroque Meets Modern: The re-hang of the Michaelis Collection at the Old Town House exhibition.

Painting by artist, Ankie, of the Kuru Craft project 
at D’Kar in the Ghansi district, Botswana, c. 2000. 
Donor: Mr Dehon Joubert.

4.5.3 Natural History Collections

• Fossil Icons from South Africa, featuring Australopithecus sediba fossil, 19 to 24 April 2010 (Palaeo Week).

• African Dinosaurs (permanent exhibition), funded by the NLDTF, opened on 29 May 2010.

• Kopanang Universe Canticle, 22 March to 22 May 2011.

• Save our Seabirds festival and exhibition, 11 October to 21 November 2010.

• Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2010, 9 December 2010 to 13 March 2011.

• Virtual Earth, featuring the new Gaiasphere, opened 20 December 2010. Ongoing.

4.6 Education and Public Programmes
visitor figures: 1 April 2010 to 31 march 2011

Total no. of visitors to Iziko:

493,265 [compared to 473,982 in 2009/2010] This represents a 4.07% increase.

Education Programmes 

School groups 48,386

Workshops 4,547

Iziko Planetarium

Public 40,208 School groups 29,183

Total: 69,391 [compared to 73,261 in 2009/2010]

4.6.1 Planetarium Shows

• Starbike; Journey to the Stars; and Davy Dragon and the Planets were refurbished and modified.

• Guinea Minnie; Dinosaurs; Living Inside the Cosmic Egg; and A Basic Guide to Stargazing were prepared.

• Silly Solly and the Shooting Stars opened in December 2010. Worksheets were also produced.

• Installation of View Space television for public viewing with continuous update link to NASA.

• isiXhosa uStarbike was programmed and Davy and the Dinosaur was digitised.

• The Sky Tonight update commenced.

• All slides were replaced for Starbike (English, Afrikaans, Xhosa) and Davy Dragon Goes to the Moon.

Kader Attia [Algeria-France]. Rochers Carrés (2009) © courtesy Kader Attia 
and Christian Nagel Gallery (Berlin and Cologne). Borders: An exhibition from 
the 8th Bamako Photo Biennale exhibition, SA National Gallery.

Pamela Court and ‘Eggy Man’, SA Museum, 
Heritage Day, 24 September 2010.
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Planetarium Presentations

• Indigenous knowledge (astronomy) presentations to diverse audiences.

• ‘History of Planetariums’.

• Astronomy of the Great Pyramid.

4.6.2 Educational Resources and Programmes

• Learner and Educator Enrichment Programmes at all Iziko museums continued, and education programmes were  

 developed to accompany all major exhibitions.

• Let’s Celebrate; and Let’s Make a Difference youth exhibitions.

• Phula Phula Project. Annexe, June–July 2010.

Workshops and resources

• Maritime holiday workshops. Maritime Centre, V&A Waterfront, December 2010 to January 2011.

• Moppie-writing workshops. Castle of Good Hope, 8 to 10 February 2011.

• Taxidermy exhibit at the Toffie Festival. City Hall, 24 to 26 March 2011.

• Museum Training Programme for the City of Cape Town, February 2011.

• Tools and methods for the assessment of Biodiversity.

• Moon Board Game designed by Margie Walter, for winter holiday workshops, July 2011.

• Iziko Mobile Museum promotional DVD was produced.

• Education lessons updated. 

• Museums Training Manual was developed by Wayne Alexander for City of Cape Town, 19 February 2011.

Presentations

• ‘Dealing with Diversity: An approach to Language Challenges’ by Wayne Alexander, February 2011.

• ‘Youth and Leadership: Education role’ by Wayne Alexander, 5 March 2011.

• ‘Social Harmony’ by Olga Hendricks at Slave Lodge, 22 April 2010.

• Faried Basier on Islam at Tourist Guide Institute, 13 April and 3 September 2010.

• Wandile Kasibe on Youth Day, at Robben Island, Mandela Gateway, 16 June 2010.

Participants of the Indigenous Games Workshops, part of the Summer School 2011 Programme. Learners from St Agnes Primary School (Salt River) 
examine taxidermy displays in the SA Museum foyer.

• ‘Indigenous Astronomy and Indigenous Knowledge’ by Temba Matomela at UCT Heritage workshop, Clanwilliam,  

 September 2010.

• ‘History of Planetariums’ by Elsabe Uys at SAAO, 26 September 2010.

• ‘Science across Cultures’ by Theo Ferreira, Temba Matomela and Elsabe Uys at the 2010 SAASTEC conference,  

 Vredenburg, November 2010.

• Presentation by Wandile Kasibe at ICOM-SA general conference in Shanghai, China, 7 to 12 November 2010.

4.6.3 Public Programmes

• International Mandela Day, ISL, 17 July 2010, and Nomsa Mapongwana Primary School, Khayelitsha, 18 July 2010.

• Women’s Day, celebrated at ISAM in collaboration with Great Women International, 7 August 2010.

• ‘Western Cape Youth Dialogue: Challenges in Education’ by Wandile Kasibe, TH Barry Lecture Theatre.

• Heritage Month, celebrated at various Iziko sites during the month of September.

• ‘500-year Commemoration Symposium of the 1510 Khoi-Almeida Confrontation’, 26 September 2010.

• Maritime Month programme in Kalk Bay, October 2010.

• HIV/Aids and Emancipation Day celebrations, TH Barry Lecture Theatre, 1 December 2010.

summer school Programme

• ‘Our Nation in Conversation’; Sutherland excursion; Ghoema & Glitter ‘moppie’ workshop; Climate Change Indaba;  

 Cape Point Walk; Talk on the Private Lives of Spiders; Two Oceans Experience; Indigenous Games Workshops; ‘End  

 of the line’ film screening; ‘Sustainable Fisheries’ lecture; Andrew Putter Public Lecture; ‘Remembering Slave  

 Route’ tour; Human Rights Day event.

4.6.4 Mobile Museum

• Vangate Mall, Children’s Day programme; Cape Town Boat Show; Maritime Month; International Mandela Day,  

 Khayelitsha; Mbekweni Primary School; Careers Indaba, Khayelitsha; Azalea Old Age Home, Stellenbosch; Proudly  

 Knysna Festival; SAMA conference, KZN.

• Outreach: Cape Town Station; CPUT; Mpumalanga Library, KZN; Cato Crest Library, KZN; Claremont Library, KZN.

Ayesha Price demonstrates the art of puppet-making during an EPP puppet-making workshop, June 2010.
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visits and outreach

• Bulumko Secondary School, Khayelitsha; Valhalla Park Library; Crossroads Library; ABET project of the City of  

 Cape Town; Sikelela Primary School.

4.6.5 Exhibition- and Collection-related Workshops and Panel Discussions

social History collections

One-day workshop, ‘Social History Collections: Registering Change in Iziko after Apartheid’, was held at ISL on  

16 September 2010 to coincide with the official opening of the Iziko Social History Centre.

Art collections

Panel discussions were held on 1 and 2 October 2010, to conclude the 1910-2010 exhibition; in conjunction with the 

Borders exhibition on 26 November 2010; and relating to the Imagining Beauty exhibition on 26 February 2011.

4.7 Acquisitions
4.7.1 Art Collections

Purchases

• Lionel Davis. A Coloured Man. Work on paper.

• Noria Mabasa (b. 1938). Ndi Mukegulu a ne a khou thsimbila na vhaduhulu vhaue vhavhili/ Grandmother and her  

 two children. 2008. Wild fig, sculpture, 200 cm high x 120 cm wide.

• Pierre Fouché. The Kiss. 2008. Crochet lace (mercerised cotton thread, monofilament). 2000 x 1200 mm x 4 mm  

 (textile panel only). 

• Seshola Mangwanu (nd). Fertility Figure. Mixed media, the Pedi (N. Sotho).

• Sarah Ramahlo (nd). Beaded Apron (Pedi). Glass seed beads, fabric, thread.

• Nwasigewugewu Mkhari (nd). Nwana/Tsonga Fertility Figure. Mixed media.

• Unknown artist. Gimwane /Ntwana Fertility Figure. Mixed media.

• Philip Badenhorst. Á Rebours (Against nature). 1976.

• Christine Dixie. That one day I. Etching.

• Christine Dixie. That one day II. Etching.

Noria Mabasa (b. 1938). Ndi Mukegulu a ne a khou thsimbila na vhaduhulu 
vhaue vhavhili/ Grandmother and her two children. 2008. Wild fig, sculpture.

Mary Sibande (b. 1982), Conversation with Madama CJ Walker (2009). Mixed 
media, life size synthetic hair on canvas. From the 1910-2010: From Pierneef 
to Gugulective exhibition. Courtesy of Gallery MOMO, Johannesburg. 

• Malcolm Payne. Color Test. 1974. Re-ed. 2010. Screenprint and lithography, edition 3.

• Zanele Muholi. Katlego Mashiloane and Nosipho Lavuta, Ext. 2, Lakeside, Johannesburg. 2007. Lambda print, edition 5/8. 

• Sabelo Mlangeni. Invisible woman. 2006. Silver gelatin print, edition 3/10.

• Nontsikelelo Veleko. Kepi II. 2003/2006. Pigment inks on cotton rag paper, AO size, edition of 10.

• Gabrielle Goliath. Bouquet III. 2007. Archival print, edition 5/5. 

Donations

• Frederick Timpson I’Ons. Young Boy. Presented by the Friends of the Iziko South African National Gallery. 

4.7.2 Social History Collections

Sponsorship 

• Lidded pot by South African ceramic artist, Esias Bosch (1923–2010), acquired as a result of a successful  

 funding application to the Rowland and Leta Hill Trust.

• Sponsorship to the value of R17,213 by the Rowland and Leta Hill trust also supported the following purchases: A  

 collection of South African and Lesotho ceramics, 20th century: Linn Ware dish, 1940s; Kalahari Studio ewer,  

 1950s; Kalahari Studio wall plate, 1950s; a Kalahari turquoise-glazed vase and another Kalahari vase, 1960s; two  

 Dykor two-handled bowls, 1952–1959; a Dykor bowl and platter, 1952–1959; Kolonyama Jardinière; an Ian Sulin vase;  

 and a Mantenga Crafts Centre jug. 

Donations

• Salt River Entertainers uniform, worn 2010. Donor: Mr S Soeker, Cape Town Minstrel Carnival Association (CTMCA).

• Lavender Superstars uniform (pants and jacket), worn in 2010. Donor: CTMCA.

• Duinefontein Community Minstrels uniform, 2008. Donor: Vernon Petersen.

• Bloemhof Crusaders blazer, date uncertain; laminated images of Bloemhof Crusaders, Trojans Christmas  

 Choir/Band, a langarm band and unnamed Christmas Choir/Band. Donor: Mr Wilkinson via Mr R Cupido.

• African Zonks uniform (hat, pants, jacket). Donor: Geraldine van der Lilly.

• Uniform (pants, jacket and hat), Seawinds Entertainers uniform, 2008. Donor: Ashraf Solomons.

• Fez, c.1960s, Cape Town. Donor: Shamila Rahim.

LEFT: Seshola Mangwanu (nd), Fertility Figure, Pedi people. Mixed media.  
RIGHT: Unknown artist. Gimwane/ Fertility figure, Ntwana people. Mixed media.

Nontsikelelo Veleko. Kepi II (2003/ 2006). 
Pigment inks on cotton rag paper.

Christine Dixie. 
That one day II. Etching.
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• Klopse troupe board, The Continentals Male Choir, ‘We’ve got a date with History’. Donor: The Continentals Male  

 Choir via Mr Abubakar Davids.

• Full uniform – Pennsylvanian Crooning Minstrels x 2. One adult, one Captain, won Best Dress in 2006. Donor:  

 Harris Gordon and Tessa Frootko Gordon.

• Sewing patterns (set) from which klopse gear is cut. Donor: Ziyaad Williams.

• Klopse troupe board, Fabulous Pearlites Entertainers. Donor: Ebrahim Ismail.

• Three paintings by artists Qhaqho, M Kaashe and Ankie, of the Kuru Craft project at D’Kar in the Ghansi district,  

 Botswana, c. 2000. Donor: Mr Dehon Joubert.

• £2 pound coin dated 2007, struck to commemorate the Abolition of the Slave Trade Act of 1807. Donor: Tony  

 Perkins and Thandeka Dwayisa.

• Isidwaba, Zulu married woman’s skirt; pleated skin skirt, KwaZulu-Natal, late 20th century. Donor: Mr David  

 Kamansky via Dr Patricia Davison.

• Table Mountain silver leaf tourist memento, January 1886, ‘to Jessie Fish from her husband Robert H Fish’. Donor:  

 Derick Nelson, Scotland, UK. 

• Beer mug, Drostdy Ware. Decorated with a hand-painted design inspired by San rock art imagery. Produced by the  

 Grahamstown Pottery in Grahamstown, c.1950-60s. Donor: Dr Patricia Davison.

• Sugar bowl, with Union Line monogram, EPNS, no lid, from the SS Athens, wrecked at Green Point on 17 May 1865.  

 Donor: Ms MH Browning.

• Two small terracotta pots, plus a wire bangle made by weavers of the Mdukatshani Development Trust in the  

 Thukela Valley, Kwazulu-Natal. Donor: Julia Meintjes Fine Art, Johannesburg.

Purchases

• Klopse troupe board, Manenberg Superstars, ‘Die Aankoms van Jan van Riebeek’, 2010.

• Mixed media artwork by Tessa Frootko Gordon, framed, Young Minstrel, District Sixers Troupe, February 2006.

• Two uniforms – adult and junior, Pennsylvanian Crooning Minstrels, won Best Dress. From the CTMCA.

• South African ceramics: Two Globe Pottery vases; Drostdy Ware vase; Hym Rabinowitz, two-handled dish and cover;  

 Rorke’s Drift tureen with cover, and vase; Wiebke von Bismarck vase. 

• Two 20th century South Sotho pots.

Kalahari Ware wall plate with stylized portrait of an 
Ndebele woman. (c. 1950s.) 36.5 cm diameter, ceramic.

Unknown artist (KwaZulu-Natal). Isikoti/ Bridal cloak (c. 1990). 
Fabric and glass beads. Iziko SANG Permanent Collection.

Installation, Ghoema & Glitter:  
New Year Carnival in Cape Town, 
Castle of Good Hope.

• A multi-coloured Bambanani bowl with 12 soccer players. 

• A ‘Zakumi’ World Cup South Africa soccer mascot (leopard).

• Two vuvuzelas – popular sort probably manufactured in China, one with various countries’ flags and one with SA flag.

• Four vuvuzelas – manufactured in Cape Town, (‘Proudly South African’ on packet) in the colours of Spain, Ghana,  

 South Africa and Uruguay, each with a flag.

• Five vuvuzelas – covered in telephone wire, made in KZN, in the colours of Argentina, Germany, France/ England,  

 South Africa and Switzerland.

• Vuvuzela – beaded, with design of SA flag, made by Iziko lo Lwazi, Hout Bay.

• Diviner’s clothing and beadwork, Eastern Cape, Southern Nguni, acquired c.1940–1960. This selection of items includes a  

 cloak, skirts and a range of beadwork ornaments used by an Eastern Cape diviner and possibly her assistant(s).

• 20th century group of ceramics – Kalahari Ware and Rorke’s Drift; wall plate with a stylized portrait of an Ndebele  

 woman and three smaller wall plates – one with a stylized portrait of a Bhaca woman, the other two with stylised  

 portraits of African women, 1950s. Wall plate with stylized portrait of a Bhaca woman in headdress; two leaf-shaped  

 dishes and three Kalahari terracotta vases, 1960s, with foliate decoration; and a Rorke’s Drift stoneware vase by Euriel  

 Mbatha, 1986.

• Contemporary ceramics: large vessel by Ralph Johnson; vessel entitled ‘A brush with death’ by S’bonelo Boni Luthuli. 

• Three South Sotho pots, early tourist trade pottery based on indigenous cup shape, early part of 20th century:  

 two figurative vessels/jugs; and one stemmed vessel/cup, purchased in two lots.

• Embroidered cloth and wire baskets. Embroidered cloth or wall hanging, Kaross (empowerment) project in the  

 Northern Province, theme SA/Zimbabwe border; telephone wire basket by unknown weaver, KZN; telephone wire  

 basket by unknown weaver, KZN.

• Unfinished woven wire bowl, by Ntombizini Mbatha, showing Zulu pot at the centre and the various copper threads  

 still being worked around the pot, Mdukatshani Development Trust, Thukela Valley, KZN.

• Two ceramic vessels created by Alice Qga Nongebeza of the Nkonxeni village, Thombo area near Port St Johns,  

 Eastern Cape.

Painting by artist, Qhaqho, of the Kuru Craft project at D’Kar in the 
Ghansi district, Botswana (c. 2000). Donor: Mr Dehon Joubert.
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4.8 Publications
(Contributions by staff and research associates.)

4.8.1 Art Collections

Professional

• Naidoo, R. 2010. The Making of 1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective in DESIGNART VOL 1. Online journal.  

 http:/www.scribd.com/doc/34145742/DESIGN-ART-magazine-No-1 (pages 38–52).

• Godby, M. 2010. The Lie of the Land. (Catalogue publication.) Cape Town: Iziko Museums.

Popular

• Naidoo, R. 2010. 1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective. (Iziko publication for visitors to exhibition and  

 conference delegates.) Cape Town: Iziko Museums.

• Warne, P. 2010. Roger Ballen. (An interview with the photographer.) Cape Town: Iziko Museums.

4.8.2 Social History Collections

Professional

• Boshoff, J. 2010. Review of Bowens, A. (ed.). 2009. Underwater Archaeology. The NAS Guide to Principles and  

 Practice. South African Archaeological Bulletin 65 (191): 112–119.

• Davison, P. 2010. South Africa Overview. In Eicher, J. and Ross, D. (eds.) Berg Encyclopaedia of World Dress and  

 Fashion. Vol 1, Africa: 507–512. Oxford: Berg. 

• Keene, P. 2010. Frobenius. In Skotnes, P. (ed.) Made in Translation: Framing images of and from the landscape.  

 Johannesburg and Cape Town: Jacana.

• Van der Merwe, MPS. “Slavery, Winemaking and the ‘Dopstelsel’”. Quarterly Bulletin of the National Library of  

 South Africa, 64, 4, December 2010, 175–181.

Popular

• 2 DVDs with contributions by staff: Cape of Storm, Land of Hope (Gruppe 5) and Slaveship Mutiny (Off the Fence.)

• Davison, P. 2011. Transformations. In The earth is watching us: 18. Cape Town: Threads of Africa.

• Van der Merwe, T. 2010. Maritime Mosaic: A collection of readers’ photographs. Ships Monthly, November 2010.

Large furniture storeroom at the Social History Centre.Dr Roger Smith in the Trans-Antarctic Mountains with a team of US palaeontologists, 
collecting a Karoo dinosaur fossil, January 2011. Photograph by Roger Smith.

4.8.3 Natural History Collections

Professional

• Asher, RJ, Avery, DM. 2010. New golden moles (Afrotheria, Chrysochloridae) from the Early Pliocene of South  

 Africa. Palaeontologica Electronica 13(1): 12pp. http://palaeo-electronica.org/2010_1/213/index.html.

• Avery, DM, Stratford, DJ, Sénégas, F. 2010. Micromammals and the formation of the Name Chamber at  

 Sterkfontein, South Africa. Geobios 43(4): 379–387.

• Avery, G, Klein, R. 2011. Review of fossil phocid and otariid seals from the southern and western coasts of South  

 Africa. Transactions of the Royal Society of South Africa. 66(1): 14–24.

• Clarke, DT, Paterson, GLJ, Florence, WK, Gibbons, MJ. 2010. A new species of Magelona (Polychaeta: Magelonidae)  

 from southern Namibia. African Natural History 6: 77–82.

• Cruaud, A, Jabbour-Zahab, R, Genson, G, Cruaud, C, Couloux, A, Kjellberg, F, Van Noort, S, Rasplus, JY. 2010. Laying  

 the foundations for a new classification of Agaonidae (Hymenoptera: Chalcidoidea), a multilocus phylogenetic  

 approach. Cladistics 26: 359–387.

• Cruaud, A, Jabbour-Zahab, R, Genson, G, Couloux, A, Yan-Qiong, P, Da Rong, Y, Ubaidillah, R, Pereira, RAS,  

 Kjellberg, F, Van Noort, S, Kerdelhué, C, Rasplus, JY. 2011. Out of Australia and back again: the world-wide historical  

 biogeography of non-pollinating fig wasps (Hymenoptera: Sycophaginae). Journal of Biogeography 38: 209–225.

• Fosse, P, Avery, G, Fourvel, J-B, Lesur-Gebremariam, J, Monchot, H, Brugal, JP, Horwitz, LK, Tournepiche, JF.  

 2010. Los cubiles actuales de hiena: síntesis critica de sus características tafonómicas a partir de la excavación de  

 nuevos yacimientos (Republica de Djibuti, África del Sur) y la información publicada. In: Baquedano E, Rosell, J.  

 (eds) Zona Arqueológica. Actas de la 1ª Reunión de científicos sobre cubiles de hiena (y otros grandes carnívoros)  

 en los yacimientos arqueológicos de la Península Ibérica. Museo Arqueológico Regional, Alcalá de Henares. Madrid,  

 21–24 enero 2009: 106-117.

• Govender, R, Avery, G, Chinsamy-Turan, A. 2011. Fossil phocid seal pathologies. South African Journal of Science  

 107(1–2): #230 6 pp.

• Huber, J, Read, JD, Van Noort, S. 2010. The genus Ooctonus (Hymenoptera: Mymaridae) in the Afrotropical region,  

 with comments on other southern hemisphere species. African Entomology 18: 221–234.

• Kennedy, WJ, Klinger, HC. 2010. Cretaceous faunas from Zululand and Natal, South Africa. The ammonite subfamily  

 Acanthoceratinae de Grossouvre, 1894. African Natural History 6: 1–76.

Installation view, The Lie of the Land: Representations of the South African Landscape, 
Iziko Michaelis Collection, Old Town House. 
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• Klinger, HC, Kennedy, WJ, Minor, KP. 2010. Tarrantites, a new heteromorph ammonite genus from the Albian of  

 Texas and Pakistan. African Natural History 6: 91–99. 

• Koubbi, P, Moteki, M, Duhamel, G, Goarant, A, Hulley, PA, O’Driscoll, R, Ishimaru, T, Pruvost, P, Tavernier, E, Hosie,  

 G. 2010. Ecoregionalization of myctophid fish in the Indian sector of the Southern Ocean: Results from generalized  

 dissimilarity models. Deep-Sea Research II, available online.

• Koubbi, P, Ozouf-Costaz, C, Goarant, A, Moteki, M, Hulley, PA, Causse, R, Dettai, A, Duhamel, G, Pruvost, P, Tavernier,  

 E, Post, AL, Beaman, RJ, Rintoul, SR, Hirawake, T, Hirano, D, Ishimaru, T, Riddle, M, Hosie, G. 2010. Estimating the  

 biodiversity of the East Antarctic shelf and oceanic zone for ecoregionalisation: Example of the ichthyofauna of  

 the CEAMARC (Collaborative East Antarctic Marine Census) CAML surveys. Polar Science 4: 115–133. 

• Mcleish, MJ, Van Noort, S, Tolley, KA. 2010. African parasitoid fig wasp diversification is a function of host-fig  

 range. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 57: 122–134.

• Roberts, DL, Matthews, T, Herries, A, Boulter, C, Smith, R, Dondo, C, Mthenbi, P, Haarhoff, P. 2011. (Published online,  

 print version in press). Regional and global context of the Late Cenozoic Langebaanweg Palaeontological Site:  

 West Coast of South Africa. Earth Science Reviews.

• Sidor, C, Angielczyk, K, Weide, D, Smith, R Nesbit, S, Tsuji, L. 2010. Tetrapod fauna of the lowermost Usili  

 Formation (Songea Group, Ruhuhu Basin) of southern Tanzania, with a new burnetiid record. Journal of Vertebrate  

 Paleontology 30(3): 696–703.

• Simon, R, Sido, C, Angielczyk, K, Smith, R. 2010. First record of a tapinocephalid (Therapsida: Dinocephalia) from  

 the Ruhuhu Formation (Songea Group) of southern Tanzania. Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology 30(4): 1289–1293.

• Winkler, AJ, Avery, DM. 2010. 18. Lagomorpha. In: Werdelin, L, & Sanders, WJ, (eds.) Cenozoic Mammals of Africa:  

 305–318. Berkeley: University of California Press.

• Winkler, AJ, Denys, C, Avery, DM. 2010. 17. Rodentia. In: Werdelin, L, & Sanders, WJ, (eds.) Cenozoic Mammals of  

 Africa: 263–304. Berkeley: University of California Press.

‘Column of Memory’, Slave Lodge. Philip Samartzis recording at Traejer Ridge, Antarctica. 
Echoes, SA National Gallery.

4.9 Materiality and Significance Framework for the 2010/2011 Financial Year 
Definitions and standards

• Audited financial statements: 2008/2009 (AFS)

• Approved annual budget: 2009/2010 (AAB)

• Approved strategic plan: 2009/2010 to 2011/2012 (ASP)

• Event: An activity that has the elements of income and expenditure

• Trading venture: An activity that has the elements of buying and selling of products and/or services

• Total income: Total income excluding the income from events and trading ventures

• Total expenditure: Total expenditure excluding event and trading venture expenditure

1. Applicable sections of the PfmA

• Section 50(1)

• Section 55(2)

• Section 54(2)

• Section 66(1)

2. treasury regulation 

• 28.1.5

Mounted skeleton of a juvenile sauropod dinosaur from Niger. One of the spectacular fossil 
reconstructions in the recently completed African Dinosaurs exhibition, SA Museum.

Derek Ohland takes a closer look at 
Australopithicus sediba, SA Museum.
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3. framework

4.1 sEctIon 50: fIDucIAry DutIEs 
of AccountInG AutHorIty

vAluE (QuAntItAtIvE) nAturE of EvEnt (QuAlItAtIvE)

(1) Accounting authority must-

(c) on request, disclose to the 
Executive Authority responsible, 
all material facts which in any way 
may influence the decisions or 
actions of the Executive Authority

(a) Any unbudgeted transaction of 
which the amount exceeds 1% of 
the total value of assets per AFS

(b) Any budgeted event where 
income is a legitimate expectation 
where the actual income is less 
than 5% of the total expenditure

(c) Any trading venture 
where income is exceeded by 
expenditure by more than 0.5% of 
income

(d) Total actual income is less than 
budgeted income by more than 
0.5% of budgeted income

(e) Total actual expenditure is 
more than budgeted income 
by more than 5% of budgeted 
expenditure

(a) Any unplanned event that 
affects the core purpose or 
mandate of entity per the ASP

(b) Any activity that is outside the 
parameters of each public entity’s 
enabling legislation

4.2 sEctIon 54: InformAtIon 
to bE submIttED by tHE 
AccountInG AutHorIty

vAluE (QuAntItAtIvE) nAturE of EvEnt (QuAlItAtIvE)

(2) before a public entity concludes 
any of the following transactions, 
the Accounting Authority for the 
entity must promptly and in writing 
inform the relevant treasury of the 
transaction and submit relevant 
particulars of the transaction to its 
Executive Authority for approval of 
the transaction:

(b) participation in a significant 
partnership, trust, unincorporated 
joint venture or similar 
arrangement

(c) acquisition or disposal of a 
significant shareholding in a 
company

(d) acquisition or disposal of a 
significant asset

(e) commencement or cessation of 
a significant business activity

N/a

N/a

Any transaction of which the 
amount exceeds 1% of the total 
value of assets per AFS

Any transaction of which the 
amount exceeds 1% of the total 
value of assets per AFS

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

4.3 sEctIon 55: AnnuAl rEPort AnD 
AnnuAl fInAncIAl stAtEmEnts

vAluE (QuAntItAtIvE) nAturE of EvEnt 
(QuAlItAtIvE)

(2) the annual report and financial 
statements must:

(b) include particulars of:

(i) any material losses through criminal 
conduct and,

any irregular expenditure and fruitless 
and wasteful expenditure that occurred 
during the year

(iii) any losses recovered or written off

(a) Any loss of which the amount 
exceeds 1% of the total value of 
assets per AFS

(b) Any loss of a National Estate 
as defined in section 3 of the 
National Heritage Resources Act, 
1999 (Act No. 25 of 1999)

All

All

Any unplanned loss per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose 
or mandate of the entity

All

All

4.4 sEctIon 66: rEstrIctIons on 
borroWInG, GuArAntEEs AnD otHEr 

commItmEnts

vAluE (QuAntItAtIvE) nAturE of EvEnt 
(QuAlItAtIvE)

Iziko Museums may not enter into 
any financial commitment beyond its 
approved budgets and its accumulated 
reserves

N/a N/a
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4.10 Abbreviations
ABET Adult Basic Education and Training

AC Art Collections (department)

AFS  Annual Financial Statements

A-G Auditor-General

AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa

ASP  Approved Strategic Plan

AVE Advertising Value Equivalent

CCMA  Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and   

 Arbitration

CCTV Closed Circuit Television

CEO  Chief Executive Officer

CFO  Chief Financial Officer

COPART Connecting our planet and re-imagining together

CPUT Cape Peninsula University of Technology

CSM Customer Services Management (department)

DAC Department of Arts and Culture

DoE Department of Education

DPW Department of Public Works

DST Department of Science and Technology

EECF Employment Equity Consultative Forum

EPP Education and Public Programmes

Exco Executive Management Committee

GAAP  Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

HR Human Resources (department)

IA Institutional Advancement (department)

IAS International Accounting Standard

IBH Iziko Bertram House

IBKM Iziko Bo-Kaap Museum

ICOM-SA International Council of Museums, South Africa

IKDW Iziko Koopmans-de Wet House

IKS Indigenous Knowledge Systems

IMC Iziko Michaelis Collection at Old Town House

IMM  Iziko Mobile Museum

IR&V Iziko Rust en Vreugd

ISAM Iziko South African Museum

ISANG Iziko South African National Gallery

ISHC Iziko Social History Centre

ISL Iziko Slave Lodge

IT Information Technology

IWFC Iziko William Fehr Collection

KZN Kwa-Zulu Natal

MAP Meaningful Access Programme

MTEF  Medium Term Expenditure Framework

NH Natural History

NHC  National Heritage Council

NHC Natural History Collections (department)

NLDTF National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund

NRF National Research Foundation

NSF  National Science Foundation

OBIS  Ocean Biogeographic Information Systems

OH&S Occupational Health and Safety

PAA Public Audit Act

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

POS Point of Sale

SAAO South African Astronomical Observatory

SAASTA South African Agency for Science and

 Technology Advancement

SAASTEC South African Association of Science and  

 Technology Centres

SABIF South African Biodiversity Information Facility

SAHRA  South African Heritage Resources Agency

SAMA  South African Museums Association

SANBI  South African Biodiversity Institute

SCM  Supply Chain Management

SDA Skills Development Act

SFI  Southern Flagship Institution

SH Social History

SHC Social History Collections (department)

SMAC Stellenbosch Modern and Contemporary  

 Art Gallery

SMT Senior Management Team

UCT  University of Cape Town

UIF  Unemployment Insurance Fund

UWC  University of the Western Cape

VoIP Voice over Information Programme

WCA  Workmen’s Compensation Assurance

WCED  Western Cape Education Department
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